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Welcome from Accountable Officer and Chair
Welcome to NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group’s Annual Report for the financial year
2019/20.
This is a significant annual report for Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) this year, as
we became part of the new NHS South West London CCG on 1 April 2020. As we look forward to
the new, it is an opportunity to reflect on not only our achievements this financial year, but also
since we were established in 2013. We have achieved much over the time NHS Croydon CCG
has existed, not least saving over £120 million through transformation and efficiency savings.
We have always sought to commission high quality health services that are accessible, provide
good treatment and achieve good patient outcomes. We have done this through supporting local
people, partners and stakeholders to have a greater influence on services we commission and
support individuals manage their care.
This year has been no different.
We have worked to support Croydon residents to manage their health more effectively through a
range of programmes, including expert patient programmes and group consultations. These
initiatives are changing the face of care in Croydon, helping people gain confidence in making
positive steps to stay independent and healthy for longer.
Over the past 12 months, we have formalised our partnership with Croydon Health Services NHS
Trust (CHS), our principal local provider of acute (hospital) and community care. We wanted to
make it easier to get high-quality care closer to home with faster access to diagnostic services and
treatment, as well as greater opportunities for healthcare staff in the borough by breaking down
boundaries between both organisations to deliver more joined-up care. We now have a joint
executive team, led by a joint Trust CEO and Place Based Leader for health, and we will continue
to build and expand the joint management structure.
This year also saw the development and embedding of Primary Care Networks, with our GP
Practices coming together to set up local groups to focus on prevention and tackling health
inequalities. By working in these large networks, practices can reap the benefits of new
technology, improve care for patients and better support our doctors and nurses.
The CCG has also continued to work with our colleagues in the Council, NHS providers,
Healthwatch and the local voluntary sector through our Croydon Transformation Board, as we
build closer links across the borough to join up health and social care.
We launched our Croydon Health and Care Plan after talking to health and care frontline staff,
local people and representatives from lots of different community organisations about what is
important in Croydon. The plan focuses on how we can work together to prevent ill health, keep
people well and support local people to stay independent. Already we have rolled out telehealth to
over 70 care homes in Croydon, providing remote support to care homes, helping residents avoid
a visit to hospital where they could be better supported at home. We are already seeing a
reduction in emergency admissions from care homes to CHS and to our other partner Trusts.
Our wider collaboration with colleagues across South West London has also continued through
the Health and Care Partnership’s Children and Young People’s programme that has brought in
an addition £4.3m of investment for emotional wellbeing support to be made available in schools.
The way people get cancer tests has also been transformed, as well as new tests put in place
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across South West London, which has meant people are getting the right advice support more
quickly.
Like the NHS across the country, our work has been dominated by our system response to the
COVID-19 pandemic in the last few months of 2020. In our South West London Health and Care
Partnership role we became responsible for co-ordinating the South West London system
response to COVID-19 and providing the link between our NHS providers, our SW London system
and NHS England London. During February 2020, we established an incident control room (ICR)
to respond to the pandemic. We report directly into NHS England to support our NHS leaders to
manage the incident in their organisations, and across South West London. At the time of writing
we continue to support the local response to coronavirus, and we are enormously proud of the
work of NHS health and staff across South West London who continue to do extraordinary things
in the face of an extraordinary challenge.
As we look to the future, we will only build on this South West London-wide work, whilst still
retaining focus on our local approach to deliver for the people of Croydon. We will do this through
our Borough Committee, which will ensure our approach remains clinically led and retains the
ability to engage with and consider the needs of local communities through our important
relationships with local authorities, voluntary sector organisations, Healthwatch and other partners.
Our Croydon Committee will take formal responsibility for decision making, planning and
commissioning of local community-based care with delegated responsibility for budgets with the
aim to reduce management costs so that more money can go into our frontline health and care
services.
We will also of course continue to support further development of a Croydon Health & Care Board,
together with our Croydon health and care partners.
We’d like to thank all our members and staff and wider partners for their hard work and support
since our organisation began, knowing we can count on their continued dedication to the people
we serve as we move forward with our colleagues across South West London.

Best wishes,

Sarah Blow

Dr Andrew Murray

Dr Agnelo Fernandes

Accountable Officer

Clinical Chair

GP Borough Lead for Croydon

18 June 2020
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
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Performance overview
This section of the annual report gives an overview of the CCG’s corporate objectives, the health
profile of its communities and a review of its activities during 2019/20.
NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group (Croydon CCG) was established by the 2012 Health
and Social Care Act. We received authorisation from NHS England in March 2013, and formally
took responsibility for commissioning hospital, community and mental health services for local
people in April 2013.
Croydon CCG plans, buys and monitors most local health services, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Outpatient appointments and planned operations (planned hospital care)
Urgent and emergency care (including out of hours services)
Rehabilitative care
Maternity services
Community health services (for example physiotherapy and district nursing)
Mental health services
Services for people with disabilities
GP services, including prescribing

We are a clinically led membership organisation bringing together all GP practices in the borough
of Croydon into one commissioning organisation. Our Member Practices are represented by the
Council of Members and, under our constitution; the Governing Body is responsible for overseeing
our statutory and community responsibilities.
We also work in partnership with colleagues within the South West London Alliance (Kingston,
Richmond, Merton, Wandsworth and Sutton CCGs), from NHS England, NHS trusts and other
providers, CCGs, Croydon Council’s Health & Wellbeing Board, local authorities and the voluntary
sector.
As of 1 April 2020, Croydon CCG will be merging with the other CCGs in South West London to
form NHS Southwest London Clinical Commissioning Group.

Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic
In our South West London Health and Care Partnership role we became responsible for coordinating the South West London system response to COVID-19 and providing the link between
our NHS providers, our SW London system and NHS England London. During February, we
established an incident control room (ICR) to respond to the pandemic. We report directly into
NHS England to support our NHS leaders to manage the incident in their organisations, and
across South West London. We established seven cells which report into and support the work of
the Incident Control Room – clinical, acute, primary care, community, supply, HR and
communications. The seven cells are made up of clinicians and managers across our NHS
organisations in South West London.

In Croydon, we continue to support the South West London response for our borough. Working
closely as part of the Local Resilience Forum we help coordinate and play a part in the health and
care response for the people of Croydon. It is essential that each part of the system works
together to support local people in their own homes, in GP practices, in care homes, hospices,
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pharmacies and across South West London. The media and public focus is quite rightly on
intensive care treatment within hospitals, but we know that there are also pressures in our
communities that are equally vital in our response to this virus.

How we spend your money
In 2019/20, we spent £598m on health services for Croydon patients. This has risen from £565m
in 2018/19.
The pie chart below shows how we spent our budget on different types of healthcare.

Who we “buy” services from
The services we fund for the population of Croydon include hospital, community, mental health,
and primary care services
Our main local providers of healthcare include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
St George’s University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust
AT Medics – a London-based provider of primary healthcare services
Croydon GP Collaborative – a healthcare provider created by Croydon GP practices
Connect Health
All of the GP practices in the borough
Third sector providers

Performance summary
2019/20 saw the CCG achieve more of its national standards than in the previous year.
Improvements in cancer waiting times, adult mental health and children’s mental health services
accounted for this overall difference. In addition, the CCG met its local Personal Health Budget’s
target for the year.
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2018/19
Acute Urgent Care
Acute Planned Care
Acute Cancer
Mental Health (MH) Adults
MH Children & Young People
Learning Disabilities
Primary Care
Children’s Wheelchairs
Personalisation
Total

Red
2
4
2
2
2
1
1
14

2019/20
Green

6
5
1

Red
2
4
1
2
1
1

-

Green

7
6
2
1

1
12

12

1
17

Key risks and challenges
Health Challenges
Croydon is a city in all but the name. We have over 390,000 residents and this is growing by
around 6,000 children each year. Our population is also becoming more diverse. In 2016, an
estimated 59% of Croydon’s population was from a non-white British ethnic group, and nearly 80%
of young people under the age of 25 have a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic (BAME) background.
This proportion is projected to increase to 67% by 2027 1.
Croydon has the highest population of under 18s in London and the third highest of over 65s. The
wider determinants of health are impacting disproportionately on some parts of our borough so,
while overall life expectancy is increasing, not all are enjoying this improvement and their healthy
life expectancy continues to flounder. Croydon Council has shown that over 2,500 families live in
poverty and we are working with them and other health agencies at a locality level to try to mitigate
the impact of this on emotional, mental and physical health.
All of this, plus our increasing ageing population, increases the demand on our services. As the
borough develops, there will be a particular increase in the Croydon opportunity areas and we are
working closely with Croydon Council and their public health and planning teams to ensure that
adequate and appropriate new services are developed in areas with increasing concentration of
homes being built.

Finance and Efficiency
When NHS Croydon CCG (the CCG) was authorised to commission health and care services for
Croydon residents on 1 April 2013, this came with conditions and directions from NHS England.
These predominantly concerned financial sustainability and delivery of Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) savings. These conditions and directions were lifted in
September 2019.
The CCG is reporting a £2.1m surplus for 2019/20 (£1.2m surplus – 2018/19) which meets its
statutory duty to breakeven and delivers its contribution to the SWL system financial control total,
with a cumulative deficit as at 31 March 2020 of £65.1m.
This has been delivered through a programme of transformational QIPP over the past seven years
amounting to £121.7m.

1

London Datastore. Ethnic group population projections (housing-led). 2016-based projections.
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A summary of the financial performance of the CCG since establishment is set out below:
()=Deficit

Financial
Plan

Financial
Performance

Cumulative
Deficit

QIPP Plan

QIPP
Performance

(£19.9m)

(£18.2m)

(£18.2m)

£14.0m

£14.0m

(£17.0m)

(£14.7m)

(£32.9m)

£11.0m

£11.0m

2015/16
(Audited)

(£11.9m)

(£10.8m)

(£43.7m)

£10.5m

£10.5m

2016/17
(Audited)

(£4.2m)

(£10.8m)

(£54.5m)

£18.4m

£14.3m

2017/18
(Audited)

(£6.9m)

(£13.9m)

(£68.3m)

£29.3m

£21.2m

2018/19
(Audited)

£1.2m

£1.2m

(£67.2m)

£27.6m

£27.0m

2019/20

£2.1m

£2.1m

(£65.1m)

£18.8m

£23.7m

2013/14
(Audited)
2014/15
(Audited)

TOTAL

£121.7m

Managing Risk
Our Risk Management system clearly maps our dynamic operational risks, including threats to our
performance against constitutional standards, to our strategic aims and Governing Body
Assurance Framework. The CCG has taken action to address particular risks associated with the
CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework against which we are assessed by NHS England.
In 2019/20, continuing alignment towards system wide integration, financial risk was aligned
through a risk share agreement and managed jointly between Croydon CCG and Croydon Health
Services NHS Trust.

Key areas of focus during 2019/20
Over the year, we have focused on seven large transformation programmes, as well as
addressing our new role of commissioning and developing GP services:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Proactive and Preventative Care (previously Together for health)
Primary care locality developments
Children and young people transformation programme
Adult mental health
Out of hospital care transformation
Planned care and long term conditions transformation programme
Improving prescribing

These programmes are described in more detail as part of this report.
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Corporate objectives
With our partners, we continually review and assess health and
wellbeing needs in the borough of Croydon, along with existing
services and facilities for meeting those needs. Where we find
services that could be improved, it is our job to work with residents to
make improvements.
As part of One Croydon – the partnership between the local NHS
(including the CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust) Croydon
Council and Age UK Croydon – we have developed the Croydon
Health and Care Plan, a five-year strategy
It aligns with the objectives of our partner organisations, Croydon
Health and Wellbeing Board and Local Strategic Partnership.
The Croydon Health and Care Plan has three priorities:
1. focus on prevention and proactive care
2. unlock the power of communities
3. put services back into the heart of the community
We have distilled these into our goals for the next ten years. The plan
will become a chapter alongside the health and care plans of Kingston,
Merton, Richmond, Sutton and Wandsworth boroughs in a wider South
West London Health and Care Plan.
You can read about the plan and its objectives in more detail later on
in the report.
You can read the full document here:
https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/croydon-health-and-careplan/Documents/4326v14_NHS_One_Croydon_Heath_CarePlan.pdf
A summary version is available here:
https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/croydon-health-and-careplan/Documents/Croydon%20V4.pdf
We have developed a plan on a page, below.
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Delivering our strategy
One Croydon has a range of programmes to deliver this ambitious plan. For 2020/21
key aspects will be:
-

Piloting and rolling out the Integrated Community Network+ model
Developing modern acute services
Developing health and wellbeing models of care (Colbert will have a business
case with this)

Integrated Community Network + model
This year, the first year in the five-year period outlined in the Croydon Health and
Care Plan, we have worked to Integrated Care Network Plus (ICN+). This builds on
the already established Integrated Care Networks (ICNs), which bring together multidisciplinary teams in regular ‘huddle’ meetings in GP practices. You can read more
about these huddles later on in this report.
During the next phase ICN+ will encourage communities to support themselves and
each other to help services support people in a more holistic way, by professionals
across health and social care working together more seamlessly.
The ICN+ model has a set of core features, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Development based on the locality’s population health needs and the
available local community services.
A multi-disciplinary team, community-led approach to the provision of
services.
Regular ‘Talking Points’ within each locality, where people can ‘drop in’ for
advice about healthy living, housing and benefits.
Personalised Independence Coordinators (PICs) for people aged under 50 as
well as for people accessing mental health services.
Social prescribing and access to onsite (or within the same locality) voluntary
services.
A ‘One Team, One Name, One Budget’ approach to the delivery of all
services, across different agencies and organisations, within each locality.

Through ICN+, we hope to achieve increased wellbeing, resilience and
independence for people in Croydon and a reduction in health inequalities. We
expect to see a more efficient use of resources through joint working, a reduction in
hospital admissions and a reduction in demand on Adult Social Care services.
Thornton Heath was the first adopter in a phased implementation of ICN+ across
Croydon. We used population health data to understand the specific needs of people
living in this area, as well as setting up a community reference group to understand
residents’ views.
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Developing modern acute services
In 2020/21, we will be working in Croydon to develop detailed plans for six Clinical
Standards:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Emergency Care
Obstetrics
Emergency General Surgery
Paediatrics
Acute Medicine
Intensive Care

This work is led by the Modern Acute Programme Board, whose aim is to ensure
only those that need acute services go to hospital.
The plans will be developed in workshops, led by relevant Clinical Leads which will
include representation from One Croydon Alliance and other partners.
We will also be working on initiatives to transform services across Croydon Health
Services NHS Trust including:
•
•
•
•
•

Outpatient Transformation
Theatre Productivity
Croydon as Provider of Choice programme
Diagnostics and Clinical Support Service transformation
High Impact Improvement Programme
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The Croydon story

According to Greater London Authority projections, in 2019 we served a population
of 396,548. By 2031, the population is expected to rise to 444,573.
Key health facts for Croydon at a glance:
•

•

Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the England average.
However, life expectancy is 7.9 years lower for men and 5.4 years lower for
women in the most deprived areas of Croydon than in the least deprived
areas.2 These gaps are larger for healthy life expectancy
There is significant variation in deprivation between wards within the borough,
in New Addington North for instance, 86.7% of the population are amongst the

2

PHOF 0.2iii. Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth within English local authorities,
based on local deprivation deciles within each area. 2015-2017.
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•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

20% most deprived in England. In Sanderstead, none of the population are
amongst the 20% most deprived. 3
Croydon Council estimate that over 2,500 families live in poverty
In 2017, an estimated 12% of adults smoke. 4
There were 214.7 deaths per 100,000 attributable to smoking in 2015-17,
which equated to 1,068 deaths 5
Almost one in five children aged four to five years are overweight or obese
(21.9%)6, and more than one in three children aged ten to eleven years are
overweight or obese (37.9%). 7
An estimated 59% of adults are overweight or obese. 8
There were 6,512 admissions for alcohol related conditions in 2017/18. 9
Breast10 and cervical11 cancer screening rates are both lower than the national
average, but above the London average.
78.1% of people diagnosed with pulmonary tuberculosis start treatment within
four months of symptom onset. This is below the London average. 12

3

IMD 2015. % of population in 20% most deprived in England.
Local Tobacco Profiles. Smoking prevalence in adults – current smokers from Annual Population
Survey. 2017.
5
Local Tobacco Profiles. Smoking attributable mortality from ONS birth and deaths data and ONS
mid-year population estimates. 2015-2017.
6
National Child Measurement Programme. Prevalence of reception children measured as overweight
or obese. 2017/18.
7
National Child Measurement Programme. Prevalence of year 6 children measured as overweight or
obese. 2017/18.
8
PHOF 2.12. Excess weight in adults from Sport England’s Active Lives Survey. 2016/17.
9
Local Alcohol Profiles. Admission episodes for alcohol-related conditions (broad definition) from
HES. 2017/18.
10
Cancer Services Profiles. Females 50-70 screened for breast cancer in the last 36 months from
NHAIS. 2017/18.
11
Cancer Services Profiles. Females 25-64 attending cervical screening within target period. 2017/18.
12
Health Profiles. Proportion of pulmonary TB cases starting treatment within four months of symptom
onset. 2015-17.
4
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Summary of achievements during 2019/20
CCG Achievements
Alignment of the CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
Both the Croydon Health Services NHS Trust (the Trust) and CCG want to make
services better for local people and make it easier to get high-quality care closer to
home with faster access to diagnostic services and treatment. We also want to
create greater opportunities for healthcare staff in the borough by breaking down
boundaries between both organisations to deliver more joined-up care.
Forming a closer partnership helps the Trust and CCG respond to the challenges the
NHS is facing nationally, and Croydon is no different. Over 2019/20 we have taken
several steps to align more closely.

Memorandum of understanding
On Tuesday 14 May 2019, the Trust and CCG announced plans to continue their
partnership working to improve health and wellbeing of people in the borough and
strengthen future services.
The aim is to bring together more common functions – removing duplication and
freeing-up resources for frontline clinical staff. For patients, this will ensure high
quality joined -up care, wherever they seek treatment. For Trust and CCG staff it will
deliver greater opportunities to develop their careers, while increased alignment
between the two organisations will also help achieve a more sustainable future for
healthcare in Croydon.
This announcement followed the appointment in April 2019 of a Joint Chief Nurse
and Executive Director of Midwifery and Allied Health Professionals – the first senior
management post shared across the Trust and CCG. Both organisations also share
a Joint Chief Pharmacist which has helped to improve the service patients receive, to
get more seamless care between hospital and primary services, saving time and
money.

Place-based Leader for Health in Croydon
On 1 August 2019, Matthew Kershaw was appointed joint CEO of Croydon Health
Services NHS Trust and Place Based Leader for health – the first role of its type in
the country.
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This meant for the first time there is a single
leader responsible for the planning and
provision of hospital and community services
across Croydon.
Matthew’s role was formalised on 1 October
2019 and on this date Sarah Blow also
became Interim Accountable Officer for NHS
Croydon CCG. Sarah was already the
Accountable Officer for the other five south west London borough CCGs (Kingston,
Merton, Richmond, Sutton and Wandsworth CCGs). Her role will be formalised
when the CCGs merge on 1 April 2020, to create NHS South West London CCG.

A single joint executive team
A series of appointments was made to build a shared leadership team across the
Trust and CCG, including:
•
•
•
•

Elaine Clancy, as Joint Chief Nurse with responsibility for nursing, midwifery
and Allied Health Professionals
Mike Sexton, Joint Chief Financial Officer to ensure best value and efficiency
in both the Trust and CCG
Josh Potter, Joint Director of Strategy & Transformation, to develop our plans
for closer collaboration across health and care in Croydon.
Dr Neil Goulbourne, Director of Integration, Planning and Performance.

Joint board
By working more closely together, the Governing Body of NHS Croydon CCG and
the Board of Croydon Health Services NHS Trust are aiming to make a marked
improvement in the health of Croydon’s residents by focusing more of every pound
spent on providing high-quality services and making the most of the NHS workforce
we have caring for the borough.
The Governing Body of NHS Croydon CCG and the Trust Board of Croydon Health
Services NHS Trust have been working closely over the last few months to look at
how we can build on our successful collaboration and move towards closer
alignment.

Publication of Croydon Health and Care Plan
On Wednesday 23 October 2019, One Croydon, the partnership between the local
NHS, Croydon Council and Age UK Croydon, launched a new five-year plan to
support residents to stay well for longer by making services more accessible in the
heart of their communities.
The Croydon Health and Care Plan outlines a fresh vision for how health and social
care will be delivered across the borough, particularly for those with the greatest
need, to transform the health and wellbeing of local people.
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The plan emphasises three clear priorities:
1. Focus on prevention and
proactive care: supporting people
to stay well, manage their own
health and maintain their wellbeing
by making sure they can get help
early.
2. Unlock the power of
communities: connecting people
to their neighbours and
communities, who can provide
unique support to stay fit and
healthy for longer.
3. Develop services in the heart of the community: giving people easy
access to joined up services that are tailored to the needs of their local
community
The Health and Care plan builds on a number of successful schemes already in
place in Croydon, including social prescribing, which makes it easier for GPs and
nurses to connect people with a range of non-clinical services and Personal
Independence Coordinators, who support people with long term conditions to stay
out of hospital by providing a link between the NHS, council and voluntary sector.
In addition to a focus on locality-based care, the Health and Care plan outlines
proposals for Croydon's acute and mental health trusts. We aim to enable patients to
be treated closer to home and support our local hospital trusts, making them more
financially sustainable providers of excellent care locally.
Our GP membership elected six local GPs as Clinical Senior Responsible Officers.
Each has an area of Croydon’s Health and Care Plan that they oversee:
Name
Dr Emily Symington
Dr John French
Dr Vaishali Shetty
Dr Mike Simmonds
Dr Rachel Tunbridge
Dr Nishal Velani

Programme of responsibility
Proactive and Preventative Care
Better Start in Life
Better Mental Health & Wellbeing
Better Life for People with Disabilities
and Long-term Conditions
Better Outcomes for Over 65s
Better End of Life Care

South West London Health and Care Partnership Five Year Plan
Our partnership in Croydon also works with the wider South West London Health
and Care Partnership (the Partnership) across several key areas. In 2019/20 the
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Partnership published its collective response to the NHS Long Term Plan in the form
of a Five Year Plan.
Health and care plans from each of the six South West London boroughs – Croydon,
Kingston, Merton, Richmond, Sutton and Wandsworth – form the foundation of the
Partnership’s plan.The plan also sets out how this local work will be supported by 20
southwest London-wide work streams where it makes sense to work at scale or align
approaches across boroughs.
The workstreams are:
Adult Mental
Health

Cancer

Diabetes

End of Life Care

Maternity

Medicines
Optimisation

Outpatients

Personalised care

Primary Care

Respiratory

Social Care

Urgent and
Emergency Care

Digital

Estates

Workforce

Acute hospital care
Children and
young people
Learning Disability
& Autistic
Spectrum Disorder

Cardiovascular
Disease and Stroke
Enhanced Health in
Care Homes

The aims and actions of six of the key clinical work streams were developed at a
conference in April 2019, which brought together around 250 health and social care
professionals from all six boroughs to design the clinical vision for South West
London.

The full plan will be published in the coming months.

Our programme boards
The Croydon Transformation Board has seven programme boards::
1. Proactive and Preventative Care
2. Primary care locality developments
3. Children and young people transformation programme
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4.
5.
6.
7.

Adult mental health
Out of hospital care transformation
Planned care transformation programme
Improving prescribing

1. Proactive and Preventative Care
We have continued to build on previous years’ work to embed the concept and
principles of proactive and preventative care. This involves a shift in culture for many
professionals and a swing towards encouraging prevention, self-care and shared
decision-making.
The programme helps to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reduce health inequalities and improve health and wellbeing outcomes
across the Borough;
Promote and embed self-care and self-management within individuals and
local communities e.g. social prescribing;
Develop active communities that encourage social connections, reduce
isolation and reduce need for statutory services;
Promote and support behaviour change in staff to adopt an approach of
shared decision making and personalised care planning;
Deliver person-centred care closer to home;
Support the shift of focus from acute to community as the main health and
care setting; and
Align health and social care provision as part of Integrated Community
Networks.

The following initiatives within this programme are currently being implemented
across Croydon:
One Croydon’s Local Voluntary Partnerships
This initiative is about bringing the voluntary and community
sector (VCS) together to encourage partnership working and
develop active communities that encourage social
connections, reduce isolation and reduce the need for
statutory services.
It has enabled applications to the small grants fund. In
2019/20, the fund supported over 60 local activities in the
VCS aimed at reducing social isolation and improving health
and wellbeing for older people. Activities funded include
gardening projects, community cinema and intergenerational
events around cooking and eating together.
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Social Prescribing
The CCG has been encouraging GPs to use social prescribing as a way to help their
patients find non-medical solutions to their health concerns. Because of this, 14
social prescribing link workers have been employed and more Croydon residents are
being helped to improve their by being linked into activities in their local
communities.
One example is the Community Movement session for people with long-term health
conditions, which has proved to be a great success.
One of the building blocks for successful social prescribing is community
development and we have a long history of this in Croydon. Supported by the NHS
Croydon CCG, Croydon Voluntary Action’s Community Builders support local people
to bring resources that were previously disconnected together, supporting them to
become mobilised through collective action. This has included supporting people in
making positive life-style choices and getting involved in community activities.
Croydon Voluntary Action promoted and supported the first ‘New Addington Big
Lunch: Parade of Nations’ alongside the Deputy Mayor, with over 1000 people
celebrating community life.

Expert Patient Programme
This is a six-week community-based programme that helps people with long-term
conditions to better self-manage their health by increasing their knowledge, skills,
confidence and motivation.
The programme evaluation is always very positive. From this year’s last programme,
100% of participants felt the information provided in the programme was practical
and useful for daily living and 80% of participants felt they had made friendships that
will last beyond the programme.
From 1 April 2020, this free programme will be offered to anyone living with diabetes
and/or hypertension. For further information and to book a place on the next
programme, call 020 3137 3373 or visit: livingwellcic.com/croydon
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Patient Activation Measure (PAM) Evaluation Tool
This is a national evaluation tool for self-management programmes and it has been
extensively tested. It comprises 13 short statements, which measures the person’s
spectrum of knowledge, skills and confidence in managing their health condition and
captures the extent to which they feel engaged and confident in taking care of their
condition. The higher they score, the more likely they will tend to experience better
health, have better health outcomes and fewer episodes of emergency care, and
engage in healthier behaviours.
The tool was used for the first time at the last Expert Patient Programme. We were
able to demonstrate that the delegates’ PAM scores increased over the period of the
programme. This corresponded with the feedback received, which showed that, by
the end of the programme, the delegates felt engaged and confident in taking care of
their condition.
PAM will continue to be used on the Expert Patient Programme. If it continues to be
an effective tool, we will consider implementing it in other areas.
Group Consultations
These offer people the opportunity to attend a consultation with a group of others
with a similar clinical condition (for example diabetes). During the group, people are
led by a skilled clinical facilitator and have a chance to learn about their condition
and share experiences as well as having their cases reviewed by a general practice
clinician. The aim of the consultation is to support patients to develop selfmanagement goals and plans; discuss lifestyle modification and to support
medicines optimisation. Group consultations started in 2016 in Croydon and are
currently available in two GP Practices. As these have proved successful
interventions, the plan is to roll these out to the remaining Practices in Croydon.
Group consultations were nominated for an NHS Parliamentary Award in 2019 and
were the focus of the BBC documentary series, “Trust Me I’m a Doctor”. You can
read more about this later on.
Proactive and preventative approaches to health and care are integral to our model
of locality working and we have started to implement an initiative that brings together
teams of professionals across health and social care to focus on the particular needs
of the community in a locality. This is known as the Integrated Community Networks
+ programme (ICN+). This is a different way of working because we are offering
people support closer to home in a more holistic way.
In efforts to improve diagnosis and management of long-term conditions, such as
type 2 diabetes, plans are in place for 2020/21 to deliver a series of initiatives,
including a community outreach programme to raise awareness about the risks of
long term conditions and indicatively screening people for their risk of key longterm
conditions.
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2. Primary care locality developments
During 2019/20 the CCG received funding to support GP transformation as part of
the General Practice Forward View. The funding was invested in:
•
•
•
•
•

Developing Primary Care at Scale
Improving Extended Access
Implementing Online Consultations
Development of front line practice staff
Improving practice resilience

This investment has been used to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Support practices to work together as networks, and in partnership with the
GP collaborative to recruit additional workforce to meet population need.
Develop social prescribing schemes to meet population need.
Open five extended access hubs in Croydon, increasing the number of
appointments available to patients on weekends and evenings.
Pilot online consultations in General Practice
Support practice teams to adopt new ways of working to help them manage
their workload
Develop leadership in General Practice Teams

We have worked closely with the other South West London CCGs to transform
primary care so we can learn from best practice, and benefit from economies of
scale, as well as to support the evaluation of our investment.
Primary Care Networks
The CCG implemented the new, GP-led, GP-designed Primary Care Networks
(PCNs). PCNs build on the core of current primary care services and enable greater
provision of proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated health and
social care. we aim for our networks to be small enough to provide the personal care
valued by both patients and GPs, but large enough to have impact and economies of
scale through better collaboration between practices and others in the local health
and social care system.
All practices in the borough have signed up There are currently nine primary care
networks in Croydon, two of which serve communities of more than 50,000 people.

3. Children and young people transformation programme
2019/20 achievements
• Access performance to Children’s and Adolescent’s Mental Health Services
(CAMHS) has improved significantly and is set to exceed the 34% target set
by NHS England.
• Waiting times have also improved for tier 2 access to services. Tier 2 includes
children with mild to moderate mental health difficulties which are causing
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•
•

•

•

distress and impacting on day to day life. Waiting times for Neuro
Development assessments remain constant. There is recognition of the need
to reduce the waiting time for this service with actions in place to address.
Wave 1 & 2 trailblazer award mobilisation will see Mental Health Supports
Teams rolled out in schools as part of a national trailblazer programme.
Wave 1 focus on tackling absenteeism and exclusions in primary school aged
children, while wave 2 is focused on reducing serious youth violence, which
compliments the Mayor’s Violence Reduction Programme and commits to
building a collaborative approach to trauma informed training across statutory
and voluntary sector agencies.
Single Point of Access merged with Single Point of Contact on 3 February
2020 to provide better synergy and referrals thus creating greater ease of
access to emotional wellbeing and mental health services.
Children Looked After team recruitment to deliver timely services to children
and young people in care who are in need of mental health services.

Plans for 2020/21
• Further waiting time reduction for tier 2 services, continue to improve waiting
times for Neuro Developmental pathway and 35% treatment access target
• Additional funding for Children and Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and
Mental Health services through the mental health investment standard
confirmed for 2020/21.
• Priorities agreed include increasing workforce capacity and continued
improvement of Crisis Care, engagement and communication with children,
young people, families and carers.
• Continue to develop and implement our four key priorities as identified and
agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board - Strategic Join Up, Engagement,
Improve Pathways to Care and Schools. Also further work on transitions to
support all key life change stages in children and young people’s lives and
increase access to support at an earlier stage, ensuring the right care at the
right time is received.
• Continue to align Croydon’s Children and Young People Emotional Wellbeing
and Mental Health Local Transformation Plan with One Croydon Alliance, the
Council’s Children and Young People’s Plan, South West London Health &
Care Partnership and South East London Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership.
Children and young people’s mental health
Our innovative work with schools to improve young people’s emotional resilience and
wellbeing continued in 2019/20, as part of the southwest London-wide Trailblazer
programme. We were successful in bidding for a share of £4.3m awarded across the
six southwest London boroughs in July 2019, to support the rollout of school-based
mental health support teams to around 150 schools.
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In Croydon, the additional funding means a bigger team can be put in place across
the schools involved; a new team focusing on reducing serious youth violence and
another team working across further education colleges.
The programme also involves schools working to implement a ‘whole school
approach’, providing support for young people, parents and teachers through a
variety of different ways. The mental health support teams who work 1:1 with young
people in secondary schools, and with children and parents in primary schools, as
well as deliver whole-class sessions for example on techniques to manage anxiety.
Other types of support include a new online service for the pupils of the schools
involved, mental health first-aid training for teachers and a course for parents called
Empowering Parents Empowering Communities.

4. Adult mental health
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust step down housing
As part of initiatives to improve patient flow, South London and Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust (SLaM) is working in partnership with Certitude to provide Step
Down Housing for service users that are ready to be discharged from acute mental
health ward back to community settings with barriers of discharge. The Step down
housing facility will have 12 flats and SLaM is anticipating opening the facility mid to
late April.
GP phone line
The CCG commissioned a GP advice line from June 2019. This involves a senior
mental health practitioner on call during the working day, resolving or escalating
queries to consultants appropriately. We are working to improve the service based
on feedback and recommendations from GP’s on their experience.
Croydon Talking Therapies (Improving Access to Psychological Therapies)
performance
In the most recently available national data, Jul – Sept 2019, Croydon exceeded
national and South London recovery and reliable improvement rates, whilst
completing treatment with a higher proportion of clients than other services. Croydon
CCG increased funding in April 2019 to meet the national target of reaching 22% of
those with suspected lower level mental illnesses for 2020. We have continued to
increase referrals through links with GPs and targeted online advertising. We have
also piloted workshops in GP surgeries, and will work with the Primary Care
Networks to extend this. Service continue to improve care pathway links, building on
the care pathway agreed with CAMHS services and as well as ensuring there is
engagement with the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities to
increase uptake of psychological therapies
Core 24 compliance
The CCG has received NHSE transformation funding to bring the SLaM Liaison
service up to CORE 24, as per national guidance. Core 24 is a liaison mental health

Page 25 of 168

service model provided 24 hours, 7 days a week; it is commonly provided across
urgent and emergency care pathways.
Recovery space
The CCG awarded a contract for a Recovery Space to Mind in Croydon. A Recovery
Space is an alternative safe place to send service users, to reduce activity through
A&E for whom it is not the best place. This service will be for up to six clients a day
accessed by referral from SLaM teams as part of the crisis pathway. The service will
be located in central Croydon in a non-clinical welcoming environment.
Severe Mental Illness physical health checks
The CCG commissioned a Locally Commissioned Service to enable GPs to deliver
Severe Mental Illness (SMI) physical health checks and longer appointment times for
registered patients with serious mental health problems which was launched in
August 2019. This is to support Croydon performance to reach the national target of
60%.

5. Out of hospital care transformation
Care homes
The CCG rolled out telehealth services to 75 nursing and residential care homes in
Croydon, all of which have over ten beds. The service provides remote support to a
care home when care home colleagues have a query or concern about a resident’s
health, with the aim of avoiding a visit to hospital where they could be better
supported at home. We are working with homes and GPs, as well as developing
pathways with the London Ambulance Service (LAS) and NHS111 to ensure that
every system partner can make full use of the new service.
We have worked in partnership with the Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) at CHS
and One Croydon to deliver a radical improvement in time taken to discharge
patients from wards to care homes through the innovative implementation of remote
assessments. This has significantly improved both patients’, hospital and care home
colleagues lives as patients now experience a better assessment and are able to be
discharged to an appropriate care home sooner than before. This has freed up beds
in hospital, improved hospital flow, saved time for both care home and hospital
colleagues and, ultimately, has helped Croydon residents stay healthier for longer by
reducing the time they spend on wards.
Patients on hospital wards who are either returning to a care home or need to move
to a care home can now be assessed remotely by care home staff to ensure they
can meet all the patient’s care needs using a laptop with a high-definition camera
and through a secure video link. The process is facilitated by a Care Home Liaison
Coordinator (CHLC) who is located in the IDT at CHS.
This new way of working has had many benefits, including:
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o Reduced delays in assessments taking place – during the pilot the
number of days from assessment to discharge reduced from 7.2 days
to 5.7 days.
o Quicker transfer to care homes – during the pilot, 82% of care home
decisions were made the same day.
Other work includes working with the Health Innovation Network (HIN) to set up a
workforce development programme for care home staff. We also fully rolled out the
“red bag”, which looks to improve and speed up a care home resident’s admission
into, journey through and discharge from hospital.
Additionally, we recruited a learning disability (LD) pharmacist to work with care
homes who have residents with LD to support medication reviews and management.
End of life care (EOLC)
We have implemented new ways of working in palliative care. There is additional
palliative care consultant capacity in Croydon Health Services NHS Trust to support
the emergency department and wards to help identify people who might be end of
life (EOL) and supporting them get the most appropriate care for their needs and
wishes, which might not be at the hospital. A palliative care consultant now attends
ward rounds at the Trust and works with and supports staff in wards to identify EOL
patients, to have difficult conversations and to plan care appropriately.
We have continued our engagement work with St Christopher’s Hospice, including
regular “Creating conversations” sessions and death cafes. We also supported a
project around palliative care and homelessness.
We worked St Christopher’s Hospice to go into hostels to provide support and
training to those working with homeless people to improve end
of life care for street homeless and those living in hostel
accommodation.
Falls
We conducted a pilot for a new community falls service,
enabling GPs to refer to the service. When referred, patients
get a comprehensive assessment of needs with the aim of
preventing falls and unnecessary hospital admissions. We are
planning on rolling this out more widely in line with the
Integrated Care Network localities. We have worked with care
homes to implement the “Shimmer my zimmer” project. This is
where those with dementia build a connection with their
zimmerframe by decorating it. This has been shown to reduce
falls in those with dementia.
Better care fund (BCF)
The BCF continues to ensure transformation in integrated health and social care with
a pooled budget to help services work more closely together in local areas.
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The use of this fund is overseen by the Health and Wellbeing Board in Croydon, with
the combined Joint Commissioning/BCF Executive Group overseeing BCF business
on a monthly basis.
The CCG and the Council continue to fund the provision of health and social
services in 2018/19 that support reductions in:
•
•
•
•
•

non-elective admissions
permanent admissions of older people (65 and over) to residential and
nursing care homes
the proportion of older people (65 and over) still at home 91 days after
discharge from hospital into reablement/rehabilitation services
delayed transfers of care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population
social care-related quality of life

The focus for 2019/20 has been optimising the transformation initiatives rolled out in
previous years, namely Integrated Community Networks (ICNs) and Living
Independently For Everyone (LIFE).
The LIFE service continued to support people regain and maintain their
independence through effective reablement and rehabilitation, as well as supporting
hospital discharges. Part of the ICN work is the multi-disciplinary team (MDT)
“huddles”. The focus for 2019/20 has been on increased use of huddles by
representatives from the whole health and care system and increased referrals into
huddles.
We ran a survey of huddle members to find out how the huddles were working for
those that attended them and how they could be improved. There was a strong
positive feeling towards the huddles, with average score 4.6 out of five. The survey
also revealed that we could do more to co-design care plans and to involve carers in
case reviews, where appropriate.
This work has achieved a significant improvement in delayed transfers of care
(DTOC) – when someone in ready to leave hospital but is waiting for assessment or
a social care bed. Our DTOC average during 2019/20 of 13.9 days was well below
the threshold of 16.9 days.
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6. Planned care transformation programme
Cancer
Lower Gastrointestinal Cancer Pathway
Since December 2019, Croydon CCG has been working closely with local Trust and
Royal Marsden Partners (RM Partners) to pilot the Faecal Immunochemical Test
(FIT) as part of the two-week rule referral pathway for bowel cancer. We have been
working with our GP community to undertake the test prior to referring onto
secondary care.
This means that all patients who present with suspected colorectal symptoms to their
GP (both low and high risk) will have a FIT test via their GP.
All relevant referrals to Croydon Healthcare Services NHS Trust are now triaged and
assessed by a specialist nurse. The team then call the patients to explain the next
steps and also answer any questions.
This process will ensure that the referred patient is seen in the appropriate setting
and reduce the need for invasive diagnostics such as a colonoscopy. The pilot is
expected to run until the end of September 2020, where the results will be reviewed
and contribute to a wider nationwide publication.
C The Signs
In July 2019, again working closely with RM Partners, Croydon CCG implemented ‘C
the Signs’, a digital clinical decision support tool, for a 12 month pilot. The tool uses
artificial intelligence mapped with the latest NICE guidelines and covering the entire
spectrum of cancer. It is designed to be used during patient consultations, taking
approximately thirty seconds to use. The tool can support GPs with the following:
•
•

The type of cancer patients may have
The investigations or referral needed
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•
•
•

When patients qualify for multiple diagnostic pathways
Safety netting advice and guidance
Ongoing education during consultations

This enables GPs to:
•
•
•

More quickly identify and diagnose cancer by cross-referencing a wide range
of local and national pathways
Ensure more appropriate testing takes place at time of presentation in clinic
Potentially avoid inappropriate referral onward to secondary care

Assisted Conception Treatment and Fertility Preservation
The six South West London CCGs met to agree a new single policy for assisted
conception treatment and fertility preservation on 5 March 2020 which will increase
access and equity to NHS-funded IVF and fertility preservation across the region.
From 1 April 2020 the CCG will consistently offer one cycle of IVF for women up to
the age to 42, and no longer require both partners to be childless.
The policy also recommends that women need to meet certain hormone levels which
clinical evidence shows increases the likelihood of a successful pregnancy.
This decision reverses the difficult decision made in March 2017 by Croydon’s
Governing Body to restrict IVF/ICSI treatment to only those in exceptional
circumstances.
Elective Transformation Programme
2019/20 has seen the introduction of several improvements in streamlining the
elective care process in Croydon. We have:
•

•
•

Worked with GPs and hospital consultants to embed Advice and Guidance, a
tool whereby consultants advise GPs to better help their patients in primary
care and to avoid unnecessary hospital appointments
Embedded a standard operating process ensuring referral triage within 48
hours and appointment booking with seven days
Investigated the potential to transfer Croydon residents who are long waiters
at other providers into the Croydon system

In 2020/21 we are planning to:
•
•
•

Review the targets set for hospital cancellation rates, “did not attend” rates
and typical first appointment wait in weeks
Understand the processes in place to ensure theatre utilisation is above 95%
and review the number of cancelled operations
Scope new “one-stop-shop” clinics, increase support to GPs to manage more
patients and highlight pathway efficiencies.
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7. Improving prescribing
Prescribing Support Dietitian
The team successfully recruited a Prescribing Support Dietician (PSD), to help
reduce inappropriate oral nutritional supplement (ONS) prescribing, achieve financial
efficiencies and improve the nutritional status and clinical outcomes of patients at
risk of malnutrition. Between November 2019 and March 2020, the PSD has made
significant progress including:
•
•
•
•

Over 200 patient reviews across six GP practices.
60 prescription reviews completed
Addressed inappropriate prescribing, with projected annual savings of over
£24,000
Visited five care homes to provide managers with nutritional advice and
resources on aid them to maintain well balanced diets for their residents,
without necessarily resorting to ONS use.

Over the Counter (OTC) Medication
The CCG hosted multi-professional engagement events to support local
implementation of the NHS England guidance on OTC medicines. These were
attended by 131 Croydon-based health care professionals including GPs, practicebased pharmacists, practice nurses and community pharmacists. These sessions
enabled partnership working across health care professionals to approach this
change in policy in a collaborative way and to develop consistent communication to
patients and residents within Croydon on how they can manage their minor selflimiting conditions.
Repeat Prescribing Processes and Waste Reduction
The CCG hosted repeat prescribing processes training for GP Practice Staff, to
emphasise the importance of having good prescribing systems in place to assist
patients in getting only the medicines that they need. Building on the feedback and
success of this training, the team have also started a rolling programme of more
focused support to each individual practices, which has received positive feedback
and reduced both patient harm and unwanted medicines waste.
Pharmacy Support to Care Homes
The CCG has extended the support it delivers to care homes in Croydon in 2019/20.
This additional support includes embedding the role of the learning disability
pharmacist, a new post Croydon CCG created following a successful bid to obtain
national funding to address stopping over medication of people with a learning
disability, autism or both (STOMP). One of the team’s pharmacy technicians has
started on the NHS England Medicines Optimisation in Care Home training
programme and as part of this programme, now visits care homes to:
•
•

Support the CCG’s wider medicines waste initiative
Deliver training to care home staff
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•
•

Undertake audits to assess and support improvement of medicines
management processes within care homes
Provide logistics support to the delivery of the CCG’s Care Home Local
Commissioned Service

In 2020/21 we will continue to work on all our current initiatives, across the SWL
system in order to promote self-care, minimise waste and polypharmacy, and also
improve transition between primary and secondary care.

Urgent and Emergency Care in Croydon
Partnership and collaboration has been a consistent theme across integrated urgent
care in Croydon this year. The alignment between the CCG and Croydon Health
Services NHS Trust has enabled us to improve access and care across the system.
We have also formed new, or strengthened, relationships with the London
Ambulance Service (LAS), 111 and social care colleagues.
In 2019/20 we have seen more people attending the Emergency Department, the
Urgent Treatment Centre and the GP Hubs across Croydon, leading to increased
pressure across the entire urgent care system.
To improve timely access to care, the CCG and Trust developed a high impact
improvement plan. This brought together resources to improve services for those
who require unscheduled care. There were five main areas of work: Right Care,
Right Time, Right Place; Urgent & Emergency Care; Leaving Hospital; Models of
Care and Urgent & Emergency Mental Health. The Croydon Quality Improvement
approach runs through each work stream.
The CCG also established the LAS Croydon Appropriate Care Pathway group to
help improve access to pathways across Croydon. The development of new
pathways between the LAS control room and Croydon services means that people
who phone 999 can access care sooner, without having to send an emergency
ambulance. We have also worked to improve pathways for Ambulance Clinicians on
scene to ensure that care is received closer to home and the emergency department
is protected for those with the most acute need.
In a UK first, we also developed a new pathway between Immedicare, our
telemedicine service in Care and Nursing Homes, and LAS to ensure our most
vulnerable residents get expert care in a responsive way.
The Out of Hours Service, Urgent Treatment Centre and the GP Hubs, provided by
the Croydon Urgent Care Alliance, have continued to offer on-the-day treatment for
minor injuries and illness for the residents of Croydon. Appointments are available at
the GP hubs and the out of hours’ service via 111. We have also improved access to
primary care appointments, through this route, across the borough and utilised
enhanced access appointments.
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Four-hour standard
A significant driver of four-hour standard performance is the availability of beds in the
hospital. The Croydon system has continued to work to improve this over the past
year using technology and data as enablers. Croydon Health Services NHS Trust is
the UK pilot site for Patienteer, a data driven patient flow platform, to improve
patients’ experience when they are ready to go home. The integrated discharge
team meet weekly to support timely departure and ward teams are now equipped
with data and support from senior leaders to continuously improve care, reduce time
spent in hospital and ensure people return home in a timely way. This year we have
also set up a weekly meeting with senior colleagues from across the system to
resolve issues that prevent people going home.

Mental health
People living with mental ill-health account for around 3% of all Emergency
Department attendances in Croydon. The CCG has brought partners together to
improve care by embedding a new escalation process to prevent long waits in the
emergency department for both adults and young people.
SLaM have worked to improve the availability of beds to ensure that, when people
require admission, they do not wait a significant time in the emergency department.
There has also been further investment in psychiatric liaison services, meaning that
people are assessed and treated in the emergency department quicker.

Frailty
A new model of care for those living with frailty was developed during 2019/20.
Clinicians, managers and commissioners came together in the summer to develop
the acute frailty team in response to the NHS England mandate to provide a front
door multidisciplinary team. In October 2019, we conducted Frailty Fortnight to test
our new model of care. This approach was unique to Croydon and provided leaders
and commissioners with the evidence that it is the right model of care for Croydon.

Maternity
The CCG has been working closely with the SW London Local Maternity System
(SWL LMS) – a multi-professional group of stakeholders involved in the
commissioning and delivery of maternity services across the sector, including service
user representation from local Maternity Voices Partnerships) to progress the
delivery of the following maternity transformation ambitions, as follows:

Personalisation and Choice
SWL LMS is one of seven pioneers across the country working to accelerate
improvements in personalisation and choice. An interactive booklet has been
produced, available in hard copy and online, which describes the services on offer
from maternity services at each of the four Trusts within SWL.
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Training for midwives in ‘choice conversations’ has been provided to build on ‘open
conversation’ skills, to ensure women have genuine choice, informed by unbiased
information.
Work has been ongoing throughout the year to support the growth of the Croydon
Maternity Voices Partnership (MVP) to strengthen service user engagement. The
MVP is co-chaired by two local service users and is dedicated to providing maternity
service users with a voice in the ongoing development and improvement of local
services.

Continuity of Carer
Women booked onto a continuity of carer (CoC) pathway will be cared for by the
same small team of midwives throughout the whole of their maternity journey. A
named midwife within the team will co-ordinate and provide maternity care, along
with a ‘buddy’ midwife, before, during and after giving birth.
There is current, strong, high quality evidence from a large number of randomised
trials involving over 17,000 women for the positive impact that CoC has on a range
of outcomes for women and babies.
There is a national target for 50% of women to be booked onto a CoC pathway by
March 2021, Furthermore, by 2024, 75% of women from BAME communities and a
similar percentage of women from the most deprived groups are to receive continuity
of care from their midwife throughout pregnancy, labour and the postnatal period.

Safer care
During 2019/20 Croydon Healthcare Services NHS Trust fully implemented the
‘Saving Babies Lives’ care bundle. Saving Babies’ Lives is designed to tackle
stillbirth and early neonatal death. It brings together four elements of care recognised
as evidence-based and/or best practice:
•
•
•
•

Reducing smoking in pregnancy
Risk assessment and surveillance for fetal growth restriction
Raising awareness of reduced fetal movement
Effective fetal monitoring during labour

Maternity services providers continue to address challenges in reducing smoking
during pregnancy rates and in improving multi-disciplinary attendance at training,
which is necessary to break down barriers and to build on good team working and
communication between midwives, obstetricians and anaesthetists, in addition to
honing skills together in fetal growth and movement.
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South West London Clinical Conference
In April 2019, clinical and professional
colleagues from across Croydon, joined
the South West London Clinical
Conference at The Kia Oval. The first
event of its kind, over 300 NHS and
social care professionals from across our
six South West London boroughs joined
together to share their thoughts and
ideas for the South West London Health
and Care Partnership clinical vision.
Guests were encouraged to share their
experiences and expertise on six areas
identified by the South West London
Clinical Senate: Diabetes, Cardiovascular Disease, End of Life Care, Mental Health,
Outpatient Transformation and Respiratory Care.
In individual breakout sessions, colleagues from the six south west London
Healthwatches gave presentations from the perspective of the patient, highlighting
their experiences with services, their suggestions for improvements and what
matters most to them as someone affected by these conditions. Six short films
featuring these patient stories were also produced to support the presentations. Lots
of ideas were captured during these sessions, all of which will help to define the
south west London clinical vision for moving forward together over the next five to 10
years.

Croydon pharmacist promotion pilot
In April 2019, the CCG launched a targeted campaign to
promote pharmacy awareness and to encourage people to
make the most of these highly trained healthcare professionals.
We will be running a pilot to promote pharmacists within a one
mile radius around Croydon A&E, to encourage more people to
use their local pharmacist with the ultimate aim of reducing
pressure on A&E. We will be using a mixture of online and
offline marketing, developed in consultation with the Croydon’s
Local Pharmaceutical Committee lead and Croydon University
Hospital A&E delivery board.
•

Social media/digital advertising focussing on improving awareness of the
nearest pharmacy team and their location and promoting the range of
services on offer. These will be promoted to everyone on their device
browsing the internet within a close radius of each pharmacy over the duration
of the campaign, as well as along the London Road from Thornton Heath
pond up to East Croydon. The relative success of the advert based on how
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•

•
•

many people ‘click through’ will be monitored – and the most popular will then
be promoted
A3 personalised posters – Each pharmacy team will have their own opening
times and images on their posters and we’ll display 30 copies in neighbouring
shops, GP and dental surgeries.
Pull -up banners mapping the five local pharmacists to be displayed in
Croydon A&E reception and the hospital’s main reception
Back page advert taken out in “Your Croydon” magazine, distributed to every
Croydon household

Evaluation showed that footfall for minor cases dropped at A&E and the Urgent
Treatment Centre over the period the campaign ran.

Parliamentary Awards – regional finalist in Croydon
Dr Emily Symington was announced as the regional winner for
excellence in primary care in the NHS Parliamentary Awards on
Monday 24 June 2019. Emily was nominated by Chris Philp, MP for
Croydon South.
A Governing Body member since 2016, Dr Symington has always
been closely involved with cross-agency programmes to promote
proactive and preventative care and embed shared decision-making
between patients and their GPs. Group consultations firmly embody
these principles, while also combining elements of peer support and
learning. Participants also benefit from better self-care, external
support networks and decreased need for appointments. Emily has
spoken at national conferences and has been interviewed by the BBC on this topic –
more on this below.
Dr Symington said, “Winning the regional award for Excellence in Primary Care is a
real honour. The success of group consultations is down to the hard work of the
whole team; my primary care clinical and administrative colleagues working together.
Of course, group consultations are all about our patients. They would not be a
success without people being willing to try something a bit new, to be honest with
themselves and each other. I hope this award will encourage others to try this new
way of delivering care.”
You can read more about group consultations in the Proactive and Preventative
Care section.

“Trust me, I’m a doctor”
BBC 2’s “Trust me I’m a Doctor” covered the use of group consultations to support
people with long-term conditions. Dr Zoe Williams, the presenter, took part in a group
consultation, hosted by Dr Alex Maxwell, and reported on the difference this new
type of appointment is making to patients at the Parchmore Practice. Dr Symington
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was also interviewed as someone who was key in setting up group consultations in
Croydon.
You can read more about the programme on BBC News:
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-51063419

Parchmore shortlisted for Primary Care Innovation award
Parchmore Medical Centre, based in Thornton Heath, has been nominated for an
award at the Healthcare Show’s national “Transformation in Healthcare Awards
2019” in the “Innovation in Primary Care” category. This award celebrates genuinely
innovative, evidence -based primary care services and models that have led to
measurable improvements in patient care, experience, outcomes and cost efficiency.
The team has been nominated for improving care for patients leading to significant
reductions in the need for emergency hospital admissions, A&E attendances and
hospital out patient referrals despite difficulties in recruiting GPs. They have also
transformed administrative processes and, by diversifying the workforce, GP clinical
and administrative workload has been reduced.

Croydon wins at the Royal College of General Practitioners Conference
The Royal College of General Practitioners Annual Primary Care Conference and
Exhibition took place from Thursday 24 to Saturday 26 October 2019 in Liverpool.
The Conference showcases up to 300 posters and papers from researchers and
innovators to the 1,500 GPs, academics and other health care professionals
attending the event. The posters are an essential part of the conference and are
prominently displayed in the exhibition hall where they attract huge interest from
delegates. There is also a competition and we are delighted to announce that the
team from Croydon, Joanna Smith, Rachel Tunbridge, Kieran Houser, Daniele
Serdoz won the Emerging technology poster prize, for their poster about system wide perceptions and use of telemedicine in care homes.
Congratulations to the team!

Dr Agnelo Fernandes HSJ Award and General Practice Awards
nominations
We were delighted that our Clinical Chair, Dr Agnelo Fernandes, was nominated for
the HSJ Award of “Clinical Leader of the Year”. The award recognises “exceptional
NHS clinical leaders […] who are out there making a difference to patients’ lives.”
This is in recognition of his work at national, London and Croydon level, all while
being a local GP in Thornton Heath. He was also nominated as “Healthcare Leader
of the year” at the General Practice Awards, the most prestigious awards for primary
care professionals.
While he didn’t win on the night – he is still very much a winner to us.
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Funding for Children and Young People
Schools, councils and the NHS in southwest London came together to successfully
bid for £4.3m of extra funding for mental health services for young people. One of
the schools is St Mary’s Catholic High School in Croydon.
Headteacher Patrick Shields said: “In an increasingly pressurised society, it’s really
important we support young people with their mental health.
“At St Mary’s we are focusing on improving emotional wellbeing and this additional
resource means our families and pupils will have access to more direct help from
qualified professionals.”
The funding has come from the government and will cover a range of projects in
different parts of south London. In Croydon, projects will look at reducing serious
youth violence.
You can read more about this elsewhere in this report.

Medical Assistants Graduation
Croydon Training Hub graduated its first cohort of Medical assistants – the first in
South West London to do a bespoke local course.
19 participants took part and went through an
amazing journey. We have created a new role
which exemplifies workforce transformation; it will
relieve pressure in the practices, create a new
career pathway, improve retention and most
importantly give our staff the motivation and
recognition they concern.

Multi-million pound boost to support Croydon’s sickest patients
On Monday 5 August 2019, Prime Minister Boris Johnson announced that Croydon
Health Services NHS Trust had secured £12.7 million to improve the hospital’s
intensive treatment and high dependency units.
The funding will allow the Trust to expand and refurbish the Trust’s current critical
care wards, providing more comfortable and private areas for the borough’s most
severely ill patients and their families.
The brand new units will provide 24 intensive care and high dependency beds –
almost doubling the current space, and will include more en suite facilities, quiet
rooms and waiting areas to support families at some of the most difficult times in
their lives.
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Croydon wins national patient safety award
On Tuesday 2 July 2019, Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
was crowned winner of the HSJ Patient Safety Award for Best
Patient Safety initiative in A&E, for their work in clinically
prioritising patients through real time data. This achievement
is to the credit of the teams in the Emergency Department
and it is fantastic to see them get the recognition they
deserve.
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South West London achievements
You can read all about the South West London Health and Care Partnership’s (the
Partnership) work and achievements on our website at
www.swlondon.nhs.uk/ourwork - some highlights from 2019/20 are set out below.

Improving children and young people’s mental health
As set out elsewhere, the Partnership was successful in bidding for £4.3m of national
funding this year to support the rollout of mental health support teams across our six
boroughs.

Suicide Prevention
The Partnership’s suicide prevention project supports NHS England’s ambition to
reduce suicide amongst middle-aged men by 10% by 2021, through a range of
outreach activities, training for organisations and individuals in the community, and
recruiting Suicide Prevention champions. We have also set up a new Suicide
Bereavement Liaison Service which aims to support individuals and families
bereaved by suicide and link them to relevant services. A designated suicide
bereavement liaison officer, who will receive referrals for support from police and/or
health care professionals, proactively contacts anyone bereaved following suicide to
offer a range of support.

Improving diabetes care
We launched a new diabetes service this year called You and Type 2, after receiving
over £500,000 funding from the NHS Test Bed programme. The service provides
further education, support and resources, as well as enabling patients to develop
their unique care plan with their healthcare professional. The service is supported by
an app which allows patients to access and update their care plan when it suits them
and receive personalised videos containing recent test results, which will prepare
them for informed discussions with clinicians. The work is being piloted in 35 GP
practices and expected to roll-out more widely later this year.

Connecting Your Care
We have been working with NHS providers and local authorities to connect health
and care records across our six boroughs into a single, shared view for the benefit of
direct patient care. The first practices and acute hospitals went live on the system
this year. We are also working with partners across London to develop our digital
collaboration even further – with other NHS providers including London Ambulance
Service, our other local authorities and even care homes.

Workforce
We want to have the right staff, with the right skills, to provide the best possible care
to our patients and residents, making South West London a Great Place to Work.
We have developed a programme called Jobs That Care, in collaboration with Health
Education England, to educate and encourage school leavers to think about a
rewarding career in the care industry. The Partnership also worked to support health
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and social care organisations across south London to meet their 2.3% government
apprenticeship targets and utilise levy funding by bringing providers together to work
collaboratively to share good practice, innovation and success stories.
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Healthy London Partnership
The CCG, along with all of London’s 32 CCGs, Greater London Authority, London
Councils, Public Health England and NHS England (London) contributed funding
towards Healthy London Partnership (HLP) in 2019/20. The aim was to bring
together the NHS and partners in London to work towards the common goals set out
in Better Health for London, NHS Five Year Forward View and the devolution
agreement.
HLP is supporting the development of the refreshed shared vision for health and
care to ensure all partners are clear about their role in making London the world’s
healthiest city. The London Vision was launched at the London Health Board
Conference in October 2019. It sets out shared priorities across 10 population health
areas of focus and system enablers where it is recognised that partnership action is
needed - London-wide together with local action working with Londoners.
Through successful partnership working across health and care in London, HLP has
helped to deliver on a range of programmes, outputs and achievements spanning
primary and community care, secondary care and mental health, as well as those
focussed on integration of health and care and place-based care. All this work is part
of the partnership’s collective aim to make London the world’s healthiest city.
You can explore HLP’s various programmes via its website or search the HLP
resources section for publications or case studies.
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Funding healthcare in Croydon
This information serves as a summary of the CCG’s annual accounts including the
controls assurance and auditor’s statements. Our performance against the key
financial performance indicators is summarised below.

Funding Context
Despite receiving significantly more funding in 2016 which moved the funding
position much closer to target, the CCG remained underfunded in 2019/20 by 3.5%
(£18m) against the national needs based formula, Compared to the other CCGs in
SWL, the Croydon system is disadvantaged from some 10% in funding terms. This
is an important issue not to be lost in the new SWL CCG.

Income and expenditure target
The CCG is reporting a £2.1m surplus for 2019/20 (£1.2m surplus – 2018/19), with a
cumulative deficit as at 31 March 2020 of £65.1m.
This has been delivered through a programme of transformational QIPP over the
past seven years amounting to £121.6m.
A summary of the financial performance of the CCG since establishment is set out
below:

Target Allocation
Actual Allocation
Allocation Gap
Distance from Target
Cumulative Distance from Target
In-year surplus/(deficit)
Cumulative Deficit
QIPP Delivery
Cumulative QIPP

Audited Audited Audited Audited Audited Audited Unaudited
FY 13/14 FY 14/15 FY 15/16 FY 16/17 FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
438.0
449.0
466.2
485.0
497.4
521.3
549.1
392.4
406.4
441.2
467.0
479.0
500.5
530.7
(45.6)
(42.6)
(25.0)
(18.0)
(18.4)
(20.8)
(18.4)
10.41%
9.49%
5.36%
3.71%
3.70%
3.99%
3.35%
(45.6)
(88.2)
(113.2)
(131.2)
(149.6)
(170.4)
(188.8)
(18.2)
(14.7)
(10.8)
(10.8)
(13.9)
1.2
2.1
(18.2)
(32.9)
(43.7)
(54.5)
(68.4)
(67.2)
(65.1)
14.0
11.0
10.5
14.5
21.2
26.7
23.7
14.0
25.0
35.5
50.0
71.2
97.9
121.6

Financial Performance in 2019/20
The CCG’s financial plan identified an efficiency programme to achieve financial
surplus of £2.1m in 2019/20. The CCG achieved £23.7m (126%) against the agreed
efficiency plan and was successful in delivering a £2.1m surplus.

Financial Targets
Each year the financial performance of the CCG is judged externally against a range
of financial duties and targets. A summary of the CCG’s duties is as follows:
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Financial Performance Outturn 2019/20
Target

Statutory /
Non-Statutory

Plan

Actual

Achieved

Statutory

£3.5m underspend
(£63.7m cumulative
deficit)

£2.1m underspend
(£65.1m cumulative
deficit)

Yes

Statutory

£0.0m

£0.0m

Yes

Statutory

£610.3m

£610.3m

Yes

Statutory

£0.6m

£0.1m

Yes

Non-Statutory

£3.5m underspend
(£63.7m cumulative
deficit)

£2.1m underspend
(£65.1m cumulative
deficit)

Yes

Non-Statutory

6.60%

7.28%

Yes

Non-Statutory
Non-Statutory

£8.6m
£18.8m

£8.2m
£23.7m

Yes
Yes

Revenue Resource
Limit
Capital Resource
Limit
Annual Cash
Drawdown (ACD)
Cash Balance as at
31/03/2020
NHSE Target
Mental Health
Investment Standard
Running Cost
QIPP Target (NHSE)

(* CCG agreed a technical adjustment to the control total with NHS England and NHS Improvement)

Expenditure by type
Funding for Croydon CCG patients
The CCG’s revised allocation for programme funding and running costs for 2019/20
was published in February 2019. The allocation process in February 2019 indicated
the CCG funding was 3.47% below target allocation. In 2019/20, the CCG was
funded £1,277 (2018/19 £1,206) per patient for its estimated registered population of
415,648 (2018/19 415,039).

Working in partners
There is continued work through the One Croydon Alliance in ‘whole system’ service
planning for emergency care to deliver service solutions to meet the challenging
needs of our population.
There is also a close alignment between the South West London Health & Care
Partnership whereby partners are working together in collaboration across South
West London to support transformation and delivery at borough level.
The CCG signed a block contract that incentivises optimising elective and maternity
activity within the NHS provision in Croydon, and contractually embeds a Croydon
joint control total. This was a radical departure from historical cost and volume
contracts at national tariff. These financial arrangements mean Croydon is now an
integrated care place with one budget and one efficiency programme across provider

Page 44 of 168

and commissioner. Primary care, community and mental health budgets are ringfenced within this arrangement. The Croydon integrated place system had an agreed
in-year control total of £3.5m surplus (reduced to £2.1m in March 2020 due to a
technical adjustment which was offset by improved financial performance within the
South West London STP) with a combined efficiency requirement of £33.1m. Within
this, the CCG was required to deliver an in-year £2.1m surplus plan that included a
challenging transformational QIPP target of £18.8m.

Capital investment
The CCG did not incur any capital expenditure in 2019/20 in line with the nil capital
resource limit.

Productivity and efficiency
The CCG has delivered £23.7m of efficiency savings in the year. The CCG continues
to work in partnership to commission effective and efficient services for the local
health economy.

Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCGs to aim to pay 95% undisputed
invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice,
whichever is later. In 2019/20 the CCG achieved 97.57% by value and 97.12% by
number of non-NHS trade invoices and 99.87% by value and 96.26% by number of
NHS invoices paid within the required timescale.

External auditors
The CCG’s external auditors for the financial year 2019/20 are Grant Thornton LLP.
Their fees amounted to £40k, which was for services provided to conduct the
statutory audit.

Late payment of commercial debts
There were no claims for interest payable under the late payment of Commercial
Debts (Interest) Act 1999.

Pension liabilities
Information on how pension liabilities are treated and relevant pension schemes are
found in the Remuneration and Staff Report. The treatment of pension liabilities is
detailed in note 4.1 to the Financial Statements.

Revenue
The CCG attracts low levels of income. The key areas are recharges to London
Borough of Croydon for the joint funding element on commissioning of voluntary
sector mental health services and Public Health prescribing, and the recovery of
office accommodation costs occupied by North East London Commissioning Support
Unit (NEL CSU) employees that are based locally with the CCG.
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Explanation of going concern basis
The CCG’s financial statements are prepared on a “going concern basis”. Public
sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the
provision of a service or function in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision for that service or function in published documents.
For Croydon CCG, its statutory functions and responsibilities will continue to be
provided by South West London CCG from 1 April 2020.
The following is clear evidence that it is appropriate for the CCG to prepare its
annual accounts on a going concern basis:
•
•
•
•
•

Croydon CCG was established on 1 April 2013 as a separate statutory body.
Croydon CCG has agreed, and is operating to, its constitution to govern its
activities
Croydon CCG has also been notified (January 2019) of indicative allocations
from 2020/21 to 2023/24 (4 years further funding).
The CCG achieved a surplus of £2.1m for 2019/20.
Croydon CCG functions and responsibilities for healthcare in Croydon will
formally transfer to South West London CCG on 1 April 2020.
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Performance analysis
Improve quality
Monitoring the quality of health services – and making
improvements
Assuring quality in providers
We show below how we measure quality in our providers. We have used as
examples CHS and SLaM, the acute and mental health trusts we commission,
respectively, as our largest providers.
The Croydon Quality Alert System (QAS) is managed by Croydon CCG and used
across all providers. This was established following the Mid-Staffs inquiry, and
subsequently published Francis Report, which identified that “GPs need to undertake
a monitoring role on behalf of their patients who receive acute hospital and other
specialist services.”
Croydon QAS has been implemented by Croydon CCG to facilitate GPs compliance
of this recommendation by providing a route to report quality concerns on care being
delivered from commissioned services, strengthening internal processes for dealing
with soft intelligence and triangulating with hard data.
In addition, as part of Croydon CCG’s responsibilities under delegated
commissioning for monitoring and supporting quality improvement within general
practice, Croydon CCG has extended the use of QAS to our acute and mental health
Providers as a route to report quality concerns on care being delivered within general
practice.
We also carry out announced quality visits to major providers (not GPs). These give
us an opportunity to see, hear, smell and feel how services are being provided by
talking to patients and staff and collecting evidence about the quality of that service.

Croydon Health Services NHS Trust – Acute Provider
Assurance of quality of services commissioned by Croydon CCG is monitored via a
number of different forums.
Monthly Quality Committee in Common
The purpose of the CHS Quality Committee in Common is to review the provider’s
performance in relation to clinical care and patient experience against nationally and
locally agreed standards, and to ensure that services commissioned from the
provider deliver the best health outcomes. Should any aspect of service quality not
be achieved the Quality Committee in Common will be responsible for agreeing the
actions needed to rectify under-performance under the terms of the contract.
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Monthly Serious Incident Review Group (SIRG) -active until September 2019
Croydon CCG GP Governing Body Member Dr Emily Symington chairs the SIRG.
Membership includes the CCG’s Chief Nurse, Head of Quality and CHS’ Medical
Director and Head of Patient Safety and Quality.
The group meets on a monthly basis and undertakes the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Review Serious Incidents (SIs) recommended for closure;
Monitor action plan implementation and improvement outcomes as a result of
SI investigations;
Ensure that evidence of demonstrable outcomes from SI action plans is
available and reviewed;
Monitor new and outstanding actions;
Review any identified trends;
Gain assurance that provider organisations’ systems, process and policies are
robust enough to manage SIs and learn the lessons.

In line with Croydon CCG and CHS approach to joint working to enhance working
relationships and reduce duplication of work, it was agreed by the senior
management team of both organisations that the monthly SIRG meeting cease in
September 2019. It was felt that assurance could be gained, and concerns raised
regarding quality by the Head of Quality Assurance Croydon CCG attending and
actively participating in the CHS weekly SIRG.
Care Quality Commission
In August 2019, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out an unannounced
responsive inspection of services at Croydon University Hospital. The inspection
followed the findings of the 2018 NHS Inpatient Survey and some complaints
received about care.
Findings were published in the October 2019.
Overall, patients said they received good care, from friendly and caring nurses. Staff
were observed treating people with compassion, kindness, dignity and respect. They
also found that decisions about care were being discussed with patients, families
and carers to involve people in decisions about their health.
However, the CQC found that this was not consistent for all of our patients during the
inspection. Staff and patients noted that the demand for our services at times
affected the high standards of care we wanted to provide. Improvements to address
these issues include offering 300 nurses new roles at the Trust and hiring almost 90
nurses and midwives.
Inspectors reported that staff said they felt respected, supported and valued. They
also noted in the report that both senior and junior staff, nurses and consultants
spoke about the importance of putting patients at the heart of what we do. Initiatives
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like ‘Croydon Quality Improvement’ and ‘My Improvement Fund’ will help, with the
aim of empowering staff to take their improvement ideas forward.
The CQC did not provide a rating, however you can read more about the inspection
by searching “Croydon Health Services NHS Trust” at their website:
www.cqc.org.uk

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust – Mental Health Provider
Monthly Clinical Quality Review Group
Our Chief Nurse is the Vice Chair of the monthly four-borough Clinical Quality
Review Groups (CQRG) in collaboration with Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham
CCGs. Our Head of Quality and Head of Commissioning also attend these meetings.
The CQRG is established for Commissioners and the Trust to gain assurance of
quality (clinical effectiveness, patient safety, and patient experience) and agree
priority areas for quality improvement within the Trust’s contract for service.
The Commissioners and the Trust work collaboratively to;
•
•
•
•

Ensure essential standards of quality and safety are maintained
Deliver the best quality health services within available resources
Identify and drive continuous improvement in quality and outcomes
Ensure reputation and public confidence are maintained in the services
provided across all the Trust’s sites

We also attend monthly four borough Serious Incident Review Group (SIRG)
meetings with SLaM – you can read more about these later on in the report.

Staff Friends and Family Test
The Staff Friends and Family Test (FFT) is a feedback tool that enables NHS staff to
give regular feedback about their organisation as a place to work and to receive care
or treatment, which is conducted on a quarterly basis (excluding Q3 when the NHS
Staff Survey takes place).
Staff are asked to respond to two questions:
•

•

the ‘Care’ question, which asks how likely staff are to recommend the NHS
services
they work in to friends and family who need similar treatment or care and,
the ‘Work’ question which asks how likely staff would be to recommend the
NHS service they work in to friends and family as a place to work.

There is no set criterion for how many staff should be asked in each quarter, simply
a requirement that all staff should be asked at least once over the year. It is hoped
that the Staff FFT will help to promote a big cultural shift in the NHS, where staff
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have further opportunity and confidence to speak up, and where the views of staff
are increasingly heard and are acted upon.

Friends and Family Test
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an important feedback tool that supports the
fundamental principle that people who use NHS services should have the
opportunity to provide feedback on their experience.
The FFT gives patients the opportunity to submit feedback using a simple question
which asks how likely they are to recommend the service to their friends and family if
they needed similar care or treatment.

GPs Clinical Quality Review Group
When Croydon CCG took on delegated responsibility for GP contracts on 1 April
2017, we also took on responsibility for the quality of these services. As with any key
provider services, such as Croydon Health Services NHS Trust, a Clinical Quality
Review Group takes on this role and we have done the same with GP contracts.
The General Practice Clinical Quality Review Group (GP CQRG) has been
established to:
•
•
•

•

Assess and gain assurance on quality across the Practices in Croydon in
relation to patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience;
Agree priority areas for improvement and ensure high standards of quality and
safety are maintained;
Coordinate and monitor all available intelligence and quality data on individual
Primary Care Providers held by the CCG, CQC, NHS England and other
sources including comparative benchmarked information and intelligence from
the Primary Care Commissioning Working Group;
Communicate sharing best practice, which promotes a culture of continuous
learning.

Network leads and the Chair of the GP Practice Managers’ Forum are invited to
attend, along with members of the Governing Body and representatives from
relevant areas of the CCG, such as pharmacy and safeguarding. We assure quality
through a variety of measures, including patient experience surveys, CQC reports
and GP incident reporting. We then use this is to identify best practice which can be
shared and to identify areas where we work collaborate with GP partners to improve.
GP Patient Survey
The GP Patient Survey is an independent survey run by Ipsos MORI on behalf of
NHS England. The survey is sent out to over a million people across the UK. The
results show how people feel about their GP practice.
The last survey collected data from January 2019 to March 2019. In 2018 the
questionnaire was significantly redeveloped to reflect changes to primary care
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services in England as set out in the GP Forward View. In addition, for the first time
the sample included 16-17 year olds to improve the inclusivity of the survey. These
changes mean that the majority of questions are not comparable with results from
previous publications, even where question wording remains similar.
We have presented some highlights from the survey below
•
•
•
•
•

72% thought it was easy to get through to someone at their GP practice,
compared to 68% nationally
70% of responders felt their experience of making an appointment was
“Good”
85% felt that the healthcare professional they saw gave them enough time
and almost 90% felt the professional listened to them
92% felt that they were involved as much as they wanted to be in decisions
about care and treatment
82% felt their experience of their GP practice was “Good”

Residents can search for their own practice, or view the CCG-wide results in more
detail at the link below:
https://www.gp-patient.co.uk/practices-search
Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC are the independent regulator of health and social care in England. They
make sure health and social care services provide people with safe, effective,
compassionate, high-quality care and encourage care services to improve. GP
practices are inspected regularly, usually every three years and are normally
announced.
They ask five questions in every care service they inspect to help focus on the things
that matter to people.
•
•
•
•
•

Are they safe?
Are they effective?
Are they caring?
Are they responsive to people's needs?
Are they well led?

You can find more information about the CQC, the rating for your local GP and all
health services in Croydon and beyond at the link below:
http://www.cqc.org.uk/

Safeguarding
The safeguarding team ensures that the CCG is fully represented at local boards
and partnership as well as national safeguarding forums. Safeguarding
arrangements in Croydon have been enhanced by the integrated model across the
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CCG and CHS with the establishment of Croydon Health Integrated Safeguarding
Team (CHIST) last summer. The integrated team was delighted when they were
nominated and presented with a staff award.
The CCG continues to achieve good performance with the completion of the
Learning Disability Mortality Reviews (LeDER) against the key performance
indicators (KPIs) set by NHSE. The LeDER steering group oversees the quality of
the reviews and efforts made to embed the learning and drive improvements in the
care provision for those service-users and their families who are affected by learning
disability.
Pathways and processes have been introduced across the health and social care
partnership to help identify the health needs of children looked after. In
commissioning safe and effective services to meet these needs, the outcomes for
those children and young people who are care experienced are greatly improved.
The safeguarding team continue to support colleagues in primary care to develop
their safeguarding systems and processes. The safeguarding team have
strengthened the quality assurance process for primary care, offering peer review
and support for safeguarding leads in primary care through quarterly forums and
provide safeguarding training.
The safeguarding team continues to contribute to multi agency working and
supporting colleagues in primary care with their contribution to serious case reviews,
safeguarding adult reviews, learning reviews and domestic homicide reviews. There
is more joint working with staff across commissioning, contracts, quality and
safeguarding to ensure robust quality assurance for providers of services to
demonstrate how they safeguard vulnerable adults and children (including those
looked after).

Patient advice and liaison service (PALS) and complaints
Openness and transparency is a high priority for NHS Croydon CCG. The CCG is
committed to providing access to information and support to their community. CCGs
are responsible for managing any complaints about local healthcare services they
commission directly. Providers are responsible for managing complaints they receive
about their own services, and the CCG monitors those themes and systems. The
CCG has oversight of these systems at its regular provider meetings and challenges
partners to ensure they act upon lessons learned. Information about complaints is
included in the quarterly quality report to the CCG Governing Body.
Complaints, queries and concerns are very important sources of information about
what our patients think about the quality of the services and care provided by NHS
Croydon CCG. Our aim is to continue to improve our services by responding
positively to the complaints, queries and concerns we receive and aiming to put
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things right. Lessons learnt from all investigated cases are there to improve the
quality of patient care and to prevent repeated failings within the organisation.
A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction that requires a response. NEL CSU
provides a complaint management service on behalf of the CCG. This includes
complaints about commissioning decisions made by the CCG or any aspect of
service that the CCG provides and requires a formal investigation and written
response. With the Complainant’s consent, the CSU sends any Complaints about
Providers of services to the Provider to resolve.
Sometimes people do not wish to complain but they might require information,
advice, or assistance, within a PALs Enquiry. NEL CSU manages the PALs service
on behalf of the CCG. Both the CCG and NEL CSU make every effort to find a quick
resolution to PALs enquiries.
The CCGs regularly analyse the number of complaints and PALS queries to identify
any patterns, themes and trends which both informs current service provision as well
as ensuring that fairness and transparency is exercised.
The CCG received 143 PALs/Complaints in 2019/20 (1 April 2019 to 31 December
2019*). Eighteen of those complaints were for the CCG to formally respond.
* Please note this is the best available data

Freedom of Information
Croydon CCG is committed to being open and transparent. The Freedom of
Information Act (FOI) 2000 gives members of the public a right to request access to
all types of recorded information held by public authorities. You can read more about
this on our website:
https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/contact-us/Pages/Freedom-of-information.aspx

NHS England annual assessment of Croydon CCG
NHS England has a statutory duty to conduct annual performance assessments of
each CCG. The financial year of 2019/20 was a transitional year moving towards
Sustainability Transformation Partnerships and Integrated Care Systems, therefore,
a new assurance framework was introduced.
The NHS Oversight Framework (NOF) was published in August 2019 and contains
many of the indicators in the previous assurance scheme, the Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF). The NOF contains 60 indicators used to determine
whether CCGs are meeting their statutory duties (the things they must do) and
appropriately exercising their key statutory powers (the things they have the freedom
to do). This change led to a difference in the rating system for the six Clinical Priority
Areas (mental health, dementia, diabetes, maternity, learning disabilities and
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cancer). NHS England no longer provide a separate assessment for these, to
CCGs. Therefore, the only official rating of CCGs is their overall rating for the year.

Overall Rating
The CCG received formal confirmation of its overall rating for the year in July 2019.
The CCG moved from ‘requires improvement’ in 2017/18 to ‘good’ in 2018/19.
Assessments in each of the clinical priority areas are overseen by independent
groups. More detailed information on the IAF process can be found at
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/ccg-assess/

Croydon CCG performance – performance analysis
Performance against NHS Constitution standards and national
performance indicators in 2019/20
Performance indicators help us to know where our local services are performing well
and where they are not. This information is used to identify and spread good practice
ideas, as well as to inform us where to focus our attention to improve the care our
patients receive in partnership with our service providers.
We cannot judge performance on one single measure and therefore we look at a
range of information using national and local performance data that helps us to
compare the performance of similar health service providers.

Areas of good performance
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
Croydon CCG continued to work toward increasing the number of people accessing
psychological therapies for anxiety and depression building on the progress over a
number of years. Additionally, 2019/20 saw the national IAPT access target again
increase demonstrating the commitment of the NHS to improving access to these
services. CCGs were required to deliver an access rate of 4.75% in Q1-3,
increasing to 5.5% by Q4 of 2019/20. Whilst Croydon fell short of the Q4 target by
0.1%, the CCG exceeded the overall accumulative target for the year of 19.75% with
20.5%. This reflects the investment in the Croydon Talking Therapies Service and
our continued partnership with South London & Maudsley Mental Health Foundation
Trust.
IAPT recovery and waiting times
The proportion of people reporting improvement as a result of accessing IAPT
services is the focus of this metric. The national target is to ensure 50% of people
experience recovery from the start of their treatment for anxiety and / or depression.
Last year, in 2018/19, the CCG made a significant improvement and has seen a
further improvement during 2019/20. This year 58.0% people reported recovery and
increase of 4.9% on the previous year. This was achieved in the context of even
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more people accessing services. An increase of 1,686 first treatments and 860
completing a course of treatments was attained, or approximately 20%.
Early intervention for psychosis
This indicator monitors whether people experiencing an episode of psychosis are
referred to and treated with the recommended package of care within two weeks or
less. The target increases each year, leading up to 60% by 2020/21. In 2019/20 the
CCG achieved 67.2% and has maintained compliance for the fourth consecutive
year.
Dementia diagnosis
The CCG has continued to meet the national target for the number of people on the
primary care dementia register compared with the estimated number of people
expected to have dementia. The year-end performance was 70.8% against the
66.7% target. Identifying people that have dementia and formally diagnosing their
condition can improve their access to support services.
Cancer Waits (two week and 31 day pathways)
This group of indicators monitors the timely access to cancer services for our
population. Cancer pathways for urgent two-week referrals and 31-day treatments
were all compliant in 2019/20. Earlier diagnosis and treatment can increase the
likelihood of a successful outcome and so these are a national priority. Further work
improving the 62 day pathways is a priority for the CCG.

Areas of improving performance
Physical health checks for people with a severe mental illness (SMI)
2019/20 saw the introduction of a new standard for improving the physical health
inequalities of people with SMI. This measures the proportion of people with SMI
having all six physical health checks over a 12 month period. Whilst the CCG did not
achieve the 60.0% target by March 2020, it was able to increase from 5.0% in
2018/19 to 12.8% of people on the SMI register having a complete physical health
check. The CCG also managed to increase the completeness of the SMI register by
5%, or 211 to 4,357 in 2019/20. The CCG has introduced a Locally Commissioned
Service (LCS) which incentivises GPs to increase the number of health checks and
is supporting improvements in coding of this work in primary care and improve data
quality. An improvement plan has also been agreed with NHS England and NHS
Improvement.
Physical health checks for people with learning disabilities (LD)
2019/20 also saw the introduction of a standard for CCGs to improve the proportion
of physical health checks undertaken in a Primary Care setting for people with LD.
There was a requirement to increase the completeness of the LD register and overall
number of health checks. The South West London agreed target was 75%.
Croydon CCG improved from 67.4% in 2018/19 to 71.1% in 2019/20. A marked
improvement, yet short of the SWL target. There was also an increase in the
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number of people on the register, ensuring a more people with LD receive support
from NHS services.
Personal Health Budgets (PHB)
Croydon CCG saw a dramatic increase in the number of PHBs in 2019/20. Working
to a local target of 230, the CCG managed to achieve 268 PHBs by February 2020.
PHBs are intended to allow greater personalisation and control over the support
chosen by people with complex care needs. The CCG is exploring a range of areas
that people may want to hold their personal health budget, including mental health,
continuing health care and wheelchair services.
Access to Children and Young People’s Mental Health services
There is a national commitment to ensure that, by 2020/21, at least 35% of children
and young people with a diagnosable condition receive treatment from an NHS
funded mental health service. In 2019/20, the target was 34% with the CCG
achieving 35.1%. The CCG prioritised this as an area for improvement in the
previous annual report and we are pleased that the additional investment crossagency working saw the national target achieved 12 months early.
Maximum 18 weeks wait for children’s wheelchairs
The CCG appointed a new provider for wheelchair services in 2018/19 in order to
reduce the backlog of patients waiting and reduce the overall waiting time. The
provider has been working to prioritise clearing the backlog of long waiters with
children being the top priority. More children have been treated since the new
provider was appointed, however, the target of 92.0% has not been achieved. The
CCG’s provisional performance is 50.0% compared with 8.7% in 2018/19. This
means more children have received needed equipment within 18 weeks, but further
work is needed to ensure all children needing a wheelchair receive one earlier.

Priorities for improvement
A&E
Performance against the four-hour target at Croydon Health Services (CHS)
continued to decrease on the previous year with an average performance of 83.0%
for the year against a local target of 87.0%. A recurring theme which contributed to
this performance was the difficulty in discharging patients into social care and mental
health placements. This leads to longer waiting times in A&E. Actions in March
2020 to facilitate discharges from hospital to create additional space for the care of
people with COVID-19 has seen an improvement in the appropriate placement of
these cohorts. Work will continue in 2020/21 to build on new ways of working.
Cancer waits (62 day pathway)
The CCG has fallen short of the 62 day pathways during 2019/20 with an average of
80.8% against an 85.0% target. This pathway is made challenging by the transfer of
patients between hospitals where the diagnosed cancer may require care specialist
centres. South West London operates a joint provider and commissioner oversight
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group to improve the care processes within and between hospitals in the patch.
Locally, CHS is working with this group to develop action plans to improve interhospital transfers.
Referral to Treatment Times & 52 week waits
The commitment to treat patients within 18 weeks of referral has long been held as a
priority within the NHS. The 52-week wait (52WW) measures reports on exceptional
instances of where patients have waiting over a year to complete their treatment.
Each hospital treats these long waits as a serious incident requiring a root cause
analysis to understand the nature of the delay and assess if any harm came to the
patient whilst waiting. In 2019/20, the CCG’s reported 52WW in March increased to
14, compared to the same point in the previous year. Four of these were reported by
St George’s Hospital (SGH) which has been working to improve its waiting times
since recommending national reporting against this metric in January 2019 after
being given a reporting break due to the confidence in the quality of its data. Four of
these were reported by King’s College Hospital Foundation Trust (KCH) and four
were reported by Guy’s and St Thomas’ (GST). SWL commissioners are working
with SGH to monitor progress against its action plan and South East London (SEL)
commissioners are similarly working with KCH and GST to support improvements in
elective waiting times.

Performance Summary for NHS Constitution and other National Standards
Annual Performance by year

Targets

Measure

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Change

2019/20
Plan

2019/20
National
Standard

A&E waits

Patients should be admitted,
transferred or discharged
within 4 hours of their arrival
at an A&E department –
Croydon Health Services

89.90%

85.25%

83.00%



87.00%

95.0%

Referral To
Treatment waiting
times for nonurgent consultantled treatment

Patients on incomplete nonemergency pathways (yet to
start treatment) should have
been waiting no more than 18
weeks from referral

92.7%

90.6%

90.4%



92.3%

92.0%

52 Week Waits

Patients waiting more than a
year to complete their
treatment

12

11

7



0 by
October
2019

0

98.0%

98.9%

98.4%



99.0%

99.0%

11

9

112



0

0

Area

Diagnostic test
waiting times
Mixed Sex
Accommodation

Patients waiting for a
diagnostic test should have
been waiting less than 6
weeks from referral
Patients that have been
admitted to a single sex ward
or the opposite sex
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Annual Performance by year

Area

Measure

Maximum two-week wait for
first outpatient appointment for
patients referred urgently with
suspected cancer by a GP
Cancer waits - twoweek wait

Cancer waits - 31
days

Cancer waits - 62
days

Infections

Care Programme
Approach (CPA)

Maximum two-week wait for
first outpatient appointment for
patients referred urgently with
breast symptoms (where
cancer was not initially
suspected)
Maximum one month (31-day)
wait from diagnosis to first
definitive treatment for all
cancers
Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where
that treatment is surgery
Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where
that treatment is an anticancer drug regimen
Maximum 31-day wait for
subsequent treatment where
the treatment is a course of
radiotherapy
Maximum two-month (62-day)
wait from urgent GP referral to
first definitive treatment for
cancer
Maximum 62-day wait from
referral from an NHS
screening service to first
definitive treatment for all
cancers
Maximum 62-day wait for first
definitive treatment following a
consultant's decision to
upgrade the priority of the
patient (all cancers)
Number of C. Difficile
infections
The proportion of people
under adult mental illness
specialties on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of
discharge from psychiatric inpatient care during the period

Targets

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Change

2019/20
Plan

2019/20
National
Standard

96.3%

96.9%

95.7%



93.0%

93.0%

98.5%

98.8%

97.4%



93.0%

93.0%

97.6%

97.6%

98.0%



96.2%

96.0%

95.2%

97.5%

94.4%



98.9%

94.0%

98.5%

99.1%

99.2%



98.5%

98.0%

94.5%

96.6%

96.0%



94.9%

94.0%

84.7%

83.2%

80.8%



85.8%

85.0%

89.3%

83.5%

92.1%



98.2%

90.0%

84.2%

88.9%

84.8%



86.3%

Not set

62

59

72



Not set

Not set

91.8%

89.0%

86.1%



95.0%

95.0%
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Annual Performance by year

Area

Dementia

IAPT

IAPT Waiting
Times

Early Intervention
in Psychosis

Children and
Young People's
Mental Health
Services (CYPMH)

e-Referrals
Children's
Wheelchairs

Targets

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Change

2019/20
Plan

2019/20
National
Standard

The number of people on the
primary care dementia
register as a proportion of the
estimated prevalence of
dementia

66.7%

69.8%

70.8%



73.2%

66.7%

Access - the proportion of
people estimated to have
anxiety and/or depression
accessing the IAPT service

10.6%

16.7%

20.5%



17.4%

17.4%

47.6%

53.1%

58.0%



50.5%

50.0%

94.3%

99.0%

94.4%



75.0%

75.0%

99.8%

100.0%

98.1%



95.0%

95.0%

59.1%

82.1%

67.2%



59.3%

56.0%

27.2%

25.5%

35.1%



34.0%

34.0%

80.6%

96.7%

96.2%



100.0%

95.0%

50.0%

75.0%

75.0%



100.0%

95.0%

60.9%

92.3%

89.5%



100.0%

100.0%

24.0%

8.7%

50.0%

100.0%

92.0%

Measure

Recovery - the proportion of
people that have had a
minimum of two appointments
that demonstrate an
improvement in anxiety and/or
depression
Proportion of patients waiting
6 weeks from referral to
entering a course of IAPT
treatment
Proportion of patients waiting
18 weeks from referral to
entering a course of IAPT
treatment
Psychosis treated with a NICE
approved care package within
two weeks of referral
Improve access rate to
Children and Young People’s
Mental Health (CYPMH)
Services
The proportion of Children
and Young People that wait 4
weeks (routine cases) or less
from referral to start of a
NICE-approved treatment for
eating disorders
The proportion of Children
and Young People that wait 1
week (urgent cases) or less
from referral to start of a
NICE-approved treatment for
eating disorders
NHS e-Referral Service (eRS) Utilisation Coverage
Percentage of children waiting
less than 18 weeks for a
wheelchair
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Annual Performance by year

Area

SMI health checks
(New)

IAPT Workforce
(New)

Primary Care
(New)

Learning
Disabilities (LD)
(New)

Personal Health
Budgets (PHB)
(New)

Targets

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Change

2019/20
Plan

2019/20
National
Standard

-

-

12.8%



60.0% by
March
2019/20

60.0%

-

-

18

Not set

-

-

3

Not set

Proportion of the population
with access to online
consultations with a GP

-

-

75.0% by
March
2020

75.0%

Utilisation of extended access
appointment slots

-

-

82.9% by
March
2020

75.0%

Proportion of 111 callers that
can directly book extended
access appointments

-

25.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Reliance on inpatient care for
people with LD or autism

-

-

27.58

18.5

Annual health checks
delivered by GPs for patients
on the LD register

56.7%

67.4%

71.1%

75.0%

77.9%

17

11

268

230

330

Measure

People diagnosed with Severe
Mental Illness (SMI) that have
a full annual health check
Headcount of new trainee
psychological wellbeing
practitioners
Mental health therapists colocated in Primary Care
(WTE)

Total number of PHBs that
have been put in place
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Performance on social matters, respect for human rights,
anti-corruption and anti-bribery matters.
Information about the CCG’s performance on social matters and human rights can
be found in our public sector equality duty report, which is discussed later in this
report.
Counter fraud arrangements are in place in the CCG to ensure compliance with
standards set by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority. An accredited counter fraud
specialist is contracted to undertake counter fraud work proportionate to identified
risks. The CCG’s audit committee receives progress reports throughout the year and
an annual report against each of the standards for commissioners.
There is executive support and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to
address identified risks. Regular fraud related communications are shared with CCG
staff and training is available for all staff.
The local counter fraud specialist meets with the finance director and internal audit to
agree tasks to be undertaken and produce the workplan. The local counter fraud
specialist also has regular liaison with the finance director to discuss any concerns
that come to light throughout the year.
A member of the executive team (the finance director) is proactively and
demonstrably responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption.
There have been no assessments from the NHS Counter Fraud Authority but should
one occur an action plan would be taken forward following any recommendation
made.
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Sustainability
What is meant by sustainability?
Sustainability in this context is about the smart and efficient use of natural resources,
to reduce both immediate and long term social, environmental and economic risks.
The cost of all natural resources is rising and there are increasing health and
wellbeing impacts from the social, economic and environmental costs of natural
resource extraction and use. The most widely accepted definition for sustainable
development comes from the 1992 Rio Earth summit, which defines it as
“development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability
of future generations to meet their own needs.”
Summary of performance
Croydon CCG is committed to reducing its impact on the environment and moving
towards a more environmentally friendly way of working.
While the CCG does not have a sustainable development management plan (SDMP)
at present, we demonstrated commitment to reducing the impact the work we do has
on the environment. For example, staff are able to work from home to reduce the
impact of travel, and use public transport for work related travel where possible. You
can read more about the work we do to promote sustainability at work in
Wandsworth CCG within the staff report.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS,
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a
28% reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020.
Modelled carbon footprint
Most of the environmental and social impacts are through the services we
commission.
Area

Is sustainability considered?

Commissioning (environmental)

Yes

Commissioning (social impact)

Yes

Suppliers’ impact

Yes

Business cases

Yes

Travel

Yes
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Other actions to encourage environmental sustainability
Largely, the changes needed to improve environmental sustainability are the same
as those needed to improve service quality and achieve financial sustainability. This
links directly to the transformational programmes being driven across the CCG,
primary, community and secondary care in Croydon and as part of the South West
London Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STP).
By bringing care closer to the patient and by refocussing our services from
supporting those in crisis or those with the most acute health and social care needs
to supporting people to stay well for longer and to help people delay or avoid
becoming acutely unwell, we expect to reduce patient travel, to reduce the use of
high carbon-usage facilities and optimise staff journeys.
The CCG is working to optimise its estates management through including carbon
reduction within investment appraisals of new estates schemes and working closely
with partners including NHS Property Services and the Local Authority in optimising
the current property portfolio.
In addition we have implemented agile working through removing traditional deskbased computers and replacing with portable devices. This enables staff to work
from home or alternative locations when needed or appropriate. This means a
reduction in organisational and personal carbon footprint and reduced need for
printing, owing to staff being able to view documents, meeting papers etc. on
portable devices
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Moving forward together
During 2019/20 we began our journey to merge the six CCGs (Croydon, Kingston,
Merton, Richmond, Sutton and Wandsworth) across south west London to become
NHS South West London CCG from 1st April 2020. In the first half of the year we
discussed extensively the proposed merger with our GP member practices, the local
medical committee (LMCs), staff, local authorities, provider trusts, Healthwatch and
other stakeholders to design proposals that the six CCG Governing Bodies could
consider and agree. The decision to merge was approved by NHS England in
October 2019, following support of all six of our CCG Governing Bodies and GP
membership votes in favour of the proposal.
We’re pleased that the majority of our 180+ member GPs voted in favour of merger,
which was then approved by the Governing Bodies of all six CCGs.
The new NHS South West London CCG will continue to be a membership
organisation made up of our GP practices serving just under 1.5 million people
across our six diverse boroughs. South West London CCG will continue as the
statutory body for commissioning NHS services for our communities.
NHS South West London CCG will be committed to retaining our borough focus to
further support local partnerships bringing together health and care leaders to plan
services locally. A single CCG will better support this ambition by enabling NHS
organisations to collaborate, consider the needs of local communities and transform
and improve services with partners to deliver local priorities. The SWL CCG will also
play an active role as partner organisation within the South West London Health and
Care Partnership, strengthening its ability to bring partners together to work on local
issues in each borough and enabling focus on those initiatives which need
collaboration across south west London as a whole.
Each borough will have a local committee which will be a sub-committee of the SWL
CCG governing body known as the Borough Committee. It will remain clinically led
and will engage with and consider the needs of local communities through our
important relationships with local authorities, voluntary sector organisations,
Healthwatch and other partners.
The Chair of Croydon’s Borough Committee will be Dr Agnelo Fernandes, a local
GP, who will also sit on the South West London CCG Governing Body. Each
borough committee will take formal responsibility for decision making, planning and
commissioning of local community-based care. We are planning for the Borough
Committees to have delegated responsibility of NHS commissioning budgets in each
borough, based on the funding allocations for CCGs that have already been
published. At the time of writing, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, a national
decision has been taken to temporarily suspend the delegation of budgets as the
NHS responds to this crisis through a command and control system. We also will
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continue to support further development of the local partnership board which bring
together health and care partners across the borough to plan and deliver services.
As we come together, we will continue our work to ensure that we have robust
patient and public engagement at the south west London and borough level. We are
planning to strengthen our Patient and Public Engagement Steering Group (PPESG
- comprised of local Healthwatch, voluntary service (CVS) and local patient reps) to
have a key role advising on our approach to involvement. This forum will have early
sight of significant matters requiring patient and public engagement and will shape
our work to ensure that decisions are informed by local people. Two representatives
from this group (one from Healthwatch and one from the voluntary service) will sit on
the SWL CCG Governing Body as patient voices.
You can read more about the South West London Governing Body, our members
and Governing Body meetings on our website at
http://www.swlondonccg.nhs.uk/about/governance/our-governing-body/
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Patient and public engagement
We have continued to develop our engagement structure since 2013 when the CCG
first became fully responsible for planning and buying most of the healthcare
services Croydon residents use. Croydon’s ambitious and forward thinking plans are
underpinned by meaningful dialogue with local people to ensure that the local health
system both meets local needs and helps people to improve their health and
wellbeing.
During 2019/20 we focused our engagement on the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•

Moving forward together – six South West London CCGs merging to a single
governing body
Mental Health Grassroots Community and Voluntary Sector Workshops
Children and Young People Mental Health Support
Community Leadership Programme
ICN+ Localities based working with the One Croydon Alliance

Moving Forward Together
As the six south west London CCGs proposed to merge in April 2020, we worked
with local people in Croydon to make sure that patient voice remained at the heart of
a new CCG and to refresh local structures. This included two patient forums held
jointly with CHS, one in April, and again in August. We also had a public event with
Healthwatch where we took feedback on the new South West London principles for
engagement and how patient and public voice should be represented on the SWL
CCG governing body. The proposals were also discussed several times in public at
the CCG governing body meetings, Croydon Health and Wellbeing Board, Croydon
CCG and CHS meetings in common, the Croydon Scrutiny Health and Social Care
sub-committee as we iterated our plans.

ICN+ Localities based working with the One Croydon Alliance
Together with Healthwatch Croydon, we held two workshops in Thornton Heath for
local residents and seldom heard groups to find out what people thought of the One
Croydon Integrated Care Network Plus (ICN+) model. You can read more about
ICN+ elsewhere in this report.
We also commissioned Healthwatch Croydon to recruit residents to our steering
group. One Croydon engaged with Community Builders from the Community
Leadership Programme as part of a co-production approach for the Thornton Heath
ICN. In December 2019 and March 2020, engagement leads from all statutory
partners in the One Croydon Alliance met to discuss how best to efficiently join up
their work, share insights and assure engagement. This work will be carried into
2020/21 with regular meetings as we move into engaging on the ICN+ localities work
as part of the One Croydon PMO.
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Mental Health Grassroots Community and Voluntary Sector Workshop
Following significant engagement with mental health services users and the
community sector, as part of our commitment to
transform adult mental health services in Croydon, we
held a public event with the Croydon BME Forum and
other key community partners to update on progress and
test proposals for transformation. People who attended
the forums have been invited to join focus groups to
steer the delivery of this service. The presentations and
reports of the event can be seen on our website:
http://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/shapingservices/Pages/Reshaping-Mental-Health.aspx

Children and Young People: Mental health engagement
Across South West London, sadly, many children self-harm. The six South West
London CCGs have worked together to engage children, young people, parents and
teachers to identify how local services can best help to prevent young people from
self-harming and what communities, including schools and colleges can do to
prevent this in the first place. We have been speaking with children and young
people in local schools about the language they use when they talk about mental
health and co-designing localised campaigns with them. Students in a local school
helped to design a refreshed strategy for CAMHS that was easy for them to
understand which included an eye-catching cover drawn by one of the young people
involved.

Community Leadership Programme
The Community Leadership programme, funded by the CCG, supports the
recruitment, training and on-going development of a wide and diverse group of
patient representatives. The representatives ensure that the patient and public voice
is embedded internally through involvement in programme boards and steering
groups, for example. Quarterly meetings of groups representing seldom heard
populations have also been set up to create a regular dialogue between the CCG
and local community groups.

Croydon Patient Participation Group Network
Croydon benefits from a self-running Patient Participation Group (PPG) network that
has been set up by its members to help PPG representatives to share information
and good practice across Croydon. They play a very important role in assuring that
our engagement is robust and pro-active. The CCG engagement team has been
delighted to help support the network in 2019/20.

Croydon CCG Virtual Health Network
The CCG recognises that not everyone is able, or wants to, attend a public meeting
or a focus group. For some, online engagement is an effective and preferred way for
them to receive and comment on information and provide insight into local health
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services. As such, we have a virtual health network to open up alternative ways for
people to engage with the CCG. Members of the virtual network are able to give their
views and input into healthcare and decision policies. The network is administered
through a generic mailbox Croydon-Getinvolved@swlondon.nhs.uk

Patient and public engagement across south west London
We serve a large and diverse population across our six boroughs in South West
London. A focus on what matters to our communities is at the heart of our approach
to involvement. While developing services that respond to individual need, we must
make sure that we respond to overall population needs, both now and for the future.
We aim to involve people in decisions about how and what we prioritise;
understanding people’s views on the quality and effectiveness of services they
receive now, and their thoughts about the models and the range of services we will
need for the future will, at a larger scale, ensure that our commissioning activity is
informed by what matters to our communities.
We need to be flexible and steer away from a one-size fits all approach for
engagement: different methods will be valuable for different purposes, for different
groups and at different stages. Nobody knows more about how we can make things
better than the people who use our services.

Quality assurance and advice
Quality assurance is vital. We have a number of mechanisms to support good
practice engagement across our work. We run a Patient and Public Engagement
Steering Group (PPESG) comprising local Healthwatch organisations, CVSs and
CCG lay representatives. They meet regularly to oversee public and patient
engagement on the Health & Care Partnership, acting as a key strategic adviser to
the Programme Board and the communications and engagement team on these
matters. We also support the CCG PPE leads to meet as a network. Our patient and
public engagement professionals from across south west London meet on a monthly
basis to: discuss and advise on shared engagement work and challenges; progress
professional development and offer peer support. We have been meeting since
August 2018 and discussed, reviewed and refined a number of engagement
activities – drawing from local learning and practise.
We have three main strands to our engagement approach. Direct, wider and
targeted.
Direct engagement
We directly involve patient voices in our clinical work streams and decision making
bodies. We are currently reviewing this across work streams to ensure it is effective
and meaningful. Having taken advice from our PPESG and PPE Network we have
strengthened patient voice at a governance level by inviting Healthwatch and CVSs
to have a seat each. These representatives will be asked to champion patient voice
and offer critical friend challenge at the Governing Body meetings.
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Wider engagement
In terms of wider engagement we have recently established a ‘People’s Panel’ made
up of around 3,000 residents (representative of the local population) who take part in
online surveys, sharing their views and feedback about plans, services and what
matters most to them about health and care. Panel members are recruited to reflect
the makeup of our local population. We will give panel members regular feedback on
the results of surveys and how these are being used to influence developments. The
first survey was conducted in December 2019 and informed our pharmacy campaign
– supporting people to attend their local pharmacy, when relevant, rather than attend
A&E. The second survey will be canvassing opinion on our digital work stream –
finding out what people think about sharing their data across health and care
organisations.
We also hold wide scale events to inform our planning and strategies. For example,
in April 2019 we held a clinical conference which brought together almost 250 NHS
clinicians, social care professionals, voluntary sector colleagues and other partners
from across our six boroughs to design the clinical vision for South West London.
Attendees took part in breakout sessions to share their experiences and expertise on
six areas identified by the South West London Clinical Senate where we can make
the greatest difference by working together across health and social care. Attendees
shared the key challenges and opportunities they see in responding to the needs of
diverse populations in a challenging environment. Colleagues from our six local
Healthwatch organisations presented ‘what matters most’ to patients in living with
each condition or illness, sharing insights from people with experience in these six
areas. Each Healthwatch presentation was followed by a film of patients talking
about what matters most to them, to bring these discussions to life.
Targeted engagement
Sometimes we need to do specific pieces of work to shape local services – and we
tailor our approach to the needs of each project: we may run a focus group or hold
one to one interviews with people affected by a particular condition or service.
For example, as part of our children and young people trailblazer, we wanted to
ensure that children understood what services were available to them. To help
achieve this we set out to engage with young people around the language they use
to describe mental health and emotional wellbeing, in order to develop effective
communications.
Insight work with young people in all six boroughs was carried out in May and June
2019 through two rounds of focus groups, ten in total. The objective of the first
sessions was to explore how young people understand mental health, how they deal
with it and language they associate with it. Focus groups were held with year 5s,
year 8s and one session with SEND young people from Carew Academy. We asked
year 5s and SEND young people how they would define words like sad and happy,
as well as worried or stressed and asked them to describe photos depicting young
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people in a variety of scenarios. We asked year 8s much broader questions about
how they feel about the world around them and what ‘health’ and ‘mental health’
mean to them.
The application of this learning was to develop a campaign to encourage 11-18 year
olds to use an online mental health services called Kooth through schools. We used
the learning from the sessions with year 8s to develop messaging. We used the
second round of focus groups to test these messages and design propositions for
the campaign materials in the form of posters.
The sessions were facilitated by CCG communications and engagement
professionals. Giraffe, a company which specialises in marketing for young people,
designed the sessions, analysed the feedback and produced a final report which was
shared with our schools and those who shared their views. It was designed to
support children and young people to understand the findings.
We also supported our Diabetes team to bring together patient representatives and
carers who had experience of type 2 diabetes to inform the development of a new
way to approach care planning. We ran two focus groups to gather feedback and
comments on the app, the video and the preferred strapline for ‘You & Type 2’. The
focus group also acted as a platform to build up a network of patient representatives
and carers for future insight gathering and supported the development of a
campaign. People were very positive about the app, and service as a whole, and
thought it would be very helpful in supporting people when living with type 2
diabetes.
Lastly, we work closely with all our colleagues within the health and care partnership
to tap into their existing channels of engagement – through doing this we try to
ensure our activities are coordinated across the patch.
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Reducing health inequalities
Croydon CCG adopted the Equality Delivery System for the NHS (EDS) in 2011. The
EDS gives NHS organisations an opportunity to improve fairness in service
commissioning and performance evaluation for the benefit of the whole community –
patients, carers and staff. It also enhances collaboration with local stakeholders and
interest groups by enabling the analysis of service commissioning, provision and
performance, which leads to clearer identification of equality objectives and ensures
compliance with statutory equality obligations.
The EDS enables NHS Croydon CCG to meet the aims of the Equality Act 2010,
which is a legal requirement of all public organisations to take the necessary actions
to achieve:
•
•
•

Elimination of unlawful discrimination
Advancement of equality of opportunity
Fostering of good relations between individuals and communities

Croydon CCG’s constitution commits the organisation to work towards meeting the
Public Sector Equality Duties of the Equality Act 2010 and reduce health inequalities.
As commissioners of services, Croydon CCG recognises that it must account for not
only its own organisational equality performance but also that of the providers of
services that it commissions.
When making decisions about the services to be commissioned Croydon CCG
ensures that equality and diversity intelligence inform its decisions by routinely using
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and by carrying out Equality Analysis.
Croydon CCG has prepared commissioning plans, which look carefully at population
needs based on demographics, health inequalities and access to services. At the
heart of these strategies is a key objective to reduce health inequalities, improve
outcomes for patients ensuring services are accessible and responsive to patients.
Croydon CCG published its Public Sector Equality Duty report including Equality
Objectives and Action Plan in January 2020. Please click here to view the report
https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Pages/Equality-and-diversity.aspx
Some highlights of the CCG’s work to reduce health inequalities in the borough over
the year:

Redesign of the pathway for diagnosing ASD (Autism Spectrum
Disorder)
The new pathway includes a more streamlined approach to diagnosis for children
and young people (CYP) when the indicators for ASD diagnosis are very
pronounced. In 2019/20, commissioners are working with our partners in Croydon
Health Services to roll out the new pathway with the objective of reducing waiting
times for diagnosis below the 12 plus months CYP currently wait.
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Croydon Drop In (CDI) youth counselling services
Croydon CCG commissions youth counselling services from a local voluntary sector
provider, Croydon Drop In (CDI). As well as funding received from the Council and
CCG, CDI actively seeks additional funding to benefit Croydon’s CYP.
Last year CDI self-resourced a Gender Identity Conference, the first ever in Croydon,
that was co-organised with the CDI Young People’s Group and attracted over 100
attendees including representatives from major national agencies.

Equality Delivery System2 (EDS2) and implementation of Equality
Objectives 2019
The CCG implementation of EDS2 process and Equality Objectives during 2019 has
highlighted areas of good practice:
•
•
•
•

Personal Independence Co-ordinators (for over 65s) – improving health and
wellbeing of older adults.
Maternity Services - Continuity of Carer (CoC) - improving outcomes for
women from ethnic minorities and those living in deprived areas.
Improved WRES (Workforce Race Equality Standard) performance
demonstrating increased parity of experience for all staff.
Increased embedding of Equality and Diversity into the CCG’s operations

Improved Equalities and Engagement in the commissioning cycle
The Joint Impact Assessment Panel (JIAP) continued to provide a reliable and
consistent approach for assessing proposals that result in the improved quality of the
Equality Analyses undertaken by commissioners.
The national assessment of Patient and Community Engagement recognised
excellence in our Governance, Annual Reporting, Day-to-Day Practice and Equalities
& Health Inequalities work.

Proactive and Preventative Care
Our close working with the Council has actively contributed towards our goals of
reducing health inequality in Croydon. Through the Proactive and Preventative Care
programme, we have worked through the localities, and have worked with residents
to tailor services to the needs of diverse communities. We have provided a short
summary below, much more information on the programmes can be found above.
•

•

One Croydon’s Local Voluntary Partnerships – these bring the voluntary and
community sector together to encourage partnership working to support and
develop active communities that encourage social connections and reduce
isolation
Social Prescribing – long established in Croydon – this encourages GPs to
make “non-medical referrals” to local activities to improve residents’ health
and wellbeing
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•
•

•

Expert Patient Programme – a six-week community-based programme that
helps people with long-term conditions to better self-manage their health
Patient Activation Measure Evaluation Tool – a national evaluation tool for
self-management programmes to measure a person’s spectrum of
knowledge, skills and confidence in managing their health condition
Group Consultations – patients attend a consultation with a group of others
with a similar clinical condition, for example diabetes
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Health and wellbeing strategy
Representatives from across the community form Croydon’s Health and Wellbeing
Board, including CHS, SLaM, and community and voluntary sectors. The Joint
Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out the board’s vision and the long-term
improvements in people’s health and wellbeing that they want to achieve. It also sets
out priorities for action and indicators that will help measure progress. The current
Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been developed for 2018 to 2022.
The CCG works with partners to align the objectives and aims of the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy with our aims and objectives as a CCG and deliver better health
outcomes, a better experience for patients and service users and better value for
money. Many of the priorities in the strategy directly correlate to the CCG’s own.
The strategy is based on eight priorities:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

A better start in life
Strong, engaged, inclusive and well connected communities
Housing and the environment enable all people of Croydon to be healthy
Mental wellbeing and good mental health are seen as a driver of health
A strong local economy with quality, local jobs
Get more people more active, more often
A stronger focus on prevention
The right people, in the right place, at the right time

The strategy’s vision is that ‘Croydon will be a healthy and caring borough where
good health is the default not the exception and those that experience the worst
health improve their health the fastest’. The ways in which this vision will be
delivered are through:
•

•

•

Reducing Inequalities – People experiencing the worst health will improve
their health the fastest giving everyone the best opportunity to live long, happy
and healthy lives,
Focusing on prevention – We all have a role to play in preventing avoidable
physical and mental harm caused by inequality, individual characteristics,
health behaviours and environmental factors. Together we can create a better
Croydon where opportunities are maximised, all can contribute and all can
fulfil their potential, living longer, healthier lives, and
Increased Integration – With health and care services that place people, their
families, neighbours and communities at the heart of decision making, we will
provide joined up care in the best place and in the best way for them to
achieve positive outcomes. This will ensure a sustainable health and care
system for people in Croydon today and for our future generations.

Page 74 of 168

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
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Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group (Croydon CCG) is a clinically led
member organisation. This means that GPs make decisions about local health
services by using their local knowledge to improve services and focus resources
where there is greatest need. The CCG is made up of 50 GP practices and is
responsible for a budget of around £565 million. Together the GP practices have a
registered population of 406,309 patients (QOF 2017/18) The membership is
represented by a Governing Body of local GPs, a nurse representative, a secondary
care doctor and lay members, supported by a management team. Croydon CCG’s
work is overseen by an elected Governing Body which is chaired by Dr Agnelo
Fernandes, a GP at Parchmore Practice. Sarah Blow is the Accountable Officer for
South West London CCGs, including Croydon CCG. All Governing Body members
have specific areas of responsibility and sit on committees of the Governing Body.
The members exercise their constitutional rights in respect of the CCG through a
membership group. Each member practice has a representative on the membership
group.

Member practices by locality
Our member practices work across six localities – East Croydon; Mayday; New
Addington & Selsdon; Purley; Thornton Heath and Woodside & Shirley as set out
below. Since June 2019, practices have reconfigured into nine primary care
networks.

Governing Body
Croydon CCG’s Governing Body was established following independent elections for
the GP Governing Body members and an open recruitment process for the
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secondary care doctor and lay member roles. There are also representatives from
London Borough Croydon Council and Healthwatch.
Croydon CCG’s Governing Body members lead on specific areas to ensure their
knowledge and skills are effectively utilised to provide the best quality, safe care.
Our Governing Body meets in public every other month, and we encourage our
community to join us to find out about the work we’re doing. Details of public
Governing Body meetings, and meeting papers are published on the Croydon CCG
website (https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/Governing%20body/Pages/default.aspx).

Governing Body: voting members
Dr Agnelo Fernandes, GP Chair
Dr Fernandes has been a GP in Thornton Heath, Croydon for 24 years. His interests
include minor surgery, dermatology, teaching and quality improvement of health
services through innovation and transformation. He is a GP Trainer, an Educational
Supervisor of GP Trainees out of hours, a GP appraiser, a member of the Croydon
Local Medical Committee and a Governor at Royal Russell School, Croydon. He was
awarded the MBE for “services to Medicine and Healthcare” by Her Majesty the
Queen (2004) and Fellowship of the Royal College of General Practitioners (2006),
and his practice attained the highest honour of the Royal College of General
Practitioners “Quality Practice Award” (2010). In his role as the Assistant Clinical
Chair of the CCG he chairs the Urgent Care Working Group, Strategic
Transformation Board, Prevention, Self Care and Shared Decision Making steering
group, Intermediate Services Clinical Quality Review group and is a member of
Croydon’s Health and Wellbeing Board. He is also the Chair of NHS England’s panLondon NHS 111 Clinical Governance group, the National GP Lead for Urgent &
Emergency Care for the Royal College of General Practitioners (UK), and Chair of
the National Intercollegiate Clinical Governance group for NHS Pathways.

Sarah Blow, Accountable Officer
Sarah was appointed Accountable Officer for the South West London Alliance of
CCGs, taking full accountability for Kingston, Merton, Richmond and Wandsworth
Clinical Commissioning Groups in April 2017; Sutton Clinical Commissioning Group
in April 2018; and interim Accountable Officer for Croydon Clinical Commissioning
Group in October 2019. Sarah is also the Senior Responsible Officer for the South
West London Health and Care Partnership. All health and care organisations across
South West London continue to work closely together through the South West
London STP programme, known as the South West London Health and Care
Partnership, and are supported by Sarah as the lead.
Prior to her role in south west London, Sarah led Bexley CCG, as Chief Officer,
through authorisation and significant financial challenge to be a successful
organisation with a strong collaborative approach. Sarah has held numerous senior
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management roles in the NHS; leading programmes across South East London STP
and London, transformation and redesign in East Sussex and working widely across
systems to improve services and deliver sustainability including joint posts with East
Sussex County Council. Sarah has previously worked in operational roles and
strategic roles within providers and the Department of Health.
Sarah is very familiar with south west London and has been a resident in south west
London all her life, and has worked at Sutton and Merton PCT in the past. Sarah
holds an MBA, PG Dip in healthcare systems management and a BA (Hons) in
history and humanities.

Mike Sexton, Managing Director and Joint Chief Finance Officer
Mike Sexton was appointed as Chief Finance Officer on the establishment of NHS
Croydon CCG in April 2013. He is a chartered accountant having qualified in New
Zealand and in the UK. Before joining NHS Croydon CCG, Mike spent 11 years in
the role of Deputy Director of Finance at Sutton & Merton Primary Care Trust
(turnover £0.6bn).
In October 2019, Mike Sexton was appointed to the Joint Chief Financial Officer for
both NHS Croydon CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust. With NHS
Croydon CCG becoming a closer part of the NHS South West London CCG Alliance
during 2019/20, Mike Sexton has also acted as Managing Director for the CCG.
Mike holds a Bachelor of Management Studies (Waikato, New Zealand) and started
his career in the New Zealand health service.

Elaine Clancy, Joint Chief Nurse NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group
and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
Elaine believes passionately in the NHS and the delivery of high quality of care for all
having started her career as a registered general and sick children’s nurse and
specialised in A&E nursing. She has had an extensive clinical and managerial
career in various London teaching hospitals as well as community services in
Croydon. Prior to joining the CCG, Elaine was the Deputy Chief Operating Officer at
Croydon Health Services and she was responsible for the day to day operational
management of the hospital. She has a real understanding of the day to day issues
faced by our patients and services in Croydon.
In May 2019, Elaine Clancy became the first joint Governing Body and NHS Trust
appointment as the Joint Chief Nurse of Croydon Health Services NHS Trust.

Dr Les Ross, Secondary Care Doctor
Dr Leslie (Les) Ross was clinical consultant in the women’s health department at St
Helier for 25 years until retirement in October 2012, with experience in both
Obstetrics, Gynaecology, ultrasound, cancer diagnostics and subfertility /I VF and
was clinical director for 3 years. While retired from an NHS Consultant post since
the end of 2012, Les continued to undertake some private practice held duties as the
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Responsible Officer and Medical Advisory Committee chair at St Anthony's hospital
until 2014 and undertaking work as a FIPO accredited appraiser for doctors in the
independent sector.
Before joining NHS Croydon CCG in September 2019, Les served six years as a
Sutton CCG governing body member as Secondary Care representative and was
particularly involved in the quality agenda where he lent his Information Governance
expertise in holding the role of Caldicott Guardian.

Amy Page, Registered Nurse Governing Body Member
Amanda (Amy) Page brings many years of experience as a professional leader in
delivering clinical pathway redesign and major organisational improvement to ensure
patients’ experience high quality care and clinical outcomes. Her passion is driving
change in pathways to confidently know that people, especially older people, will
have a better experience when they are at their most vulnerable. Amy was
previously NHS Croydon CCG’s executive safeguarding lead and has ensured
sound governance systems and processes are in place to assure the Governing
Body and our public that our provider organisations meet their statutory
responsibilities in relation to safeguarding.

Dr Emily Symington, GP Member
A Governing Body member since 2016, Dr Symington has been closely involved with
Together for Health and Care, a cross-agency programme which looks at how
Croydon can promote proactive and preventative care. Encouraging residents to be
actively involved in their health, a key part of the programme is embedding share
decision making into all relationships between people and health and care
professionals in Croydon.
Dr Symington has also spoken nationally about her work setting up group
consultations for common long term conditions such as diabetes, which have proven
positive results in terms of patient health and patient experience.
Dr Symington is also involved in working with Croydon Health Services to improve
the quality of services provided.

Dr Mike Simmonds, GP Member
Dr Simmonds trained in Croydon in 1998 and has gone on to train GP registrars for
over 10 years. Prior to becoming a GP member of the Governing Body in 2018, Dr
Simmonds worked locally as network lead and has been an LMC representative over
the last 12 years, with an awareness of local and national issues and negotiations.
Dr Simmonds worked as cancer lead initially for the PCT then CCG then later as a
clinical leader in Paediatrics and CAMHS, and network lead.
Dr Simmonds has a focus on developing clearer lines of communication between the
CCG, hospital and GPs and on providing the highest quality patient care,

Page 79 of 168

incorporating patient and carer feedback, using his work as a trainer to help
individuals and teams work together

Dr Vaishali Shetty, GP Member
Dr Shetty’s UK medical career started in Croydon after arriving in 2006. Dr Shetty
obtained her MMBS degree in India before attaining a permanent licence with the
General Medical Council. Dr Shetty’s working as an SHO at Croydon University
Hospital and then became part of the Croydon VTS in 2010. Dr Shetty worked as a
salaried and OOH GP for 2 years and then took up the Principal position in May
2013 at Birdhurst Medical Practice. Dr Shetty was elected to the Governing Body in
2018 and holds the clinical lead portfolio for Mental Health.
Dr Shetty’s focus is to have a robust, productive and positive relationship between
CCG, GP
colleagues and other stakeholders by understanding their day to day challenges and
working collegiately to monitor delivery of high standards of care in a safe manner in
the challenging financial times facing the NHS.

Roger Eastwood, Lay Member – Governance and Conflict of Interest
Guardian
Roger Eastwood has applied his broad range of governance and risk expertise and
financial acumen across the financial and social enterprise sector in a career
spanning almost 40 years and been the director of several social housing
partnerships.
Roger has led corporations through large scale restructure of risk management
processes and has assured the governance, risk, control and assurance frameworks
of a major private bank.
Formerly the CCG Lay Member for Finance, Roger is Chair of the CCG Integrated
Governance and Audit committee and chairs the CCG’s Remuneration Committee

Philip Hogan, Lay Member – Finance
Philip Hogan has over 30 years’ experience leading transformations across a range
of financial service companies. Philip has proven experience at driving marketfacing change in a global context across in the private and public sectors.
In his other roles, Philip provides advice and Non-Executive support to organisations
seeking to grow or restructure to address transformational change, including in the
educational and not for profit sectors.
Philip brings a commercial perspective to the Governing Body and actively supports
the team through challenge, strategic guidance and advice. Philip is Chair of the
Finance Committee and of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
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Paulette Lewis, Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement
Paulette Lewis MBE has lived and worked in the Croydon health and care system for
over 30 years. Initially training as a midwife, Paulette went on to lead nursing and
midwifery teams in Croydon and across London. She has worked in community
services and primary care trusts and also has experience in working across agencies
and building relationships to break down boundaries to join up services.
Paulette was awarded European Black woman of the year award for innovation,
humanities and social enterprise in 2002 and was made a Member of the British
Empire in 2014

Governing Body: non-voting members
Matthew Kershaw
Sarah Warman
Josh Potter

Place Based Leader for Health (Croydon)
Director of Joint Commissioning
Director of Strategy & Transformation

Governing Body: Attendees
Rachel Flowers
Director of Public Health, London Borough Croydon Council
Guy Van Dichele
Executive Director Health, Wellbeing & Adults, London Borough
Croydon Council
Gordon Kay Manager, Croydon Healthwatch

The Governing Body normally meets in public six times per year. Membership
(including the personnel changes within the year) and attendance is shown in the
table below:
Name

Role

From

To

No
Meetings
Attended

March 2020

7

March 2020

0
1

Voting Members
Dr Agnelo
Fernandes
[Vacant]
Sarah Blow

Clinical Chair

June 2017

Assistant Clinical Chair
Interim Accountable Officer

Andrew Eyres

Accountable Officer

June 2017
October
2019
July 2017

Amanda Page

Registered Nurse

April 2013

Dr Leslie Ross

Secondary Care Consultant

Jonathan Norman
[Vacant]
Dr Emily Symington

Secondary Care Consultant
GP Member, Medical Director
GP Member

September
2019
April 2013
April 2019
Sept 2016
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September
2019
March 2020
(extended)
March 2020

4

June 2019

0

March 2020
(extended)

5

5
2

Name

Role

From

To

Dr Vaishali Shetty
Dr Mike Simmonds
Roger Eastwood

GP Member
GP Member
Lay Member: Governance & Conflict
of Interest Guardian
Lay Member: Finance

June 2018
June 2018
July 2018

March 2020
March 2020
March 2020

No
Meetings
Attended
7
7
6

July 2018

March 2020

6

Lay Member: Patient & Public
Involvement
Chief Finance Officer
Director of Quality and Governance
(Change of Role Title to Joint Chief
Nurse - May 2019)

Mar 2018

March 2020

5

April 2013
June 2015

March 2020
March 2020

7
7

March 2020

3

March 2020

3

July 2019
March 2020

3
1

October 2019
(Secondment)

4

Philip Hogan
Paulette Lewis
Mike Sexton
Elaine Clancy

Matthew Kershaw
Sarah Warman
Stephen Warren
Josh Potter
Martin Ellis

Rachel Flowers
Guy Van Dichele
Gordon Kay

Non-Voting Members
Place Based Leader for Health
October
(Croydon)
2019
Director of Joint Commissioning
August
2019
Director of Commissioning
May 2017
Director of Strategy &
October
Transformation
2019
Director of Primary & Out of Hospital May 2017
Care

Attendees
Director of Public Health, London Borough Croydon Council
Executive Director Health, Wellbeing & Adults, London Borough Croydon
Council
Manager, Croydon Healthwatch

The Governing Body meeting agenda, papers and minutes are available on the
CCG’s website (https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/)
The Governing Body also receives a report from the Integrated Governance and
Audit Committee Chair as appropriate. Recommendations from the Remuneration
Committee are taken to the Governing Body at its part two private meetings.

Committees of the Governing Body
The Governing Body has established several committees of the Governing Body and
these are described below. The extent of authority to act of these committees
depends on the powers delegated to them by the CCG, as set out in its scheme of
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reservation and delegation (appendix 5 of the CCG’s constitution), and in their terms
of reference.
The CCG’s scheme of reservation and delegation sets out:
•
•
•

Decisions that are reserved to the membership as a whole
Decisions delegated to the Governing Body and its committees
Decisions delegated to individual members and employees

The CCG remains accountable for all of its functions including those that it has
delegated.
In discharging their delegated responsibilities, the Governing Body and its
committees are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

Comply with the principles of good governance
Operate in accordance with the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation
Comply with the CCG’s Standing Orders
Comply with the CCG’s arrangements for discharging its statutory duties
Where appropriate, ensure that members have had the opportunity to
contribute to the CCG’s decision-making process through the membership
group

When discharging their delegated functions, the Governing Body and committees
operate in accordance with their approved terms of reference.
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee (meeting in public)
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee enables its members to make
collective decisions on the review, planning and procurement of primary care
services in Croydon under delegated authority from NHS England. The committee
acts as a sub-committee of the Governing Body.
The functions of the committee are undertaken in the context of a desire to promote
increased co-commissioning to maximise quality, efficiency, productivity and value
for money and to remove administrative barriers. The role of the committee shall be
to carry out the functions relating to the commissioning of primary medical services
under section 83 of the NHS Act.
Membership of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee includes representation
from:
•

NHS England

•

NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group Governing Body

•

Healthwatch

•

Surrey and Sussex Local Medical Committee

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met 4 times in public in 2019-20 with
two further extraordinary meetings.
Name

Role

From

To

Philip Hogan

Lay Member, Finance (Chair)

July 2018

March 2020

Roger Eastwood

Lay Member, Governance and
Conflict of Interest Guardian

July 2017

March 2020

Paulette Lewis

Lay Member: Patient & Public
Involvement

July 2017

March 2020

Dr Agnelo
Fernandes

Clinical Chair

July 2017

March 2020

Sarah Blow

Interim Accountable Officer

October 2019

March 2020

Andrew Eyres

Accountable Officer

July 2017

March 2020

Mike Sexton

Chief Finance Officer

July 2017

March 2020

Amanda Page

Registered Nurse

July 2017

March 2020

Martin Ellis

Director of Primary & Out of
Hospital Care

July 2017

October 2019
(secondment)

Voting Members

Page 84 of 168

Josh Potter

Director of Strategy &
Transformation

October 2019

March 2020

Elaine Clancy

Director of Quality and
Governance

July 2017

March 2020

Independent GP (to attend for decision making to
avoid conflict of interest) - Not Filled

Non-Voting Members
William
Cunningham-Davies

NHS England Representative

July 2017

March 2020

Leslie Ross

Secondary Care Consultant

September 2019

March 2020

Jonathan Norman

Secondary Care Consultant

July 2017

June 2019

[Vacant]

GP Member, Medical Director

Dr Emily Symington

GP Member

July 2017

March 2020

Dr Mike Simmonds

GP Member

June 2018

March 2020

Dr Vaishali Shetty

GP Member

June 2018

March 2020

Rachel Flowers

Director of Public Health
(Representative from the
Croydon Health and Wellbeing
Board)

July 2017

March 2020

Gordon Kay

Representative from Croydon
Healthwatch

May 2018

March 2020

Richard Brown

Representative from the Surrey
and Sussex Local Medical
Committee

July 2017

March 2020

Integrated Governance and Audit Committee
The Integrated Governance and Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
establishment and maintenance of an effective system of governance, risk
management and internal control, across the whole of the CCG’s activities that
support the achievement of its objectives.
The committee approves arrangements for Information Governance including
arrangements for handling Freedom of Information (FoI) requests and provides
oversight and scrutiny on arrangements for business continuity and emergency
planning.
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The Audit Committee met 5 times during 2019-20. Membership is shown overleaf:
Name

Position on IGAC

Roger Eastwood

Chair / GB Lay Member, Governance and Conflict of Interest
Guardian

Philip Hogan

Lay Member, Finance

Paulette Lewis

Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement

[Vacant]

GP Governing Body Member

Amanda Page

Registered Nurse

In attendance:
Andrew Eyres

Accountable Officer (To September 2019)

Dr Agnelo Fernandes

CCG Chair

Elaine Clancy

Director of Quality and Governance (Change of Title and
portfolio in May 2019)

Mike Sexton

Chief Finance Officer

Nick Atkinson

Internal Audit, RSM

Sarah Ironmonger

External Audit, Grant Thornton UK LLP

Mike Harling

Counter Fraud, RSM

In addition, there are a number of regular attendees including auditors and other
CCG officers.
The committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of:
•

•

•
•

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the annual
governance statement) together with any appropriate independent
assurances, prior to endorsement by the CCG
The underlying assurance processes that indicate the degree of achievement
of CCG objectives, the effectiveness of the management of principal risks and
the appropriateness of the above disclosure statements
The policies for ensuring compliance with relevant regulatory, legal and code
of conduct requirements and related reporting and self-certification
The policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption as set
out in Secretary of State Directions and as required by the NHS Counter
Fraud Authority

In carrying out this work the Audit Committee primarily utilises the work of internal
audit, external audit and other assurance functions, but is not limited to these
sources. It also seeks reports and assurances from the Accountable Officer,
executive management team and managers as appropriate focusing on the over-
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arching systems of governance, risk management and internal control, together with
indicators of their effectiveness.

Quality Committee
The committee is responsible for overseeing, understanding, reviewing and ensuring
action is taken for all issues in relation to the quality of services commissioned by the
CCG. The committee is responsible for ensuring the appropriate governance
systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor and ensure the delivery
of high quality and safe patient care in commissioned services, primary care and the
nursing home sector in line with the CCG’s vision.
The committee provides oversight and scrutiny of arrangements for supporting NHS
England in relation to securing continuous improvement in the quality for primary
medical services.
The committee also approves arrangements for handling CCG Patient Advice and
Liaison Service contacts (PALS) and complaints.
The Quality Committee held 6 meetings during 2019-20. Membership is shown
below:
Name

Position on Quality Committee

Amanda Page

Governing Body Registered Nurse (Chair)

Paulette Lewis

Lay Member

Roger Eastwood

Lay Member Governance & Conflict of Interest Guardian

Leslie Ross

Secondary Care Consultant (from September 2019) (Vice
Chair)

Jonathan Norman

Secondary Care Consultant (to June 2019)

Dr Emily Symington

GP Governing Body Member

In attendance:
Elaine Clancy

Director of Quality and Governance (change of role title to
Joint Chief Nurse from May 2019)

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is responsible for providing assurance on key financial
indicators, ensuring that the organisation is meeting its financial duties.
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The finance committee held 11 meetings during 2019-20. Membership is shown
below:
Name

Position on Finance Committee

Philip Hogan

Chair / Lay Member, Finance

[Vacant]

GP Governing Body Medical Director

Leslie Ross

Secondary Care Consultant Governing Body Member –
from September 2019

Jonathan Norman

Secondary Care Consultant Governing Body Member – to
June 2019

Dr Mike Simmonds

GP Governing Body Member – from June 2018

In attendance:
Dr Agnelo Fernandes

CCG Chair

Josh Potter

Director of Strategy & Transformation (from October 2019)

Stephen Warren

Director of Commissioning (to July 2019)

Mike Sexton

Chief Finance Officer

Martin Ellis

Director of Primary and Out of Hospital Care (to September
2019)

Senior Management Team
The Executive Management team supports the Governing Body and the Managing
Director in discharging their functions. It assists the Governing Body in its duties to
promote a comprehensive health service, reduce inequalities and promote
innovation.
The remit of the executive management team is to acquire, manage and develop the
resources, infrastructure, systems and business processes required to enable the
discharge of the CCG’s functions and the delivery of the CCG’s strategy.
During 2019-20 there were 24 meetings held. From January 2020, meetings were
held only as joint meetings with the Croydon Health Services NHS Trust Executive.
Membership is shown below:
Name

Position on Management Team

Mike Sexton

Chief Finance Officer (and Managing Director from October
2019) Chair from October 2019
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Andrew Eyres
Dr Agnelo Fernandes

Accountable Officer (to September 2019) Chair until
September 2019
Clinical Chair (GP Member representative)

[Vacant]

GP Member representative

Elaine Clancy
Sarah Warman

Director of Quality and Governance (Change of Role Title to
Joint Chief Nurse - May 2019)
Director of Joint Commissioning (from July 2019)

Stephen Warren
Josh Potter

Director of Commissioning (to July 2019)
Director of Strategy & Transformation (from October 2019)

Martin Ellis

Director of Primary & Out of Hospital Care (to September
2019)
Director of Public Health, London Borough Croydon Council

Rachel Flowers

Clinical Leadership Group
The Clinical Leadership Group fulfils the clinical leadership function of the CCG,
supporting the Governing Body and the Accountable Officer in discharging their
functions. It assists the Governing Body in its duties to promote a comprehensive
health service, reduce inequalities and promote innovation. The remit includes the
development and implementation of plans for commissioning services and in the
championing of transformational change, the development of pathways of care for
local clinical delivery, and ensuring that the group’s vision and strategy are translated
into annual priorities including the provision of a plan for local out of hospital services
which improves clinical outcomes, service quality and coherence for Croydon’s
residents.
The Clinical Leadership Group met 10 times, and membership of the group is shown
below.
Name
Dr Agnelo Fernandes
[Vacant]
Emily Symington

Mike Simmonds

Position and Portfolio/s
CCG Chair (Chair)
Medical Director
GP Governing Body
Clinical Quality
Together for Health
Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
Vice Clinical Chair (from January 2020)
GP Governing Body
Cancer
Quality
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Vaishali Shetty

Farhhan Sami

Bobby Abbot

Yinka Ajayi Obe

Karthiga Gengatharan
Shamaila Masood

Shahab Karim
Amit Abbot

Ameesh Patel
Dipti Gandhi
Dev Malhotra
Sam Randle
Kamran Khan
Josephine Sheyin
Nishal Velani

Tony Brzezicki
John French

Rachel Tunbridge

Vacant

Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
GP Governing Body
Mental Health
Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
Purley Network Lead
Cardiology
Anticoagulation
Woodside Shirley Network Lead
Ophthalmology
Mental Health
Mayday Network Lead
Maternity
Respiratory
East Croydon Network Lead (to December 2019)
Thornton Heath Deputy Network Lead
Stroke
Falls
New Addington Selsdon Deputy Network Lead
ENT
Woodside Shirley Deputy Network Lead
Neurology
Learning Disabilities
Clinical Lead – Pharmacy
Clinical Lead – Diabetes
Clinical Lead - Mental Health
Clinical Lead – IT
Clinical Lead – Education
Clinical Lead - NHS 111
Clinical Lead – EOL
Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
Clinical Lead - Planned Care
Clinical Lead – Paediatrics
Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
Clinical Lead - Care Homes
Clinical Senior Responsible Officer (CSRO) from
January 2020
Assistant Clinical Chair
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The South West London ‘Committees in Common’
The South West London Clinical Commissioning Groups have agreed the
establishment of Committees in Common (CiC) for the purpose of strategic decision
making, with particular reference to the South West London Five Year Forward Plan
or any successor strategy as agreed by the CCGs.
The role of a CiC is to take decisions on behalf of the CCGs as set out in the
Establishment Agreement. Decisions will be taken by the representatives of each
CCG on behalf of their individual CCG and will be taken only after consideration of
the issues by the CCG Governing Body and the engagement of CCG membership.
The meeting convenor (a pre-agreed SWL CCG Lay Member) chairs the meetings
on a quarterly basis.

Management of Conflicts of Interest
The CCG operates a robust policy for the management of Conflicts of Interest for
CCG members, Governing Body members, office holders, employees and
contractors working on behalf of NHS Croydon CCG. It applies to all the CCG’s
business but is particularly relevant considering the CCG’s decision to take on a role
in the co-commissioning of primary care with NHS England and in preparation for full
delegated commissioning from April 2016.

Register of interests
A summary of the Governing Body’s register of interest 2019/20 is available to view
on our website. (https://www.croydonccg.nhs.uk/about-us/Conflicts-ofInterest/Pages/default.aspx). This includes details of company directorships and
other significant interests held by members of the Governing Body.

Personal data related incidents
There has been one information governance issue relating to a data security breach
that was been reported to the Information Commissioner. A full continuing
healthcare assessment was sent to the incorrect recipient. Due to the volume and
nature of the files shared, this was reported by the CCG to the Information
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) as Croydon CCG was the data controller. On this
instance, the ICO were happy that the CCG had taken all necessary steps, so no
action was taken.

Statement of disclosures to auditors
Everyone who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•

•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their
audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.
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Modern Slavery Act
NHS Croydon CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an
annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery
Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). The Accountable
Officer for CCGs in south west London including NHS Croydon CCG is Sarah Blow.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:
•
•

•

•
•

•

The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction)
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of Accounting Officers under Managing Public
Money
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and with a view to securing continuous improvement
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, statement of financial position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:
•

•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis
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•

•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts; and
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below,
I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:
•

•

as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all
the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that
information.
the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report
and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair,
balanced and understandable.

Sarah Blow
Accountable Officer
South West London Clinical Commissioning Group
Date:18/06/2020
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Governance statement
Introduction and context
NHS Croydon CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is
arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service
in England. The CCG is required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2019, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006.
On 30th September, the substantive Accountable Officer for the CCG resigned and I
became the Interim Accountable Officer for NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning
Group from 1st October 2019. I am responsible for providing this statement that
describes the systems of internal control in place within the reporting year (2019/20)
and the actions being taken to maintain effective arrangements.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer appointment letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the Clinical
Commissioning Group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of
good governance as are relevant to it.
NHS Croydon CCG’s constitution sets out how it shall fulfil its statutory duties and
the primary governance rules for the CCG. It complies with the Act and relevant
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guidance issued by NHS England. The CCG is a clinically led membership
organisation and is accountable for exercising the statutory functions of the CCG. It
grants authority to act on its behalf to its:
•
•
•
•

Membership group
Governing Body
Employees; and
Committees of the Governing Body, namely an Integrated Governance and
Audit Committee, a Finance Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a
Quality Committee, a Committee for Collaborative Decision Making (that
meets in Common with SW London CCGs), a clinical leadership group and a
senior management team. A summary of the role of each committee can be
found in our constitution

The members exercise their constitutional rights in respect of the CCG through the
membership group which met 4 times in 2019-20. Each member practice has a
representative on the membership group.
Six clinical networks enable the membership to drive clinical commissioning at a
locality and practice level. The networks report into the clinical leadership group
(CLG). Commissioning recommendations to the Governing Body for approval
describe the comments from and engagement with the clinical leadership group.
The clinical networks met only in the first months of 2019-20. Due to the
requirement to form Primary Care Networks in May 2019, Practices did not meeting
in locality networks from June 2019. The constitutional roles of Clinical Leads were
reflected in a new Clinical Leadership model discussed through 2019 and Clinical
Senior Responsible Officers were elected in December 2019.
The CCG’s Governing Body has most statutory and business functions delegated to
it including the powers and authority to lead the CCG and set its strategic direction.
The Governing Body comprises:
•

4 GPs (one of whom is the CCG Chair)

•

An Assistant Clinical Chair (vacancy)

•

One registered nurse

•

One secondary care specialist doctor

•

Three lay members:

•

-

Finance (and Primary Care Commissioning

-

Patient and Public Involvement

-

Governance (Audit and Remuneration) and Conflicts of Interest guardian

The Accountable Officer
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•

The Chief Finance Officer

•

The Chief Nurse

•

Other CCG Executive Directors and the Place Based Leader for Health
(Croydon) as non-voting members.

•

Attendee representatives of Croydon Healthwatch and London Borough of
Croydon Council

The Governing Body is supported in delivering its functions by its committees
described within the Corporate Governance Report above.

Discharge of statutory functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained
within the corporate governance framework were developed with extensive expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal
advice also informed the matters reserved for membership group and Governing
Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 2013 Harris review, the CCG has reviewed all the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. Thus, I can confirm
that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation
of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to members of the
executive team who ensure the necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of
the CCG’s statutory duties.

UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However,
we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best
practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code
and the Corporate Governance in Central Government Departments: Code of Good
Practice 2011 (HM Treasury and Cabinet Office) that we consider to be relevant to
the CCG. These are especially reflected in this report in describing review of
Governing Body effectiveness and the CCG’s risk management arrangements.
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Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
The CCG has a robust internal control mechanism to allow it to prevent,
manage and mitigate risks. The Internal Control Framework section below
describes the governance structure of the CCG, while the risk assessment
section (described over the following pages) describes our approach to risk
management and appetite for risk, explaining the key components of the
internal control structure. Combined, these arrangements underpin the CCG’s
ability to control risk through a combination of:
▪ Prevention – the CCG’s structures, governance arrangements, policies,
procedures, and training minimise the likelihood of risks crystallising.
▪ Deterrence – staff are made aware that failure to comply with key
policies and procedures, such as the Standards of Business Conduct
Policy or the Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy, will be taken
seriously by the CCG and could lead to disciplinary action, or dismissal.
▪ Management of risk – once risks are identified the arrangements for
ongoing monitoring and reporting of progress through the Committee
structure to the Governing Body ensure appropriate action is taken to
manage risks.
The Capacity to Handle Risk section describes the range of systems and
processes in place to embed risk management more broadly in the CCG’s
activities including the requirement for equality impact assessments to
accompany papers to the Governing Body.
The CCG is fully committed to complying with the public sector equality duty
set out in the Equality Act 2010, both as an employer and a commissioner of
health services for the borough and publishes these arrangements on our
website. The Lay Member for patient and public involvement ensures the
profile of this work at the Governing Body. The Lay Member, PPI oversees
the arrangements that help the Governing Body to ensure public stakeholders
can influence the work of the CCG and therefore be involved in managing the
risks which impact on them. This is assisted by Healthwatch who attend
meetings of the Governing Body. Members of the public are also able to
attend meetings of the Governing Body and Primary Care Commissioning
Committee.
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Board assurance and risk management framework
The Board Assurance Framework (BAF) provides assurance to the Governing Body
on the delivery of its corporate objectives.
The corporate objectives are achieved through the delivery of a number of priority
programmes which are identified and risk assessed in the BAF document.
The BAF has been designed to provide assurance on the delivery and impact of the
priority programmes as well as the risks threatening delivery and therefore impact on
corporate objectives being achieved. It sets out mitigating actions for the risks and
timescales in respect of these actions being completed.
Various priority areas are managed under the CCG’s strategic objectives:
1. To commission high quality health care services that are accessible, provide
good treatment and achieve good patient outcomes
2. To reduce the amount of time people spend avoidably in hospital through
better and more integrated care in the community, outside of hospital for
physical and mental health
3. To achieve sustainable financial balance by 2019/20 and NHS business rules
of 1% surplus by 2020/21
4. To support local people and stakeholders to have a greater influence on
services we commission and support individuals to manage their care
5. To have all Croydon GP practices actively involved in commissioning services
and develop a responsive and learning commissioning organisation

Capacity to handle risk
The responsibilities of Directors and committees are set out in the CCG Constitution
and the accompanying Scheme of Delegation, as well as the governance reporting
lines. Timely and accurate information to assess risk and ensure compliance with
the CCGs statutory obligations, is submitted in line with the CCGs annual plan of
committee work. The Governing Body has rigorous oversight of the performance of
the CCG, via formal Governing Body meetings, seminars and through assurances
received from committees and audits.
The overall responsibility for the management of risk lies with the Chief Officer as
Accountable Officer. The Governing Body collectively ensures that robust systems of
internal control and management are in place. These arrangements, and the
enhancements that have been made to them during 2019/20, are described in in the
Risk Assessment section of this report.
Risk management capacity has been developed across the CCG in a number of
ways during the year. The statutory and mandatory training programme includes
numerous elements relevant to risk management, including information governance,
health and safety, fire safety, safeguarding adults and children and counter fraud.
Incident reporting systems supporting these areas are now well established.
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Governing Body and Committee reporting arrangements prompt authors to confirm
that key aspects of potential risk – financial, contractual, quality, equality and
diversity, have been considered and addressed.

Risk assessment in relation to governance, risk management and internal
control
•

•

•

•

•

•

The Integrated Governance and Audit Committee is the designated committee
responsible for oversight of the risk management process and at its quarterly
meetings reviews the full BAF and has oversight of all residual risks (after
mitigation). It evaluates the status of risks, and monitors effectiveness of the
CCG’s board assurance and risk management control systems.
At an operational level, the senior management team adds new risks and
reviews all risks to the organisation on a regular basis. Individual members of
the senior management team lead on each of the priority areas and are
ultimately accountable for their delivery
The Quality Committee focuses on high or extreme risk priority areas with a
clinical focus, and the primary care commissioning working group those
relating to primary care
The Integrated Governance and Audit Committee provides scrutiny and
independent assurance to the Governing Body on the effectiveness of the
CCG’s board assurance and risk management processes
The Governing Body reviews the content of the BAF twice a year as a means
of assessing the current level and receives summary reports on changes
through the Accountable Officer and Chair’s Joint Report in the intervening
months
All other sub committees of the Governing Body review those risks specific to
their corporate objective area and are made aware of significant changes to
the risk register at each meeting

Operational management of the BAF is provided by the CCG’s corporate affairs and
governance team. Regular meetings are held with manager leads to review progress
and performance of each of the priority areas and associated risks.
The BAF summary reflects the risk status of the CCG’s strategic risks. It identifies
the target score, the current score and any movement from the previous month. The
detail sitting within the overall BAF describes the individual programme, its outcome
measures, risks to delivery, controls in place, how the Governing Body is assured
and actions to address gaps in control or assurance including timelines for
completion.
The areas of high risk for NHS Croydon CCG are as follows:
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•
•

Risks of not delivering financial sustainability, in particular through failure to
deliver system wide efficiency programmes to the extent planned for.
Risk of failure to support staff and manage impact of changes to roles and
leadership as a result of the SWL Moving Forward together and Working
Together for a Healthier Croydon programmes.

During 2019/20, the CCG Governing Body maintained the improvements developed
over the previous year and the CCG was informed that the CCG’s Improvement
Assessment Framework (IAF) rating for Leadership had changed from Inadequate
(in 2017) to Good and Statutory Directions were lifted in September 2019.
Work has continued to manage the risks associated with delivering primary care
transformation as well as constitutional standards (core performance targets) are
described earlier in this Annual Report.
In considering the key risks to our strategic objectives, particular attention is given to
those relating to financial sustainability. This has been re-evaluated throughout the
year, using the risk management processes described previously.
In order to mitigate this risk, we have continued our strategic focus on transforming
services to make them more efficient, effective and sustainable. The actions have
included:
•

Implementing the recommendations of the 2017/18 external review of the
sustainability of the Croydon Health and Care System.

•

Continuing to build on strong partnerships with the NHS, council and voluntary
sector, with the extended One Croydon Alliance agreement to maximise the
delivery of improved outcomes for patients and residents.

•

Strict financial control and delivery of a further £23.7m QIPP in Quality,
Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) in 2019/20.

•

Improvements in cancer, mental health and A&E, urgent care and community
services, improving the health of our population.

•

Improvements in services, implementing new urgent care pathways, investing
in primary care capacity and innovative solutions to further advance pro-active
management of people with long term conditions.

•

Effectively repatriated the care of unprecedented numbers of Croydon
patients to Croydon Services supporting the new models of planned care.

The CCG views risk management as key to the successful delivery of its business
and remains committed to ensuring staff are equipped to assess, manage, escalate
and report risks. The BAF and Corporate Risk Register are currently managed using
Pentana software. This ensures a comprehensive overview of all the risks affecting
the organisation and facilitates decision making about those risks that need
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immediate treatment and those that the organisation can tolerate for a specified
amount of time.
Considering incidents and risks in this way enables such events to be graded into
one of four categories: low, medium, high, and very high. Grading in this way allows:
•
•

The appropriate level of investigation and causal analysis to be carried out
Identification of the level at which the risk will be managed, the assigning of
priorities for remedial action and determination of whether the risk will be
accepted

The CCG Risk Matrix (multiplying scores for impact and likelihood from 1-5) ranges
from 1-25. Risks scoring 15+ are not tolerated and require formal action plans
mitigating the level of risk and adding to the Corporate Risk Register that is reported
to the Governign Body. Such risks will continue managed at Director level with
oversight by the Committee relevant to the risk as well as oversight from the Audit
Committees in common.

Incident reporting
We also encourage people to report incidents and to discuss learning from these
with their line manager and within teams. Staff are encouraged to approach any
manager or HR within the organisation with any concerns, in the knowledge that and
all incidents and concerns are taken seriously. Feedback is always given to staff
following any incident reported.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and
objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood
of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
Our governance structures are used to ensure effective oversight of operational and
strategic decisions and compliance with the NHS regulatory environment. Details of
the Governing Body responsibilities and those of its committees are described
above.
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Ensuring effective risk management, financial management and compliance with
statutory duties is high on the list of our priorities. We have implemented policies,
systems and processes to reduce exposure in these areas and to ensure that we are
legally compliant. Each committee and group oversees risks and policies relating to
their area of responsibility. Clinicians and management work in partnership through
the commissioning cycle, adding value and delivering outcomes, to ensure the
procurement of quality services that are tailored to local needs and deliver
sustainable outcomes and value for money.
The CCG has established an effective organisational structure with clear lines of
authority and accountability which guards against inappropriate decision making and
delegation of authorities enabling us to meet our statutory duties and follow best
practice guidelines. Work to ensure that we promote and demonstrate the principles
and values of good governance and the review of governance related risks takes
place at Senior Management Team meetings and assurance is provided by the Audit
Committees in Common (meeting in common across SW London) to the Governing
Body with insight from Internal Audit. The Committee also ensures that, in nonfinancial and non-clinical areas that fall within the remit of its terms of reference,
appropriate standards are set and compliance with them is monitored. We have
considered the effectiveness of our governance framework and processes and
raised no significant concerns on governance related matters this year.
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the
CCG, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The
system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March
2020 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

Annual audit of Conflicts of Interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing Conflicts of Interest for CCGs
(published June 2016 and further updated in June 2017) requires CCGs to
undertake an annual internal audit of Conflicts of Interest management. To support
CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit
framework.
An internal audit review was carried out in December 2019 on the Conflicts of
Interest processes set in place within the CCG. The outcome of the review noted that
the CCG can take reasonable assurance that the controls upon which the
organisation relies to manage the identified risk(s) are suitably designed, consistently
applied and operating effectively.
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Data quality
The Governing Body regularly receive reports that cover financial, governance,
compliance, performance and quality matters for the CCG.
The data contained in the reports is subject to significant scrutiny and review, both
by management and by Governing Body committees. The quality of information
received to direct decision making is also assured through the service level
specification arrangements with the North East London Commissioning Support Unit
and the use of contractual arrangements with the commissioned providers. The
Governing Body are confident that the information they are presented with has been
through appropriate review and scrutiny, and that it continues to develop with
organisational needs.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by the Data Security and Protection Toolkit and the annual submission
process provides assurances to the Clinical Commissioning Group, other
organisations and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively.
The Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) came into force for the 2018-19
financial year and replaces the Information Governance toolkit. The DSPT toolkit is
now the recognised standard for cyber and data security within the NHS. The toolkit
requires the CCG to demonstrate compliance with ten data security standards along
with demonstrable compliance with the General Data Protection Regulations
(GDPR).
We have been working with our Information Governance expert service, NELCSU, in
respect to submission of the DSPT. The National Data Guardian (NDG) standards
have been calculated for NHS Croydon CCG based on the responses provided in
the organisation’s profile and for each of the data guardian standards, NHS Croydon
CCG gained 100% compliance with all 106 mandatory requirements and met 44 out
of 51 of the non-mandatory requirements

The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust Information
Governance systems and processes in place to protect patient and corporate
information. We have an Information Governance management framework, including
Information Governance processes and procedures in line with the DSPT. We have
ensured all staff undertake annual Information Governance training. There are
processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents. We
continue to develop information risk assessment and management procedures and a
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programme is in place to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisations against identified risks.

How we look after information securely
The Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for NHS Croydon CCG is the Chief
Finance Officer and Managing Director; he is a member of the senior management
team and attends Governing Body meetings. Prior to October 2019, the
Accountable Officer for NHS Croydon CCG was the SIRO.

Business critical models
The CCG confirms that no business- critical models have been identified that would
require information about quality assurance processes for those models to be
provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee, chaired by the Chief Analyst in the
Department of Health.

Third party assurances
During the year, the CCG has received a number of assurance reports relating to
audits performed on other organisations that provide services to the CCG. Key
reports received include the following:
(i)

Primary care administration outsourced to Capita by NHSE

(ii)
Financial ledger and services outsourced to NHS Shared Business Services
by NHSE
(iii)
Financial and Payroll services outsourced to NEL CSU by the CCG. The
services covered are as follows:
•

Payroll

•

Financial Ledger

•

Accounts Payable

•

Accounts Receivable

•

Financial Reporting

•

Treasury and Cash Management

The Service Auditor Reports were prepared accordance with the International
Standards on Assurance Engagements 3000 and 3402 (“ISAE 3000 and 3402”) and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales Technical Release AAF
01/06 (“AAF 01/06”). The reports assisted the CCG in evaluating those elements of
our control environment that are outsourced.

Control Issues
Croydon CCG has no Significant Control issues.
Type 1 A&E Performance has been severely challenged in Croydon University
Hospital (Croydon Health Services NHS Trust) through 2019-20. The CCG has an
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A&E Recovery Plan with the Trust which is monitored through the A&E Delivery
Board. The CCG supports the Trust with daily calls together with Social Care
partners. A key focus has been on improved flow through the emergency
department including work around stranded patients and integrated discharge
processes.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
The Governing Body through its meetings retains primary oversight of the
appropriateness of arrangements in pace within the organisation to exercise its
functions in an effective, economic and efficient manner. It is my role as Accountable
Officer to retain overall executive responsibility for the use of our resources.
The organisation has a number of key processes and internal mechanisms that
provide assurance that we are operating within our statutory authority:
•

•

•

•

•

•

Within our constitution there are clearly defined standards for conducting
business, Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and Delegation along with
Prime Financial Policies that ensure the effective management and protection
of assets and public funds
Key policies are in operation in respect of contract management and
procurement that ensure effective operational and financial performance
whilst ensuring we operate within regulatory frameworks and reduce the
likelihood and impact of risk
There is a clearly defined process for the consideration of business cases and
saving opportunities to ensure transparency and value for money is upheld.
The Financial Delivery Group evaluate the robustness of proposed business
cases before these are then considered by the Finance Committee
The Finance Committee and the Quality Committee are accountable for
overseeing a robust, organisation-wide system of quality, performance and
financial management.
The Finance Committee ensures that the finances of the CCG are scrutinised
to ensure budgets are managed in an appropriate and timely manner. It will
ensure that the Governing Body is fully aware of any financial risks which may
materialise throughout the year. It works alongside the Audit Committee to
ensure financial probity in the organisation.
The Finance Committee met in common on a monthly basis with the Finance,
Investment and Transformation Committee of Croydon Health Services. The
Finance Committee also met in common periodically with the other finance
committees of the CCGs in South West London.

These committees have, on behalf of the Governing Body, an overview of all aspects
of finances (including capital spend and cash management).
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Counter fraud arrangements
Counter fraud arrangements are in place in the CCG to ensure compliance with
standards set by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Standards for Commissioners:
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

An accredited counter fraud specialist is contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.
The CCG’s audit committee receives progress reports throughout the year
and an annual report against each of the standards for commissioners.
There is executive support and direction for a proportionate proactive work
plan to address identified risks.
Regular fraud related communications are shared with CCG staff and training
is delivered to all staff.
The local counter fraud specialist meets with the Chief Finance Officer and
internal audit to agree tasks to be undertaken as part of the workplan.
The local counter fraud specialist also has regular liaison with the Chief
Finance Officer to discuss any concerns that come to light throughout the
year.
A member of the executive team (Chief Finance Officer) is proactively and
demonstrably responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption.

There have been no assessments from the NHS Counter Fraud Authority but should
one occur an action plan would be taken forward following any recommendation
made.
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Head of internal audit opinion
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit
is required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work
performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk
management, control and governance processes. The opinion should contribute to
the organisation's annual governance statement.
1.1 Head of internal audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit concluded that:
“The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk
management, governance and internal control.”
1.2 Topics judged relevant for consideration as part of the annual governance
statement
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Board Assurance and Risk Management

Substantial Assurance

Provider Quality Review

Substantial Assurance

QIPP & Sustainability

Reasonable Assurance

Continuing Healthcare

Reasonable progress

Commissioning of Acute Clinical Services

Reasonable Assurance

Conflicts of Interest

Reasonable Assurance

Primary Care Commissioning

Reasonable Assurance

Other work:
Data Security Protection Toolkit

No significant issues were found

Single Ledger Project Group

Advisory

Balance Sheet Project Group

Advisory
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Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control for this year has been
informed by the work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads
within the Clinical Commissioning Group who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control framework. I have also drawn
on performance information available to me. My review is also informed by
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its
principle objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:
•

The Governing Body

•

The Quality committee

•

The Integrated Governance and Audit Committee

•

The Senior Management Team

•

Internal audit

Conclusion
Internal Audit has not identified any significant issues that need to be flagged as
significant control issues within the Annual Governance Statement
Sarah Blow

Accountable Officer
South West London CCG
Date: 18 June 2020
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Under the Government Financial Reporting Manual NHS bodies are required to
prepare a remuneration report that is published as part of their annual report and
financial accounts. This report must contain information about the remuneration of
(pay received by) senior managers.
Senior managers are defined as people in senior positions having authority or
responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the Clinical
Commissioning Group. This means those who influence the decisions of the CCG as
a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.
To ensure remuneration is in line with national guidance, current good practice and
ensures value for public money, the CCG has set up a remuneration committee.
The committee, which is accountable to the Governing Body, makes
recommendations on the remuneration, fees and other allowances for employees
and for people who provide services to the CCG. This includes advising on salaries
for the CCG’s most senior staff (known as Very Senior Managers). It would also
make recommendations on allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG
may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme.

Remuneration committee report (not subject to audit)
The NHS Croydon CCG Remuneration Committee met on four occasions during
2019/20. On one occasion the meeting took place with a meeting of the
Remuneration Committee of Croydon Health Services NHS Trust at which the
remuneration for the joint executive director appointments was considered before the
Committee recommended to the CCG Governing Body. From April 2020, the joint
Executive Director posts of the Place Based Leader for Health (Croydon), Joint Chief
Finance Officer, Joint Chief Nurse and the Joint Director of Transformation and
Strategy were appointed to.
Other matters considered during 2019-20 were the inflationary uplift to non-agenda
for change contracts, and temporary additional responsibilities premia awarded to
Directors assuming additional duties as a result of Accountable Officer changes or
changes to Director portfolios.

South West London Remuneration Committees in Common
In January 2020 the Governing Body approved terms of reference for its
Remuneration Committee to meet in Common with other CCGs in South West
London but no such meetings were called.
The South West London Remuneration Committee meets as committees in common
to agree a unanimous basis for decision making. This committees in common
provides advice and recommends decisions to each Governing Body in determining
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remuneration, fees and allowances payable to employees and other persons
providing services as well as determining allowances payable under pension
schemes established by the CCG.

Remuneration Policy
The Committee’s deliberations are carried out within the context of national pay and
remuneration guidelines, local comparability and taking account of independent
advice regarding pay structures.
No national guidance has been issued for Very Senior Manager (VSM) pay awards
for the forthcoming year. The Committee meets as frequently as is necessary to
advise the Governing Body on the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for
•

•
•

the Chief Officer (Place Based Leader for Health). Joint Chief finance Officer,
Joint Chief Nurse and Joint Director of Transformation and Strategy who are
remunerated under the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework,
Clinical and Lay Governing body members,
Clinical Leaders.

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The CCG does not have any Senior Manager Performance Related Pay.

Senior Managers’ Service contracts
Each of the senior managers listed below have substantive contracts, which can be
terminated by either party by giving 3-6 months written notice (see table below for
each member’s notice period). Remuneration of the Very Senior Managers is
governed by a national framework which is reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee annually. The CCG can request that the senior manager either works his
or her notice period or be paid an amount in lieu of notice.
Termination arrangements are applied in accordance with statutory regulations as
modified by national NHS conditions of service agreements (specified in Whitley
Council/Agenda for Change), and the NHS pension scheme. Specific termination
arrangements will vary according to age, length of service and salary levels. The
Remuneration Committee will agree any severance arrangements.
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Senior Manager

Andrew Eyres
Sarah Blow
Matthew
Kershaw
Mike Sexton
Mike Sexton
Stephen Warren
Sarah Warman
Elaine Clancy
Elaine Clancy
Martin Ellis

Josh Potter

Role
Accountable
Officer
Accountable
Officer
Joint Place Based
Leader for Health*
Chief Finance
Officer
Joint Chief Finance
Officer*
Director of
Commissioning
Director of Joint
Commissioning
Director of Quality
& Governance
Joint Chief Nurse*
Director of Primary
and Out of Hospital
Care
Joint Director of
Strategy and
Transformation*

Date member
left
organisation or
changed role
Resigned 30
September 2019

Contract Date

Notice
Period

01 July 2017

6 Months

01 October 2019

6 Months

31 March 2020

01 October 2019

3 Months

New Role

01 April 2013

6 Months

31 October 2019

01 November
2019

3 Months

New Role

01 April 2013

3 Months

Retired 31 July
2019

01 August 2019

N/A

31 March 2020

01 June 2015

3 Months

30 April 2019

01 May 2019

3 Months

New Role

01 June 2017

3 Months

Resigned 31
March 2020

18 November
2019

3 Months

New Role

NHS Croydon CCG ceased to exist after 31 March 2020 due to its merger with the five
other CCGs in South West London to become South West London CCG.
*Joint roles continue with Croydon Health Services NHS Trust and employed by
Croydon Health Services NHS Trust.
None of the service contracts for Senior Managers make any provision for early
termination compensation outside of the national pay and remuneration guidelines or
NHS Pension Scheme Regulations.

Office Holders Remuneration
Clinical and lay members of the Governing Body, and Clinical Network Leaders are
office holders and do not have service contracts. They are appointed by the CCG for
a set period and at rates agreed by the Remuneration Committee. Travel and
subsistence fees (where incurred in respect of official business) are paid in
accordance with national Agenda for Change rates.
For GPs only, the Governing Body and Clinical Network Leader roles are
pensionable under the NHS Pension Scheme. For all other office holders, the
remuneration is not pensionable.
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Member

Role

Contract Date

Date member left
organisation or
changed role

Governing Body Members
Dr Agnelo Fernandes
Dr Emily Symington
Philip Hogan
Paulette Lewis
Roger Eastwood
Amanda Page
Dr Jonathan Norman
Dr Michael Simmonds
Dr Vaishali Shetty
Dr Leslie Ross

Clinical Chair
GP Governing Body
Member & Medical
Director
Lay Member, Finance
Lay Member, Patient &
Public Involvement (PPI)
Lay Member, Governance
& Conflict of Interest
Guardian
Registered Nurse
Secondary Care Doctor
GP Governing Body
Member
GP Governing Body
Member
Secondary Care Doctor

01 July 2017

31 March 2020

01 September 2016

31 March 2020

01 July 2018

31 March 2020

01 March 2018

31 March 2020

01 July 2018

31 March 2020

01 December 2016
01 December 2016

31 March 2020
30 June 2019

01 June 2018

31 March 2020

01 June 2018

31 March 2020

01 October 2019

31 March 2020

Clinical Network Leaders
Dr Bobby Abbott

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Yinka Ajayi-Obe

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Karthiga
Gengatharan

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Michael Simmonds

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Farhan Sami

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Emily Symington

Clinical Network Leader

01 July 2017

Dr Rachel Tunbridge
Dr Nishal Velani
Dr John French

Clinical Senior
Responsible Officer
Clinical Senior
Responsible Officer
Clinical Senior
Responsible Officer

02 January 2020
02 January 2020
02 January 2020
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Ended 31 March 2020
due to merger
Resigned 30 Jun
2019
Resigned 30 Sept
2019
Resigned 31 Mar
2020
Resigned 31 Jan
2020
Resigned 31 Jan
2020
Ended 31 March 2020
due to merger
Ended 31 March 2020
due to merger
Ended 31 March 2020
due to merger

Table A – Senior Manager Remuneration from CCG (including salary and pension entitlements) – Audited
2019-20
(a)

Name

Title

(b)

(c)

(d)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

To nearest
£100

(bands of
£5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

(e)

(f)

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL (a to e)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS
Andrew Eyres

Accountable Officer (to 30 Sept 2019)

35-40

35-40

Michael Sexton

Joint Chief Finance Officer

105-110

105-110

Stephen Warren

Director of Commissioning

35-40

35-40

Elaine Clancy

Joint Chief Nurse

70-75

70-75

Martin Ellis

Director of Primary and Out of Hospital Care
(to 30 Sept 2019)

65-70

Matthew Kershaw

Joint Place Based Leader for Health

55-60

Josh Potter

Joint Director of Strategy and
Transformation

20-25

20-25

Sarah Warman

Director of Joint Commissioning

60-65

60-65

Dr Agnelo Fernandes

Clinical Chair

90-95

90-95

Dr Emily Symington

Governing Body GP Member

25-30

25-30

10-15

10-15

5-10

5-10

10-15

10-15

10-15

10-15

Philip Hogan
Paulette Lewis
Roger Eastwood

Lay Member, Chair of Finance & Primary
Care Committee
Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement
(PPI)
Lay Member, Governance & Conflict of
Interest Guardian

27.5-30
5 -10

90-95
60-65

Amanda Page

Registered Nurse, Lay Member

Dr Jonathan Norman

Secondary Care Consultant

0-5

0-5

Dr Mike Simmonds

Governing Body GP Member

25-30

25-30

Dr Vaishali Shetty

Governing Body GP Member

25-30

25-30

Dr Leslie Ross

Secondary Care Consultant

5-10

5-10
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2019-20
(a)

Name

Title

(b)

(c)

(d)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

To nearest
£100

(bands of
£5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

(e)

(f)

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL (a to e)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

CLINICAL LEADERS
Dr Bobby Abbott

Clinical Network Leader

20-25

20-25

Dr Yinka Ajayi-Obe

Clinical Network Leader

5-10

5-10

Dr Karthiga Gengatharan

Clinical Network Leader

5-10

5-10

Dr Mike Simmonds

Clinical Network Leader

5-10

5-10

Dr Farhan Sami

Clinical Network Leader

20-25

20-25

Dr Emily Symington

Clinical Network Leader

10-15

10-15

Dr Rachel Tunbridge

Clinical Senior Responsible Officer

20-25

20-25

Dr Nishal Velani

Clinical Senior Responsible Officer

5-10

5-10

Dr John French

Clinical Senior Responsible Officer

5-10

5-10

As Lay Governing Body members and Clinical Leaders do not receive pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in
respect of pensions for Lay Governing Body members and Clinical Leaders.

Page 115 of 168

Sharing Arrangements:
The following governing body members have roles with other organisations:
Sarah Blow is the Accountable Officer for South West London Alliance and is on Wandsworth CCG’s payroll Sarah took over
from Andrew Eyres on 1 October 2019. Her total salary is in the range £145k-£150k. Croydon CCG did not contribute to Sarah
Blow's salary in 2019/20.
50% of Matthew Kershaw's salary is recharged from Croydon Health Services NHS Trust. Matthew took up the role of Joint Place
Based Leader for Health from 1 October 2019. His total remuneration is shown below for completeness.
50% of Andrew Eyres' salary is recharged from Lambeth CCG. Andrew resigned on 30 September 2019. His total remuneration
is shown below for completeness.
50% of Mike Sextons' salary is recharged from Croydon Health Services NHS Trust. Mike took up the Joint Chief Finance Officer
post from 1 November 2019. His total remuneration is shown below for completeness.
50% of Elaine Clancy's salary is recharged from Croydon Health Services NHS Trust. Elaine took up the Joint Chief Nurse post
from 1 May 2019. Her total remuneration is shown below for completeness.
50% of Josh Potter's salary is recharged from Croydon Health Services NHS Trust. Josh took up the role of Joint Director of
Strategy & Transformation from 18 November 2019. Josh transferred from Wandsworth CCG on that date. His total remuneration
is shown below for completeness.
50% of Sarah Warman's salary is recharged from Croydon Council. Sarah took up the role of Director of Joint Commissioning
from 1 August 2019.Her total remuneration is shown below for completeness.
100 % of Martin Ellis’ salary was recharged to Kingston CCG from 4 November 2019. Martin took up the role of Interim Director
of Transformation at Kingston and Richmond CCGs and his total remuneration is shown below for completeness. Martin resigned
on 31 March 2020.
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Table A - Senior Manager Total Remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) – Audited
2019-20

Name

Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

to nearest
£100
£
100

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(bands of £5,000)

Andrew Eyres

Accountable Officer

£000
105-110

Michael Sexton

Joint Chief Finance Officer

135-140

Elaine Clancy

Joint Chief Nurse
Director of Primary and Out of
Hospital Care
Joint Director of Strategy and
Transformation

130-135

Matthew Kershaw

Joint Place Based Leader for Health

215-220

Sarah Warman

Director of Joint Commissioning

115-120

Martin Ellis
Josh Potter

(d)
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(e)

(f)

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL (a to
e)

(bands of
£2,500)
£000
57.5-60

(bands of
£5,000)
£000
160-165

70-72.5

205-210
130-135

110-115

27.5-30

140-145

110-115

25.5-27

135-140

10-15

230-235
115-120

Column (f) above includes an amount in respect of the increase in pension entitlements (column (e)) of each senior officer. It
compares the projected pension and lump sum at the end of the financial year with the equivalent figures at the start of the year,
adjusted for inflation and deducting employees’ pension contributions. The pension element of the calculation assumes that the
individual will receive a pension for a twenty-year period. The figures for ‘all pension-related benefits (e)’ do not constitute a charge
to the Trust’s Statement of Comprehensive Income or a taxable benefit for the directors. The CCG’s contribution to directors’
pensions was 20.6% of salary for 2019-20 (14.3% in 2018-19).
In summary, the figures calculated in the “All pension related benefits” column take into account several factors, the principal one
being the total maximum income that the person would receive covering the following 20-year period if they retired at the end of the
financial year in question.
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The total includes the annual increase in cumulative pension entitlement, and not the total payments made to senior managers
during the financial year.
The table below gives the equivalent information for 2018/19.

Table A - Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) Audited
2018/19

Name and Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL

to nearest
£100

(bands of
£5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

(a to e)

GOVERNING BODY MEMBERS
Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer*

65-70

65-70

Michael Sexton, Chief Finance Officer

120-125

82.5-85

205-210

Stephen Warren, Director of Commissioning

105-110

5-7.5

110-115

Elaine Clancy, Director of Quality & Governance

110-115

62.5-65

170-175

Martin Ellis, Director of Primary and Out of Hospital Care

100-105

60-62.5

165-170

Dr Agnelo Fernandes, Clinical Chair

90-95

90-95

Dr Tom Chan, Medical Director

55-60

55-60

Dr Emily Symington, Governing Body GP Member

30-35

30-35

Philip Hogan, Lay Member, Finance

10-15

10-15
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2018/19

Name and Title

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL

to nearest
£100

(bands of
£5,000)

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses (bands
of £5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

(a to e)

Paulette Lewis, Lay Member, Patient & Public Involvement (PPI)

5-10

5-10

Roger Eastwood, Lay Member, Governance & Conflict of Interest
Guardian

10-15

10-15

Amanda Page, Registered Nurse, Lay Member

10-15

10-15

Dr Jonathan Norman, Secondary Care Consultant

10-15

10-15

Dr Mike Simmonds, Governing Body GP Member

25-30

25-30

Dr Vaishali Shetty, Governing Body GP Member

20-25

20-25

Dr Bobby Abbott, Clinical Network Leader

20-25

20-25

Dr Yinka Ajayi-Obe, Clinical Network Leader

25-30

25-30

Dr Karthiga Gengatharan, Clinical Network Leader

15-20

15-20

Dr Mike Simmonds, Clinical Network Leader

20-25

20-25

Dr Farhan Sami, Clinical Network Leader

20-25

20-25

Dr Emily Symington, GP Governing Body Member

5-10

5-10

CLINICAL LEADERS
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*50% of Andrew Eyres’ salary is recharged from Lambeth CCG. The disclosure in Lambeth CCG’s Annual Report is shown below
for completeness.
2018-19

Name

Andrew Eyres

Title

Accountable Officer

(a)

(b)

(c)

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable)

Performance
pay and
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

To nearest
£100
£

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(d)
Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

65-70

(e)

(f)

All pensionrelated
benefits

TOTAL (a to
e)

(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

12.5 - 15

80 - 85

Table B – CCG Pension Benefits as at 31 March 2020 – (Audited)

Name and title

Martin Ellis, Director of Primary and Out of
Hospital Care

(a)
Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2020 (bands
of £5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension
at 31 March
2020 (bands of
£5,000)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2019

(f)
Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2020

(h)
Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

15-20

15-20

225

18

264

-
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The pension benefits for the other senior managers who are not on the CCG’s payroll, cannot be split between the roles of
employers and their full pension benefits are disclosed in the payroll organisations’ Remuneration Reports.
These disclosures are shown below for completeness.

Table B – Senior Managers – All Pension Benefits at 31 March 2020

Name and title

Michael Sexton, Joint Chief Finance Officer
(transferred to CHS 1 Nov 2019)
Elaine Clancy, Joint Chief Nurse (transferred to
CHS 1 May 2019)
Josh Potter, Joint Director of Strategy and
Transformation
Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer (Left 30 Sept
2019)
Sarah Warman, Director of Joint Commissioning
(from 1st August 2019)

(a)
Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2020 (bands
of £5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension
at 31 March
2020 (bands of
£5,000)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2019

(f)
Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2020

(h)
Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0

40-45

90-95

678

56

771

-

0

0

35-40

95-100

655

0

677

-

0

0

20-25

35-40

222

7

250

-

2.5-5

2.5-5

60-65

170-175

1,242

70

1,364

-

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
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The table below gives the equivalent information for 2018/19

Table B – CCG Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019 - Audited
(a)
Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real
increase
in
pension
lump sum
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March
2019
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2019 (bands
of £5,000)

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer Value
at 1 April 2018

(f)
Real increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer Value

(g)
Cash Equivalent
Transfer Value
at 31 March
2019

(h)
Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Michael Sexton, Chief Finance Officer

2.5-5

5-7.5

35-40

85-90

530

131

678

-

Stephen Warren, Director of
Commissioning

0-2.5

2.5-5

45-50

140-145

1,006

102

1123

-

Elaine Clancy, Director of Quality &
Governance

2.5-5

7.5-10

30-35

95-100

544

95

655

-

Martin Ellis, Director of Primary and
Out of Hospital Care

2.5-5

2.5-5

10-15

15-20

178

33

225

-

Name and title

Andrew Eyres, Accountable Officer

* 50% of Andrew Eyres’ salary is recharged from Lambeth CCG.
The Pension benefits cannot be split between the roles of employers. The disclosure in Lambeth CCG’s Remuneration Report is
shown below for Andrew Eyres’ full Pension benefits as at 31 March 2019:
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Name and
Title

Andrew Eyres

(a)

(b)

(c)

Real increase in
pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension lump
sum at pension
age (bands of
£2,500)

Total accrued
pension at
pension age at
31 March 2019
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

2.5 - 5

0 - 2.5

50 - 55

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at 31
March 2019
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer Value
at 1 April 2018

Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2019

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

160 - 165

1,089

142

1,242

-
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Cash equivalent transfer values (Audited)
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other
allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued because
of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior
capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme.

GP and Executive Director Expenses
Governors and Directors are entitled to claim for certain expenses incurred whilst
undertaking their role at the CCG, under the rates payable to staff employed on the
Agenda for Change terms and conditions.
One Director claimed £117 for travel expenses in 2019/20. No other senior
managers received payments for expenses.

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office
There were no payments for compensation on early retirement or loss of office.

Payments to past members
There have been no payments to past members.

Pay multiples (Audited)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
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The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the financial year 2019/20
was £125-130k (2018/19: £120-125k). This was 2.9 times (2018/19: 2.9) the median
remuneration of the workforce, which was £44k (2018/19: £43k).
In 2019/20, no employees received remuneration more than the highest-paid
director. Remuneration ranged from £14k to £127k (2018/19: £11k to £123k)
For the purpose of the comparison, total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.
It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions.
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Staff Report
Staff numbers and costs (audited)
Employee Benefits
2019/20

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension
Scheme
Apprenticeship Levy

TOTAL

ADMIN

PROGRAMME

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

6,276

2,136

8,412

2,484

489

489

712

712

-

9

726

3,210

3,792

200

200

289

289

421

421

291

291

9

9

1,410

5,202

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

7,476

2,136

9,622

3,105

735

3,840

4,372

1,410

5,782

Net employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs

7,476

2,136

9,622

3,105

735

3,840

4,372

1,410

5,782

Employee Benefits
2018/19

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension
Scheme
Apprenticeship Levy

TOTAL

ADMIN

PROGRAMME

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

4,989

2,719

7,708

2,101

497

497

528
10

756

2,857

2,888

1,963

4,851

198

198

299

299

528

211

211

317

317

10

10

10

Gross Employee Benefits Expenditure

6,024

2,719

8,743

2,520

756

3,276

3,504

1,963

5,467

Net employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs

6,024

2,719

8,743

2,520

756

3,276

3,504

1,963

5,467
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Average number of people employed
2019/20

2018/19

Total

Permanently
employed

Other

Total

Number

Number

Number

Number

98

78

20

105

Permanent
19
54
2

Other

Staff group
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Administration and estates
Medical and Dental
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting
learners
Total

3
78

20

20

Sickness absence data
Sickness absence data can be found at the following link:
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates

Staff policies
Disabled employees are protected under the "protected characteristics" of the
Equality Act 2010, one of which is disability. The CCG’s Equality & Diversity Strategy
supports the CCG in ensuring that the requirements and reasonable adjustments
necessary for employees with disabilities are considered during their employment
and that people with disabilities are not discriminated against on the ground of their
disability at any stage of the recruitment process or in their employment with the
CCG.
The CCG's Sickness Absence Policy confirms that where an employee becomes
disabled as a result of sickness, the CCG will make any necessary reasonable
adjustments, as required, and in accordance with the Equality Act to enable the
employee to return to work. The types of adjustments may include adjustments to
work base, working hours, redeploying the employee to another suitable position and
providing any necessary equipment to assist the employee to perform their role.

Equalities for Staff
The CCG’s Equality & Diversity Strategy supports the promotion of a working
environment in which all parties and procedures relating to recruitment, selection,
training, promotion and employment are free from unfair discrimination, ensuring that
no employee or prospective employee is discriminated against, whether directly or
indirectly on the grounds of age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and
maternity; race including ethnic or national origins, colour or nationality; religion or
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belief; sex (gender); sexual orientation; marriage and civil partnership; trade union
membership; responsibility for dependents or any other condition or requirement
which cannot be shown to be justifiable.

Expenditure on consultancy
The CCG spent £10,000 (2018/19, £107,000) on consultancy fees in the financial
year. Last year the costs were mainly in respect of advice on integration.

Off-payroll engagements
Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
There were no off-payroll engagements during the year
Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
For any off-payroll engagements of senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, between 01 April 2019 and 31 March 2020.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or
senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during
the financial year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have
been deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year.
This figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll
engagements.

0

19

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (Audited)
Special payments: There were no departures where special payments were made.
Contractual Payments: There were no agreed departure payments in lieu of notice
paid under standard NHS terms and conditions during 2019/20 (2018-19 - £Nil).

Sarah Blow
Accountable Officer

Date:18/06/2020
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Croydon CCG staff breakdown
This information is correct as at 31 March 2020

Gender
Clinical
Lead

Governing
Body

Local Salary

Lay Member

Employee

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

Female

Male

4

8

1

2

3

3

1

2

48

23

Total

Gender

Female

Band
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
VSM
Local Salary

Headcount
0
0
1
2
7
6
17
8
3
3
1
0
8

FTE
0.00
0.00
1.00
1.80
7.00
5.45
15.03
6.42
2.30
3.00
1.00
0.00
1.23

Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
VSM
Local Salary

56
0
0
0
0
0
3
8
1
9
1
1
0
14
37

44.23
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
3.00
7.80
1.00
9.00
1.00
1.00
0.00
2.22
25.02

Female
Total

Male

Male Total

Gender
Female
Male
Grand Total

Headcount Percentage
48
67.61%
23
32.39%
71
100%
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Grand
Total
93

FTE
43.00
22.80
65.80

Gender

32%
Female
Male

68%

Full and part time staff
Employee Category
Full Time
Part Time
Grand Total

Headcount
55
38
93

FTE
55.00
14.35
69.35

Disability
Disability
No
Not Declared
Prefer Not To Answer
Yes
Grand Total

Headcount Percentage
61
85.92%
5
7.04%
3
4.23%
2
2.82%
71
100%
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FTE
56.28
5.00
2.52
2.00
65.80

Disability
100.00%
90.00%
80.00%
70.00%

60.00%
50.00%
40.00%
30.00%
20.00%
10.00%
0.00%
No

Not Declared

Prefer Not To Answer

Yes

Ethnic Origin
Ethnic Origin
A White - British
C White - Any other White background
CB White Scottish
E Mixed - White & Black African
F Mixed - White & Asian
G Mixed - Any other mixed background
H Asian or Asian British - Indian
J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi
L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian background
LK Asian Unspecified
M Black or Black British - Caribbean
N Black or Black British - African
PE Black Unspecified
R Chinese
S Any Other Ethnic Group
Z Not Stated
Grand Total
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Headcount Percentage
21
29.58%
8
11.27%
1
1.41%
1
1.41%
1
1.41%
2
2.82%
8
11.27%
1
1.41%
1
1.41%
1
1.41%
1
1.41%
7
9.86%
6
8.45%
1
1.41%
3
4.23%
1
1.41%
7
9.86%
71
100%

FTE
18.95
8.00
1.00
0.80
1.00
2.00
7.43
1.00
0.60
1.00
1.00
5.90
6.00
1.00
3.00
1.00
6.12
65.80

Ethnic Origin

A White - British

C White - Any other White background

CB White Scottish

E Mixed - White & Black African
S Any Other Ethnic
Group, 1.41%

F Mixed - White & Asian

R Chinese, 4.23%

PE Black Unspecified,
1.41%

G Mixed - Any other mixed background

Z Not Stated,
9.86%

H Asian or Asian British - Indian

J Asian or Asian British - Pakistani
N Black or Black
British - African,
8.45%
LK Asian
Unspecified,
1.41%

A White - British,
29.58%

L Asian or Asian British - Any other Asian
background

M Black or Black
British - Caribbean,
9.86%

L Asian or Asian
British - Any other
Asian background,
1.41%
J Asian or Asian British
- Pakistani, 1.41%

K Asian or Asian British
- Bangladeshi, 1.41%

K Asian or Asian British - Bangladeshi

C White - Any other
White background,
11.27%

CB White Scottish,
1.41%
E Mixed - White & Black
African, 1.41%
F Mixed - White &
Asian, 1.41%

H Asian or
Asian British G Mixed - Any other
Indian,
mixed background,
11.27%
2.82%

LK Asian Unspecified

M Black or Black British - Caribbean

N Black or Black British - African

PE Black Unspecified

R Chinese

S Any Other Ethnic Group

Z Not Stated

Page 132 of 168

Sexual Orientation
Sexual Orientation
Gay or Lesbian
Heterosexual or Straight
Not stated (person asked but declined to provide a
response)
Grand Total

Headcount Percentage
2
2.82%
57
80.28%
12
71

16.90%
100%

FTE
2.00
53.08
10.72
65.80

Sexual Orientation
16.90%
NOT STATED (PERSON ASKED BUT DECLINED TO
PROVIDE A RESPONSE)

80.28%
HETEROSEXUAL OR STRAIGHT

2.82%
GAY OR LESBIAN
0.00%10.00%20.00%30.00%40.00%50.00%60.00%70.00%80.00%90.00%

Religious Belief
Religious Belief
Atheism
Christianity
Hinduism
I do not wish to disclose my religion/belief
Islam
Judaism
Other
Grand Total
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Headcount Percentage
9
12.68%
27
38.03%
7
9.86%
19
26.76%
2
2.82%
1
1.41%
6
8.45%
71
100%

FTE
8.85
24.60
6.63
17.32
2.00
1.00
5.40
65.80

Religious Belief
1.41%
2.82%

Atheism
8.45%

12.68%

Christianity

26.76%

Hinduism
38.03%

I do not wish to disclose my
religion/belief
Islam

9.86%

Judaism
Other

Age Range
Age Band
26-30
31-35
36-40
41-45
46-50
51-55
56-60
61-65
Grand Total

Headcount Percentage
4
5.63%
13
18.31%
12
16.90%
12
16.90%
11
15.49%
9
12.68%
7
9.86%
3
4.23%
71
100%
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FTE
4
12.8
11.3
11.4
9.7
8.00026
6.4
2.2
65.80

41-45

26-30

4.23%

5.63%

9.86%

12.68%

16.90%

36-40

15.49%

16.90%

18.31%

Age band

31-35

46-50

Page 135 of 168

51-55

56-60

61-65

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Croydon CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and
Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special
payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial
Statements of this report at. An audit certificate and report is also included in this
Annual Report.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of the Governing Body of NHS South West London
Clinical Commissioning Group in respect of NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Croydon Clinical Commissioning Group (the ‘CCG’) for the
year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash
Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted
by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
- give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its
expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
- have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020; and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the
CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The impact of macro-economic uncertainties on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires us to obtain an understanding of all relevant uncertainties,
including those arising as a consequence of the effects of macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19
and Brexit. All audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates made by the Accountable
Officer and the related disclosures and the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the
financial statements. All of these depend on assessments of the future economic environment and the
CCG’s future operational arrangements.
Covid-19 and Brexit are amongst the most significant economic events currently faced by the UK, and at the
date of this report their effects are subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty, with the full range of
possible outcomes and their impacts unknown. We applied a standardised firm-wide approach in response
to these uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future operational arrangements. However, no audit
should be expected to predict the unknowable factors or all possible future implications for an entity
associated with these particular events.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
- the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or
- the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.
In our evaluation of the Accountable Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out
within the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 that the CCG’s
financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the risks associated with the
CCG’s operating activities, including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as Covid-19
and Brexit. We analysed how those risks might affect the CCG’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over the period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue. In accordance with the above, we have nothing to report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the CCG will
continue in operation.
Emphasis of matter – Demise of the organisation
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not modified, we draw attention to note 18 in the
financial statements, which indicates that NHS Croydon CCG merged with the other five CCGs to become
NHS South West London CCG with effect from 1 April 2019.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
the other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the
Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the NHS Commissioning Board or is
misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to
consider whether the Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily
addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
- the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, and
- based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our
knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information
published together with the financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions in the financial
statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
- we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
- we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
- we make a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities, the Accountable Officer, is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the
Accounts Directions, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless they have been informed by the relevant national body of the
intention to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements.
The NHS South West London CCG Audit Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged
with Governance are responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part
of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in the financial
statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have not been able to
satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where we have not been able to satisfy
ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
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We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to
whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local
people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020,
and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we
undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG has put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Croydon CCG in accordance
with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in accordance with
Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Sarah Ironmonger, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor
London
25 June 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020

Note

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Total operating income

2

(1,675)
(1,675)

(1,813)
(1,813)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

9,622
589,631
170
(49)
228
599,602

8,742
557,288
170
338
566,538

597,927

564,725

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

The notes on pages 147 to 168 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020
2019-20

2018-19

Note

£'000

£'000

9

131
131

301
301

10
11

4,916
109
5,025

5,088
204
5,292

5,156

5,593

(37,655)
-

(50,394)
(49)

Total current liabilities

(37,655)

(50,443)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities

(32,499)

(44,850)

Assets less Liabilities

(32,499)

(44,850)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund

(32,499)

(44,850)

Total taxpayers' equity:

(32,499)

(44,850)

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

12
13

The notes on pages 147 to 168 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 143 to 146 were approved by the South West London CCG Governing Body on
18 June 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Chief Accountable Officer
Sarah Blow
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019

(44,850)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(597,927)

Net funding

610,278

Balance at 31 March 2020

(32,499)

General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 01 April 2018

(41,752)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(564,725)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

561,627
(44,850)

The notes on pages 147 to 168 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

(597,927)
170
172
(12,739)
(49)

(564,725)
170
2,622
90
0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

(610,373)

(561,843)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

610,278
610,278

561,627
561,627

(95)

(216)

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

204

420

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

109

204

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

5
10
12
13

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

The notes on pages 147 to 168 form part of this statement
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Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM),
which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the DHSC Group Accounting Manual 2019-20, issued by the Department of
Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as determined by
HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the DHSC Group
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a
true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Going concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. Public sector bodies are assumed to be
going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced
by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
The following is clear evidence that it is appropriate for Croydon CCG to prepare its annual accounts on a
going concern basis:
- Croydon CCG was established on 1 April 2013 as a separate statutory body.
- Croydon CCG has agreed, and is operating to, its constitution to govern its activities.
- Croydon CCG has been allocated funds from NHSE for 2020/21. In addition, the CCG
has also been notified (January 2019) of indicative allocations from 2021/22 to 2023/24
(3 years further funding in total).
- The CCG is forecasting a surplus of £5.6m for 2020/21 and a surplus of £5.8m in
2021/22
- Detailed financial plans for 2020/21 have been submitted to the Governing Body (29
April 2020) and NHSE (5 March 2020).
Whilst Croydon CCG ceased to exist from 1 April 2020, the services of Croydon CCG have transferred to
South West London CCG from that same date. Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it
considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public
sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis.
With both continuity of service and future financial provision assured, the Croydon CCG financial statements
have been prepared on the going concern basis.
The temporary suspension of the NHS financial regime from 17 March 2020 as part of the COVID-19
response, does not undermine either the continuity of services or financial provision judgement.
1.2 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and certain financial assets and financial
liabilities.
1.3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make various judgements,
estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
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1.3.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, Apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the CCGs accounting policies, there are no judgements that have a
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
1.3.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year:
- Estimate of acute contract over-performance for the year with non-local providers has been
based on forecast expenditure levels reflecting a seasonality adjusted extrapolation from
Month 11 provider contract reports (£3.6m).
- Estimate of the final month's prescribing expenditure has been conservatively based on
historical expenditure patterns (£3.4m).
- Estimates of continuing care expenditure in the final two months have been based on client
registers (£5.3m) and expenditure trends. In addition, the CCG has accrued £1.1m for
Retrospective Claims and appeals.
- Estimates of the amounts recoverable from other commissioners in respect of responsible
commissioner disputes have been invoiced (£0.9m). There is uncertainty as to the value of
the final resolution.
1.4 Joint Arrangements/Pooled budgets
In 2019/20, Croydon CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust entered into a financial risk share
arrangement that pooled the financial resources of both organisations – creating a joint budget with a joint
financial target (“joint control total”) for the Croydon health system. This was further underpinned by joint
governance arrangements and joint executive appointments.
The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of
the joint budget, in accordance with the contractual agreement.
In 2015/16, the CCG entered into a pooled budget arrangement with the London Borough of Croydon in
accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled on the Better
Care Fund (BCF) and note 16 to the accounts provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pool is hosted by the CCG. The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget
agreement.
Note 16 of the accounts provides detail of the joint income and expenditure for both arrangements.
Note 19 of the accounts provides detail of the joint financial performance of the Croydon health system.
1.5 Revenue
The main source of revenue for the CCG relates to recharges to NHS England, North East London
Commissioning Services Unit (NELCSU) and other CCGs.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when performance obligations are satisfied and is
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year,
that income is deferred.

Page 148 of 168

07V NHS CROYDON CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms require that 95% of
undisputed, valid invoices should be paid within 30 days.
1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1 Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship
levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including performance
pay earned but not yet paid. The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave
into the following period.
1.6.2 Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes
are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed
to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the
cost to the CCG of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for
the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the
CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every
year.
1.7 Other expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
1.7.1 Value added tax
Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of value added tax (VAT). Irrecoverable VAT is
charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.8 Property, plant and equipment
1.8.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
- it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to
the CCG;
- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
- the cost of the item can be measured reliably, and either:
- the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
- collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a
cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates
and are under single managerial control.
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Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different
asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their individual useful
economic lives.
1.8.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Assets that are held for their service potential
and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most
recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no
restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying
amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.
Current values in existing use are determined as follows:
- Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and
- Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent asset basis.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 23,
borrowing costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for
operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives
or low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment
for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the
extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of
economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the
extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset, and thereafter to expenditure. Gains and losses
recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3 Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable
cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the
expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to
operating expenses.
1.9 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Freehold land, assets under construction or development and assets held for sale are not
depreciated/amortised.
Otherwise, depreciation or amortisation is charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, less any residual value, on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic
benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the
physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with
the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
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Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful life, unless the CCG expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term, in which case the asset
is depreciated in the same manner as for owned assets.
At each financial year end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of such an
impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss
and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually at the
financial year end.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure.
1.10 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.10.1 The CCG as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the
lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability
for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not
more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in
value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the CCG’s cash management. Cash, bank and
overdraft balances are recorded at current values.
1.12 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rates.

Page 151 of 168

07V NHS CROYDON CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Early retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative 0.50%
(2018-19: positive 0.29%) in real terms. All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates
according to the expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date:
- A nominal short-term rate of 0.51% (2018-19: 0.76%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date.
- A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55% (2018-19: 1.14%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
- A nominal long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position
date.
- A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99% (2018-19: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected cash
flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date.
1.13 Clinical negligence costs
NHS Resolution (the trading name of the NHS Litigation Authority NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme
under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical
negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the CCG
1.14 Non-clinical risk pooling
The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any
excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.
1.15 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is:
- a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the CCG, or
- a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably.
A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
CCG. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed at their
present value.
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1.16 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provision of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial
assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or when the asset has been transferred
and the CCG has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership or has not retained
control of the asset.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs for
financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair value is taken as the transaction
price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices, where possible, or by valuation
techniques.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: financial assets at amortised cost, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, and financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss. The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the
financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.16.1 Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is to
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables, loans receivable, and other simple debt
instruments.
After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
1.16.2 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income
(except equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables
and contract assets, the CCG recognises a loss allowance representing expected credit losses on the
financial instrument.
The CCG adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss
allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition (stage 2), and otherwise at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments
against other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds,
and Exchequer Funds’ assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The CCG therefore does
not recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally, the
Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm’s
length bodies and NHS bodies (excluding NHS charities), and the CCG does not recognise loss allowances
for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit
losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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1.17 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been extinguished – that is, the obligation has
been discharged or cancelled or has expired.
1.17.1 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic
cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective
interest method.
1.18 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds
for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They
are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been
bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
1.19 IFRS Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The DHSC GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 201920. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2021-22, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM
Treasury consideration.
- IFRS 16 Leases - The Standard is effective 1 April 2021 (delayed 1 year due to the COVID-19
pandemic) as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not therefore
permitted.
Both standards are not likely to result in a material financial impact to the transactions of the CCG.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2019-20
Admin

2019-20
Programme

£'000

£'000

2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other Contract income
Total Income from sale of goods and services

137
137

1,537
1
1,538

1,674
1
1,675

3
1,787
23
1,813

Total Operating Income

137

1,538

1,675

1,813

Non-patient care services to other bodies includes recharges to:
(i) NEL CSU for office space usage at the CCG;
(ii) recharges to the London Borough of Croydon for services to the voluntary sector under joint funding
arrangements.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank
account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

3 Income generation activites
3.1
Nonpatient
care
services
to other
bodies
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

958
716
1,674

1
1

958
717
1675

1587
226
1813

Nonpatient
care
services
to other
bodies
£'000
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Total

Other
Contract
income

1,674
1,674

Other
Contract
income

2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

1
1

1,675
1,675

1813
1813
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

Total

2019-20

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

6,276
489
712
9
7,486
7,486

2,136
2,136
2,136

8,412
489
712
9
9,622
9,622

4.1.1 Employee benefits

Total

2018-19

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

4,989
497
528
10
6,024

2,719
2,719

7,708
497
528
10
8,742

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

6,024

2,719

8,742

2019-20
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

2018-19
Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

78

20

98

80

25

105

4.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
There were no recoveries in respect of employee benefits (2018/19 - Nil).

4.3 Average number of people employed

Total

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
There were no exit packages agreed in 2019/20 (2018/19 - None).
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care
in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS
body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2019, updated to 31 March
2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be
obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
For 2019-20, employers’ contributions of £712k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2018-19 - £528k) at the rate of 20.6% of
pensionable pay (2018-19 -14.38%). The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on
HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2016. These costs are included in
the NHS pension line of note 4.1.1
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5. Operating expenses
2019-20
Total
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

8,859
135,829
282,181
61,124
41,171
0
55,967
29
921
10
831
62

8,934
124,468
260,011
62,870
42,029
97
55,726
29
319
80
1,162
78

995
48

685
48

12
1,420
129
43
589,631

12
637
66
37
557,288

Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges

170
170

170
170

Provision expense
Provisions
Total Provision expense

(49)
(49)

-

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Total Other Operating Expenditure

275
(47)
228

338
338

589,980

557,796

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services

Total operating expenditure

* The audit fees line above includes VAT on external audit fees. Excluding VAT, external audit fees were £40k
(2018/19 £40k).
5. 1 Limitation of auditor's liability
In accordance with the terms of engagement with the CCG's external auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, its
members, partners and staff (whether contract, negligence or otherwise) in respect of services provided in
connection with or arising out of the audit shall in no circumstances exceed £2 million in the aggregate in
respect of such services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

15,194
14,756
97.12%

133,490
130,242
97.57%

14,556
14,153
97.23%

119,245
115,450
96.82%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,741
3,601
96.26%

435,165
434,616
99.87%

3,651
3,483
95.40%

403,635
399,613
99.00%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no claims made under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 in 2019/20 (2018/19: £Nil).

7 Income Generation Activities
The CCG charges North East London Commissioning Support Unit (NELCSU) rent of £137k (2018/19: £163k) for office accommodation for staff
that are based locally with the CCG.
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8. Operating Leases
8.1 As lessee
The CCG occupies one property that is leased from NHS Property Services Ltd and one that is leased from London Borough of Croydon.
Both leases expired in 2017/18 and are currently being renegotiated.

8.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

Buildings
£'000

2019-20
Total
£'000

Buildings
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

314
314

314
314

368
368

368
368

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd and London Borough of Croydon fall within the definition of operating leases,
the rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments.
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9 Property, plant and equipment
Information
technology

Total

£'000
510

£'000
510

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2020

510

510

Depreciation 01 April 2019

209

209

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2020

170
379

170
379

Net Book Value at 31 March 2020

131

131

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2020

131
131

131
131

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2020

131
131

131
131

Information
technology

Total

£'000
510

£'000
510

Depreciation at 01 April 2018
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019

510
39
170
209

510
39
170
209

Net Book Value at 31 March 2019

301

301

Purchased

301

301

Total at 31 March 2019

301

301

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2019

301
301

301
301

Minimum Life
(years)

Maximum Life
(Years)

3

3

2019-20

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019

2018-19

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2019

9.1 Economic lives

Information technology
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10.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,150
2,038
720
(18)
19
7
4,916

-

2,319
2,079
734
(65)
18
3
5,088

-

Total current and non current

4,916

5,088

The great majority of trade is with NHS organisations and the London Borough of Croydon. As NHS organisations and the London Borough of Croydon are
funded by Government, no additional allowance for future credit risk is considered necessary.
Credit risk is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and composed of unrelated/government bodies. As a consequence, the Governing Body
believes that there is no future credit risk provision required in excess of the normal allowance for credit losses as shown in Note 10.3.

10.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2019-20
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
12
456
904
1,372

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2019-20
Non DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
59
12
71

2018-19
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
40
200
905
1,145

Other financial
assets

Total

£'000

£'000

-

(65)
47
(18)

The CCG did not hold any collateral against outstanding receivables.

10.3 Impact of Application of IFRS 9 on financial assets at 1 April 2019

Loss allowance on asset classes

Balance at 01 April 2019
Lifetime expected credit losses on trade and other receivables-Stage 2
Other changes
Total

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
(65)
47
(18)
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11 Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20
£'000
204
(95)
109

2018-19
£'000
420
(216)
204

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

109

204

Balance at 31 March 2020

109

204

-

-

Current
2019-20
£'000

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000

Non-current
2018-19
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

372
5,586
1,863
28,934
73
67
760
37,655

-

4,245
6,243
7,304
31,303
78
73
1,147
50,394

-

Total current and non-current

37,655

Balance at 01 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020

12 Trade and other payables

50,394

There are no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early retirement over 5 years.
Other payables include £482k (2018-19: £444k) of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020.
There are no liabilities towards the provisions of NHS Resolution as at 31 March 2020 in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the CCG.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the CCG. However, the legal liability remains with the CCG. The total
value of legacy NHS Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2020 is £81k (2018-19
£81k).
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13 Provisions
Current
2019-20
£'000
-

Non-current
2019-20
£'000
-

Current
2018-19
£'000
49

Non-current
2018-19
£'000
-

Total

-

-

49

-

Total current and non-current

-

-

49

-

Continuing care

14 Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing
the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.

14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being
in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning group and
therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The
borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for
the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group
has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in
the trade and other receivables note.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical
commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
14.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and
managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items
in line with NHS England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market
risk.
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14 Financial instruments cont'd
The Fair Value of the Assets and Liabilities as detailed in notes 14.2 and 14.3 are the same as the Carrying Value.
14.2 Financial assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2020

Financial
Assets
measured at
amortised
cost
2019-20
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000

1,937
232
708
109
2,986

1,937
232
708
109
2,986

Financial
Assets
measured at
amortised
cost
2018-19
£'000
1,908
442
703
2
204
3,259

Total
2018-19
£'000
1,908
442
703
2
204
3,259

14.3 Financial liabilities
Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost
2018-19
£'000

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised
cost
2019-20
£'000

Total
2019-20
£'000

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities

901
12,175
24,438
-

901
12,175
24,438
-

890
17,752
30,453
1,147

890
17,752
30,453
1,147

Total at 31 March 2020

37,514

37,514

50,242

50,242
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15 Operating segments
The CCG has only one segment which is commissioning healthcare services.
Income and expenditure as reported in the financial statements are in line with the management information reported within the CCG at 31 March 2020.

16 Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations
16.1 In 2019/20, Croydon CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust entered into a financial risk share arrangement, whereby both paries agreed to share the financial risk and or
benefit of their performance against their formal control totals by adjusting the payment from Croydon CCG to the Trust, either up or down to ensure that the variance from either control
total is shared 50:50. This created a joint financial target (“joint control total”) for the Croydon health system. This was further underpinned by joint governance arrangements and joint
executive appointments.
The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the joint budget, in accordance with the contractual agreement.
2019-20
£'000
Croydon CCG
Source of Funds
Application of Funds

£'000

£'000

Croydon
Health
Services

Total

532,856

326,390

859,246

(524,356)

(345,990)

(870,346)

Surplus (Deficit) - Control Total Basis (Pre Risk Share)

8,500

(19,600)

(11,100)

MEMO: Revised Control Total Performance Target

2,100

(13,209)

(11,109)

MEMO: Variance from Control Total

6,400

(6,391)

9

Application of Contractual Risk Share Agreement:
Risk Share 1: Elective Care

-

-

Risk Share 2A: Risk Share on Technical Treatment of Gain on Sale (100% CCG)

(1,400)

-

1,400

-

Risk Share 2B: CCG Residual Variance from Control Total (50%/50%)

(2,500)

2,500

-

Risk Share 2C: CHS Residual Variance from Control Total (50%/50%)

(2,500)

2,500

-

2,100

(13,200)

(11,100)

13,209

13,209

438

438

447

2,547

Surplus (Deficit) Control Total Basis (Post Risk Share)
Items Excluded from Control Total Definition:
2019/20 PSF/MRET
Other

2019/20 Financial Position - Surplus

2,100

16.2 In 2015/16, the CCG entered into a S75 agreement with the London Borough of Croydon (LBC) on the Better Care Fund (BCF). The CCG hosts the BCF under a
pooled budget 'jointly controlled operation' arrangement.
The financial contributions of the CCG and the London Borough of Croydon are set out in the Schedule 1 Part 1 of the S75 agreement. Subject to the requirements of
National Guidance and the Better Care Fund Plan, the agreed return of any underspend is in the following proportions: CCG 70%: Council 30%.
The share of the income and expenditure for 2019-20 handled by the pooled budget in the financial year was as follows:

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

24,887
12,322
37,209

23,290
9,537
32,827

(15,052)

(14,303)

(22,157)
(37,209)

(18,094)
(32,397)

Surplus Funds

-

430

Distribution of Surplus Funds:
Croydon CCG (70%)
London Borough of Croydon (30%)

-

(301)
(129)

-

-

Contribution of Funds
Croydon CCG
London Borough of Croydon
Income
Application of Funds
Health Initiatives (Croydon CCG)
Social Care Initiatives (London
Borough of Croydon)
Expenditure

Included in the £12,322k contribution from London Borough of Croydon is £8,283k (2018-19: £7,093k) from the Improved Better Care Fund.
16.3 Interests in joint operations

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY
2019-20
Name of arrangement

Better Care Fund S75

Parties to the arrangement

Description of
principal
activities

Croydon CCG and Croydon Council

Provision of
Health & Social
Care

Assets

Liabilities

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

177

-

9,586

-

Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY
2018-19
Name of arrangement

Better Care Fund S75

Parties to the arrangement

Croydon CCG and Croydon Council

Description of
principal
activities
Provision of
Health & Social
Care

Assets

Liabilities

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

2,370

-

8,468
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17 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
2019-20
Payments to Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Party
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
Parchmore Medical Centre - Dr Agnelo Fernandes*
Haling Park Medical Practice - Dr Agnelo Fernandes*
South Norwood Medical Practice - Dr Agnelo Fernandes*
Greenside Medical Practice - Dr Tom Chan* (resigned 31 March 2019)
Upper Norwood Group Practice - Dr Y Patel*
Boots PLC - Dr Agnelo Fernandes**
Bromley Healthcare - Dr Agnelo Fernandes**
Birdhurst Medical Practice -Dr Vaishali Shetty
Queenhill Medical Practice -Dr Michael Simmons

2018-19
Payments Receipts Amounts
from owed to Amounts due
to Related
Party Related Related from Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000

2,217

-

-

-

2,115

-

-

-

536
178
624
822
942

-

-

-

487
111
1,096
1,439
324
690
719
972

-

-

-

5,319

-

-

-

7,953

-

-

-

* Represents payments to GP Practices for Primary Care Services to support out of hospital care (Local Enhanced Services and Anticoagulation Clinics).
** Parchmore Medical Centre premises are used for the delivery of services managed by Boots PLC and Bromley Healthcare.
There were no other payments made in 2019/20.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Croydon CCG has had a significant number of material transactions for the provision of healthcare with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department, including:
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
The CCG has dealings in particular with:
• Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
• South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust
The following Executive Directors became joint Directors of both Croydon CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust during 2019-20 (refer to joint arrangements Notes 1 and
16):
Matthew Kershaw, Place Based Leader for Health
Mike Sexton, Joint Chief Finance Officer
Josh Potter, Joint Director of Strategy and Transformation
Elaine Clancy, Joint Chief Nurse
The transactions and balances with Croydon Health Services NHS
Trust are shown below:

Croydon Health Services NHS Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

1 October 2019
1 November 2019
18 November 2019
1 May 2019

2019-20
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Payments to Related Related Related
Related Party
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
223,676
49,276

521
-
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-

24
25

-

Payments
to Related
Party
£'000
227,657
47,173

2018-19
Receipts Amounts
from owed to Amounts due
Related Related from Related
Party
Party
Party
£'000
£'000
£'000
23

3,554
-

654

1,916
-
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18 Events after the end of the reporting period

On 1 April 2020, Croydon CCG merged with the other five CCGs in South West London to become South West London CCG. This is a non-adjusting event. The assets and liabilities as set out in
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2020, will transfer across from Croydon CCG to the South West London CCG.

th

st

On 17 March 2020, NHSE issued a letter from Simon Stevens which set out amended financial arrangements for the NHS for the period between 1 April and 31 July
to enable the NHS to respond to COVID-19. This set out the suspension of the operational planning process for 2020/21. Commissioner allocations for 2020/21 have
already been notified as part of operational planning and will not be changed. In addition, NHS Commissioners were allocated £1.3bn nationally to cover the cost of
th

COVID-19 hospital discharges and out of hospital work which applies from 19 March 2020. Other costs of COVID-19 will be claimed monthly under the financial
th

arrangements set out in the 17 March 2020 letter.

19 Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). Croydon CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:

2019-20

2019-20

2019-20

Target
£'000

Performance
£'000

Variance
£'000

2019-20
Duty
Achieved

2018-19

2018-19

2018-19

Target
£'000

Performance
£'000

Variance
£'000

2018-19
Duty
Achieved

Expenditure not to exceed income
Expenditure not to exceed income (cumulative)

601,702
534,531

599,602
599,602

2,100
(65,071)

Yes
Yes

567,710
499,367

566,538
566,538

1,172
(67,171)

Yes
Yes

Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

600,027

597,927

2,100

Yes

565,897

564,725

1,172

Yes

8,634

8,233

401

Yes

8,452

7,865

587

Yes

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

The CCG has achieved all of the required duties set by NHS England for 2019-20:
- NHS England set an in year control, or financial target of £3.5m surplus for the 2019-20 financial year.
After a technical adjustment of £1.4m which received offset support from improved financial performance within the South West London system (and agreed by NHS England),
the CCG's financial performance expectation was revised to a £2.1m.
- In 2019-20, Croydon CCG and Croydon Health Services NHS Trust entered into a financial risk share arrangement that pooled the financial resources of both
organisations - creating a joint budget with a joint control total of £2.1m surplus for the Croydon Health System. A surplus of £2.5m was delivered against the joint
control - Note 16.
- The CCG successfully delivered in 2019-20 £23.7m (2018-19: £26.7m) efficiency savings following a clinically-led service redesign approach that targets quality,
innovation, productivity and prevention as the key levers for improving financial performance.
- The CCG Directions 2013 which were issued by the Secretary of State for Health were lifted in September 2019.

20 Losses and special payments
20.1 Losses
There were no losses in 2019/20 (2018/19- Nil).
20.2 Special payments
There were no special payments in 2019/20 (2018/19- Nil).
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